Utah State University
DigitalCommons@USU

All Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Graduate Studies

8-2012

Characterization of the Involvement of Integrins, Focal Adhesion Kinase, and Phospholipase C Enzymes Endogenous to the Oocyte in Bovine Fertilization and Oocyte Activation

Benjamin Rand Sessions Utah State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd

Part of the Animal Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Sessions, Benjamin Rand, "Characterization of the Involvement of Integrins, Focal Adhesion Kinase, and Phospholipase C Enzymes Endogenous to the Oocyte in Bovine Fertilization and Oocyte Activation" (2012). *All Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 1318. https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd/1318

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at DigitalCommons@USU. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@USU. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usu.edu.



CHARACTERIZATION OF THE INVOLVEMENT OF INTEGRINS, FOCAL

ADHESION KINASE, AND PHOSPHOLIPASE C ENZYMES

ENDOGENOUS TO THE OOCYTE IN BOVINE

FERTILIZATION AND OOCYTE ACTIVATION

by

Benjamin Rand Sessions

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Animal Science

Approved:

Kenneth L. White Major Professor Thomas D. Bunch Committee Member

Christopher D. Corcoran Committee Member

Lee F. Rickords Committee Member Christopher J. Davies Committee Member

Kenneth L. White ADVS Department Head

Mark R. McLellan Vice President for Research and Dean of the School of Graduate Studies

> UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY Logan, Utah

> > 2012

Copyright © 2012

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Characterization of the Involvement of Integrins, Focal Adhesion Kinase, and

Phospholipase C Enzymes Endogenous to the Oocyte

in Bovine Fertilization and Oocyte Activation

by

Benjamin Rand Sessions, Doctor of Philosophy

Utah State University, 2012

Major Professor: Dr. Kenneth L. White Department: Animal, Dairy, and Veterinary Sciences

The objectives of this research were to better characterize the protein signaling complexes that form in response to spermatozoa binding to the bovine oocyte vitelline membrane and to elucidate their potential involvement in oocyte activation.

Integrins located on the vitelline membrane of bovine oocytes have been implicated in mediating the sperm-oocyte interaction. Anti-integrin function blocking antibodies and immunofluorescence were utilized in order to reveal that the αV and $\beta 1$ integrin subunits are essential for fertilization in the bovine and could form the integrin heterodimer involved in the sperm-oocyte interaction.

Focal adhesion kinase is localized to focal adhesions and is a key component of signal transduction pathways mediated by integrins. The presence of focal adhesion kinase in bovine oocytes was verified by real-time polymerase chain reaction and immunoprecipitation and the localization of focal adhesion kinase at the site of sperm

binding to the oocyte plasma membrane was verified using immunohistochemistry. The inhibition of focal adhesion kinase resulted in fewer cleaved embryos in addition to a reduction in the number of oocytes responding with calcium transients.

Phospholipase C isoforms regulate the release of calcium from the endoplasmic reticulum and are known to interact with integrins and focal adhesion kinase. The experiments reported in this dissertation explored the involvement of phospholipase C isoforms endogenous to the oocyte in mediating the calcium release associated with fertilization. Reduction in phospholipase C messenger ribonucleic acid levels for the phospholipase C isoforms $\gamma 1$ and $\gamma 2$ resulted in significantly lower cleavage rates compared to the controls. Interestingly, the reduction in messenger ribonucleic acid levels for the phospholipase C isoforms ζ and $\gamma 2$ resulted in a significantly higher number of oocytes reaching the 2-cell stage compared to all other treatment groups and not significantly different than the activation control.

Together these data illustrate the involvement of the αV and $\beta 1$ integrin subunits, focal adhesion kinase, and the potential involvement of multiple endogenous phospholipase C isoforms ($\gamma 1$ and $\gamma 2$) in bovine oocyte activation. A more complete understanding of the molecular players involved in fertilization could have beneficial impacts for human fertility, assisted reproduction, and improved efficiency of animal somatic cell nuclear transfer.

PUBLIC ABSTRACT

Characterization Of The Involvement Of Integrins, Focal Adhesion Kinase, and Phospholipase C Enzymes Endogenous to the Oocyte

in Bovine Fertilization and Oocyte Activation

Benjamin R Sessions

The Center for Integrated Biosystems (CIB) and Animal, Dairy, and Veterinary Sciences (ADVS) Department at Utah State University propose a multi-year molecular study of cattle gamete interactions to improve our basic understanding of fertilization. The CIB and ADVS will utilize existing collaborations in addition to recruiting state and federal funding sources to complete the extensive project.

Various laboratory techniques will be used to discover the molecular players of fertilization in hopes of shedding light on a variety of human infertility issues due to problems at the gamete level. A more complete understanding of fertilization could also lead to the development of improved contraceptives. Another potential outcome is improved efficiency associated with animal cloning. Currently cloning technology involves multiple non-natural techniques that could be contributing to the poor success rate of animal cloning. A better understanding of fertilization at the molecular level could lead to a more natural way of cloning animals. Cloning technology has a great potential of producing transgenic animals for biopharmaceutical production, creating animal models to study human diseases, rescuing endangered species, and producing stem cells. Improving the efficiency of animal cloning will allow for faster advancements and benefits of this technology.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my advisor Dr. Kenneth L. White and my committee members Dr. Thomas D. Bunch, Dr. Christopher D. Corcoran, Dr. Christopher J. Davies, and Dr. Lee F. Rickords for their advisement and support during the completion of my research.

I would like to thank Ammon Bayles, Aaron Davis, Justin Hall, Kira Morgado, and the many undergraduate students for their assistance in the laboratory.

In particular, I wish to give a special thank you to my wife, Stacey, and my children Isaac, Zachary, and Wyatt for their patience and support.

This project was supported by the National Institute of Food and Agriculture, U.S. Department of Agriculture, under Agreement No. 08-34526-19199 and 09-34526-19808.

Benjamin R. Sessions

CONTENTS

		Page
ABSTRAC	Γ	iii
PUBLIC AF	3STRACT	V
ACKNOWI	LEDGMENTS	vi
LIST OF TA	ABLES	ix
LIST OF FI	GURES	X
LIST OF AI	BBREVIATIONS	xi
CHAPTER		
1.	REVIEW OF LITERATURE	1
	Spermatozoa Maturation	2
	Capacitation of Spermatozoa	3
	Penetration of Cumulus Oophorus	6
	Penetration of Zona Pellucida	7
	Spermatozoa Acrosome Reaction	9
	Spermatozoa-Oocyte Plasma Membrane Interactions	11 17
	Oocyte activation	/ I
	Summary	
	References	
2.	THE INVOLVEMENT OF INTEGRINS, IN PARTICULAR THE α V AND β 1 SUBUNITS, ON THE BOVINE OOCYTE VITELLINE MEMBRANE IN BOVINE FERTILIZATION	63
	Abstract	63
	Introduction	64
	Materials and Methods	65
	Results	69
	Discussion	72
	References	75

3.	EVIDENCE OF INVOLVEMENT OF FOCAL ADHESION	
	KINASE IN BOVINE FERTILIZATION	78
	Abstract	78
	Introduction	79
	Materials and Methods	81
	Results	
	Discussion	94
	References	98
4.	THE INVOLVEMENT OF PHOSPHOLIPASE C ISOFORMS	
	ENDOGENOUS TO THE OOCYTE IN BOVINE	
	FERTILIZATION AND OOCYTE ACTIVATION	103
	Abstract	103
	Introduction	104
	Materials and Methods	105
	Results	111
	Discussion	114
	References	119
5.	SUMMARY	124
	References	127
CURRICU	LUM VITAE	128

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
2-1	Percentage of oocytes responding with intracellular calcium transients after incubation with anti-integrin antibodies and incubated with sperm for 6 hrs	71
3-1	Effect of anti-FAK inhibitors on the intracellular calcium release after incubation with sperm for 6 hrs	91
3-2	Effect of anti-FAK inhibitors on the cleavage rates of bovine oocytes after incubation with sperm for 6 hrs	92

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
2-1	Percent cleavage of IVF embryos treated with anti-integrin function blocking antibodies	70
2-2	Percentage of oocytes with two pronuclei	71
2-3	Fluorescent images of integrin subunits αV and $\beta 1$ localized to the site of spermatozoa binding and $\alpha 5$ localized to the equatorial segment of spermatozoa	72
3-1	Western blot analysis of immunoprecipitated FAK	89
3-2	Relative FAK mRNA expression levels as compared to 14 hr IVM control oocytes	92
3-3	Relative FAK protein levels in relation to 14 hr IVF oocytes	93
3-4	Fluorescent images of FAK localized to the site of spermatozoa binding/fusion	94
4-1	Relative PLC mRNA expression levels as compared to 14 hr IVM control oocytes	112
4-2	Effect of microinjection of PLC specific siRNA's on cleavage rates following <i>in vitro</i> fertilization	113
4-3	Effect of microinjection of PLC cRNA on parthenogenetic development rates in bovine oocytes	114

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

$\Delta\Delta Ct$	delta-delta Ct	
ADAM	A Disintegrin And Metalloproteinase	
AKAP	A-kinase anchor protein	
AKT	protein kinase B	
BSA	bovine serum albumin	
Ca_2^+	calcium	
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate	
CAMs	cell adhesion molecules	
CHAPS	3-[(3-Cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate	
COC	cumulus cell oocyte complex	
CRISP1	cysteine-rich secretory protein 1	
cRNA	complementary ribonucleic acid	
DAG	diacylglycerol	
DEPC	diethylpyrocarbonate	
EGF	epidermal growth factor	
EGFR	epidermal growth factor receptor	
EGTA	ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid	
FAK	focal adhesion kinase	
FAT	focal-adhesion-targeting	
FBS	fetal bovine serum	
FSH	follicle stimulating hormone	
GalT	β 1-4 Galactosyltransferase	
GPI	glycosylphosphatidylinositol	
HCO ₃ -	sodium bicarbonate	
HRP	horseradish peroxidase	
IAM	inner acrosomal membrane	
ICSI	intracytoplasmic sperm injection	
ILK	integrin-linked kinase	
IVM	<i>in vitro</i> maturation	
kDA	kilodalton	
LH	luteinizing hormone	
MAbs	monoclonal antibodies	
MAPK	mitogen activated protein kinase	
OAM	outer acrosomal membrane	
PAWP	postacrosomal sheath WW domain binding protein	
PB1-	phosphate-buffered saline without calcium and magnesium	
PB1+	phosphate-buffered saline with calcium and magnesium	
PBST	phosphate-buffered saline with 0.05% Tween 20	
PC	phosphatidylcholine	
PDK1	3-Phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1	
PH	pleckstrin homology	
PH-20	sperm adhesion molecule 1	
PI-PLC	phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C	

PI3	1-phosphatidylinositol-3	
PIP2	phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate	
PIP3	Phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate	
РКА	protein kinase A	
РКС	protein kinase C	
PLC	phospholipase C	
PLD	phospholipase D	
qPCR	real time polymerase chain reaction	
RGD	arginine-glycine-aspartic acid	
SACY	soluble adenylyl-cyclase	
scNT	somatic cell nuclear transfer	
SFK	Src family kinase	
SH	Src homology	
siRNA	small interfering ribonucleic acid	
SM	sphingomylein	
SOAF	sperm borne activating factor	
Src	sarcoma	
ZP	zona pellucida	
ZP1	zona pellucida glycoprotein 1	
ZP2	zona pellucida glycoprotein 2	
ZP3	zona pellucida glycoprotein 3	
ZP4	zona pellucida glycoprotein 4	

CHAPTER 1

LITERATURE REVIEW

Mammalian fertilization is a complex multi-step sequential process involving the interaction and fusion of two distinct, highly specialized gametes. Mammalian spermatozoa must undergo a series of physiological and biochemical changes, known as capacitation, in the female genital tract before gaining the ability to fertilize an ovulated metaphase II arrested oocyte. Only after capacitation is a spermatazoa able to penetrate the cumulus oophorus, bind to the zona pellucida of the oocyte, undergo the acrosome reaction, interact with membrane receptors located on the oolemma, and successfully fertilize the oocyte. In response to sperm binding and entry into mammalian oocytes, calcium is released from intracellular stores in a series of spikes or oscillations considered a "hallmark of fertilization." These oscillations release the oocyte from its metaphase II arrested state and are essential to activate the oocyte and initiate embryonic development.

Despite years of research and much inquiry, the molecular mechanisms of this complex multi-faceted process remain elusive. Perhaps the greatest debate has been centered on understanding the underlying mechanism of the initiation of the cytosolic calcium oscillations. Is it initiated by a sperm ligand binding to an oolemma receptor or by a soluble sperm factor introduced upon sperm fusion? Only after comprehensive reviews of the process by which spermatazoa gain developmental competence in addition to identifying potential molecular players in membrane binding and fusion and the subsequent signaling cascades can a cohesive theory of oocyte activation be proposed.

Spermatozoa Maturation

Sperm are highly differentiated cells with two main components, a head and a flagellum, joined together by a connecting piece. The head contains the nucleus, acrosome, cytoskeletal structures, and a small amount of cytoplasm while the tail consists of a motility apparatus, an axoneme, mitochondria, and cytoskeletal structures. The nucleus consists of highly condensed chromatin, the acrosomal cap is an enclosed cytoplasmic vesicle with hydrolytic enzymes and the flagellum is further divided into the midpiece, principal piece, and end piece. These specialized structures represent the unique functions of the spermatazoa and are critical for delivering the spermatozoa's nuclear material to the cytoplasm of the oocyte. Despite the critical role these structures play in transporting and fertilizing the oocyte, they are not functional until the modification of the spermatozoa plasma membrane during maturation in epididymal transport [1]. Some of these pivotal modifications to the spermatozoa plasma membrane during epididymal transport include modifications of surface proteins, changes in its lipid and protein composition, and an increased total negative charge of the extracellular surface [2].

The lumen of the epididymis contains epididymosomes, small membranous vesicles that are rich in sphingomylein (SM) and arachidonic acids in addition to containing endoplasmin, a 70 kDA heat shock protein 5, chaperones, GPI –anchored proteins and other exosomes [3-9]. These epididymosomes aggregate to the sperm membrane during epididymal transport in order to modify and contribute to the formation of various membrane structures such as lipid rafts [2, 10].

Capacitation of Spermatozoa

After maturation in the epididymis and deposition in the female reproductive tract, mammalian spermatozoa are able swim, but are still incapable of fertilizing an oocyte. After remaining in the uterus for an appropriate period of time, the spermatozoa undergoes capacitation, a process resulting in removal of seminal plasma proteins adsorbed to the head of the spermatozoa and modification of sperm plasma membrane proteins/glycoproteins and sterols during passage through the female genital tract [11, 12]. Capacitation of spermatozoa *in vitro* can also be accomplished by exposing the spermatozoa to a defined media containing bovine serum albumin, energy substrates, and electrolytes [13]. The modification of membrane cholesterol levels results in a change in membrane permeability and fluidity, thus allowing entry of ions. These ions activate protein kinase(s), increase protein tyrosine phosphorylation, and result in hyperactive spermatozoa [13-18].

The efflux of cholesterol/sterols from the spermatozoa plasma membrane is believed to be the initial step in capacitation and thought to be mediated by albumin, the major protein in the female reproductive tract. This outward movement of sterols alters membrane potential, increases the membrane permeability and fluidity and restructures the phospholipid content of the asymmetrically distributed lipid leaflets of the plasma membrane [13]. This action allows movement of calcium (Ca²⁺) and bicarbonate (HCO₃⁻) ions across the spermatozoa plasma membrane in order to increase protein tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of secondary messengers including cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) and protein kinase A (PKA). An additional proposed function of the loss of cholesterol is increasing the fusogenicity of the spermatozoa plasma membrane [13].

The flow of HCO_3^- across the spermatozoa plasma membrane results in the activation of a non-transmembrane soluble adenylyl-cyclase (SACY). Activated SACY increases the production of cAMP and ultimately results in the activation of a cAMP dependent protein kinase A (PKA) through the release of PKA's inhibitory subunits [19-23]. PKA is a ubiquitous serine-threonine kinase, consisting of four subunits, two of which are catalytic and the other two being regulatory. The two regulatory subunits form a dimer, which is disrupted upon cAMP binding and results in the activation of the catalytic subunits [24]. The regulatory subunits also function to anchor PKA to its respective cellular activation location where it can interact with A-kinase anchor proteins (AKAPs) [25, 26]. AKAPs are thought to serve as scaffolding proteins that mediate the activation of several signaling enzymes within a cellular region including PKA, protein phosphatase I, calcineurin, calmodulin and protein kinase C (PKC) [21, 27-31]. However, the intermediate kinase that is activated by PKA and initiates the process of protein tyrosine phosphorylation has yet to be identified. It has been proposed that a Src Family kinase [21, 23, 32, 33], the serine-threonine kinase MAPK [21, 34], or c-Abl, another non-receptor tyrosine kinase [35, 36] might be involved.

The protein tyrosine phosphorylation of the flagellum is believed to allow the spermatozoa to acquire capacitation-associated hyperactive motility [13, 37-39]. The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) has also been show to be partially activated by PKA resulting in increased phospholipase D (PLD) dependent actin polymerization during acquisition of hyperactive motility [24, 40].

In addition to affecting the increase in intracellular cAMP levels via SACY, Ca²⁺

is believed to influence capacitation through other Ca²⁺ binding proteins, namely Calcium/Calmodulin (CaM)-dependent kinase IV and Calmodulin, which undergo conformational changes in response to Ca²⁺ binding. CaM kinase IV is located in the flagellum of human spermatozoa, increases in abundance during capacitation, and is proposed to regulate the motility of human spermatozoa during this process [13, 41]. In the head and flagellum regions, spermatozoa also contain high amounts of calmodulin, a 17-kDa Ca²⁺-binding acidic protein [13, 42-45]. Experimental evidence indicates that calmodulin accelerates the early stages of spermatozoa priming in preparation for capacitation in addition to influencing the protein tyrosine phosphorylation events in response to capacitation by increasing cAMP levels via stimulation of SACY [15, 18, 46].

After capacitation *in vivo*, sperm move into the ampulla region of the oviduct in an attempt to locate the ovulated cumulus cell oocyte complex (COC). Chemotaxis, in response to progesterone release by the cumulus layer, has been shown to be the method in which spermatozoa are able to locate the COC [47-51]. Progesterone is able to influence sperm through a nongenomic receptor that activates phospholipase C, elevates intracellular calcium levels, and regulate cellular behavior [52-56]. The cumulus oophorus is composed of several thousand ovarian granulosa cells that serve to nurture the oocyte and assist in the process of ovulation [57, 58]. The cumulus layer is not required for fertilization; however, an intact cumulus layer results in higher fertilization rates and may play a critical role in reducing polyspermy by trapping compromised sperm [59, 60]. Recently the cumulus layer has been suggested to promote the spermatozoa acrosome reaction and this "premature" activation may serve to limit the number of sperm capable of binding to the zona pellucida [57, 61-64].

Penetration of Cumulus Oophorus

The major component of the cumulus layer is hyaluronan, an anionic, nonsulfated glycosaminoglycan; consequently, the current proposed theory for sperm penetration through the cumulus layer involves a sperm surface glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchored protein, PH-20 [65-68]. PH-20 is a GPIanchored membrane protein initially found on guinea pig sperm [69]. PH-20 is located in the postacrosomal region of the sperm head as well as within the acrosome. In accordance with having two areas of localization, PH-20 appears to have two distinct functions and two independent roles in the sperm-egg interaction. Despite being originally identified by a monoclonal antibody that blocks zona pellucida binding of acrosome reacted guinea pig sperm [70, 71], PH-20 has been found to also demonstrate hyaluronidase activity [72]. PH-20 is believed to be important in degrading hyaluronic acid during transit through the cumulus layer [73]. Thus the PH-20 molecules located on the postacrosomal surface are used during cumulus penetration, while those found within the acrosome participate in secondary binding to the zona pellucida [74]. However, spermatozoa from PH-20 knockout mice are still able to fertilize oocytes despite a delayed penetration of the cumulus layer indicating the potential involvement of another spermatozoa surface protein [75].

Penetration of Zona Pellucida

After penetrating the cumulus layer the sperm comes in contact with another vestment of the oocyte, the zona pellucida. The composition of the mammalian zona

pellucida matrix consists of three or four glycoproteins depending on the species. The mouse zona pellucida is composed of three glycoproteins designated ZP1, ZP2, and ZP3 while the zona pellucida of pig, cow, and dog have a different set of three glycoproteins: ZP2, ZP3, and ZP4. The zona pellucida of rats, hamsters, and humans are composed of four glycoproteins: ZP1, ZP2, ZP3, and ZP4. All of the heavily glycosylated zona pellucida glycoproteins have N- and O-linked glycans which contribute to the spermatazoa zona pellucida interaction and induction of the acrosome reaction [76]. The zona pellucida is the initial binding site of sperm to the oocyte, the main barrier to interspecies fertilization, and is the barrier to polyspermy.

ZP3 is the primary binding site of capacitated and acrosome-intact sperm while ZP2 provides a secondary attachment site by binding to the inner acrosomal membrane. ZP2 holds the equatorial region of the sperm while ZP3 binding initiates the acrosome reaction. The acrosome reaction enables penetration of the zona pellucida by releasing the acrosomal contents and exposing the inner acrosomal membrane [77, 78].

Numerous proteins located on the sperm surface have been identified as possible candidates in primary and secondary binding to the zona pellucida. Proteins involved in primary binding to the zona pellucida will be lost from the sperm as a consequence of acrosomal exocytosis because they are located on the principal segment of the plasma membrane overlying the sperm's acrosome [74]. Sp56, spermadhesions, and galactosyltransferase (GalT) have all been identified as sperm proteins involved in primary zona pellucida binding with GalT satisfying most of the criteria expected of a ZP3 receptor [79].

Sp56 is a 56-kDa peripheral membrane protein originally identified in mouse

sperm because of its ability to become covalently associated with purified mouse ZP3 [80] or with ¹²⁵I-labeled ZP3 glycopeptides [81]. Studies utilizing monoclonal antibodies specific for sp56 have localized the protein to the dorsal region of the mouse sperm head. In addition, purified sp56 binds to zona pellucida of mouse eggs, and inhibits sperm-egg binding *in vitro* [74]. Additional sequence and localization studies indicated sp56 is present in the acrosomal contents [82]; therefore, sp56 appeared to not have an appropriate cell surface localization to participate in acrosome intact sperm binding to the zona pellucida. However, it was discovered that some acrosomal components, including sp56, are released from the acrosomal matrix and become associated peripherally with the spermatozoa plasma membrane where it is available to interact with ZP3 [83-86].

Spermadhesins are a family of small (12-16kDa) sperm-associated proteins that bind zona pellucida glycoproteins and are characterized mainly in boar sperm. The majority of spermadhesin molecules are lost from the surface of sperm during capacitation, but many are retained and have been shown to bind to the zona pellucida [74]. However, further studies have shown spermadhesins to be located in the acrosomal contents and/or acrosomal membrane [87], thus not having an appropriate cell surface location to participate in acrosome-intact sperm binding to the zona pellucida [67].

 β 1-4 Galactosyltransferase (GalT) was the first sperm protein reported as a primary zona pellucida binding candidate. GalT is found on the dorsal, anterior aspect of the sperm head and behaves as an integral membrane protein. GalT is masked by epididymally secreted glycoconjugates on cauda epididymal sperm. These glycoconjugates are shed from the sperm surface during capacitation, thus exposing GalT and making it available to bind to its ligand on the zona pellucida. Reagents that block GalT or the GalT-recognition site on the zona pellucida inhibit sperm-egg binding and blocking or removing the GalT-binding site on the zona pellucida destroys sperm binding activity [79]. Gene knockout studies resulting in GalT-null sperm show substantially reduced binding of soluble ZP3 and no ZP3-induced acrosome reaction. These findings implicate GalT as an essential ZP3 binding protein, thus functioning in ZP3 induced signaling [67].

Sperm must remain transiently attached to the zona pellucida before penetration as they undergo the acrosome reaction. Secondary binding involves ZP2 binding to specific receptors that are present on the inner acrosomal membrane. At least two proteins found on the sperm have been proposed as candidates and they are PH-20 and acrosin [74].

Acrosin is the sperm's trypsin-like serine protease and is found within the acrosome of mammalian sperm. Due to its location, acrosin is most likely to participate in secondary binding following the acrosome reaction. The zona pellucida seems to regulate the activation of proacrosin (acrosin's inactive form) to the biologically active form of acrosin [88]. Because of its demonstrated ability to bind to the zona pellucida and proteolytic activities [89-91], acrosin has been believed to be active in both sperm binding and penetration of the zona pellucida.

Spermatozoa Acrosome Reaction

The mammalian acrosome is a sac-like (vesicle) structure covering the anterior portion of the spermatozoa nucleus and consists of an inner acrosomal membrane (IAM) and an outer acrosomal membrane (OAM). The contents of the acrosome consist of glycohydrolases, proteinases, esterases, sulfatases, phosphatases, and phospholipases C and A2 [13]. The binding of the spermatozoa to ZP3 results in a sustained increase of calcium between the plasma membrane and the OAM of capacitated spermatozoa by activating calcium channels and other second messengers including cAMP and IP3 [13, 52, 92 1996, 93, 94]. The increase in cAMP production results in activation of protein kinases (cAMP-dependent kinase, calcium and phospholipid kinases) while the increase in intracellular calcium concentration initiates a series of events resulting in the fusion of the sperm plasma membrane with the OAM and exocytosis of the acrosomal contents [13].

It is also noteworthy that enzymes located in the acrosome, phospholipase C and A2, are activated by calcium and are believed to have a critical role in acrosomal exocytosis. The influx of calcium activates phospholipase C and phosphatidylcholine (PC)-specific phospholipase C, resulting in an increase in the production of diacylglycerol (DAG) which activates DAG-dependent protein kinase C. The interaction of a spermatozoa receptor with an agonist in combination with the calcium influx results in the activation of phospholipase A2. The hydrolytic product of phospholipase A2 serves as a precursor in the generation of other second messengers leading to membrane fusion [13, 95].

Multiple isotypes of the PLC family have been shown to play a role in acrosomal exocytosis. The phospholipase C- β 1 (PLC- β 1) signaling cascade and a tyrosine kinase receptor coupled to PLC- γ have been shown to interact with a G-protein coupled receptor located on spermatozoa plasma membrane during zona pellucida induced acrosomal exocytosis [76, 96]. The spermatozoa from PLC- δ 4 knockout male mice are

unable to initiate the acrosome reaction resulting in small liters or males being completely sterile [97]. Increased levels of 1-phosphatidylinositol-3 (PI3) kinase are seen in response to zona pellucida binding resulting in accumulation of phosphatidylinositol-(3,4,5)-triphosphate (PIP3), which serves as a binding site for 3phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase (PDK1) and mediates the activation of its downstream targets, AKT (protein kinase B) and PLC- ζ . Both AKT and PLC- ζ were shown to be essential for acrosome reaction in the mouse [21, 98]. In addition to releasing the acrosomal contents, the acrosome reaction also results in the exposure of a new set of antigens on the surface of the spermatozoa head.

Spermatozoa-Oocyte Plasma Membrane Interactions

Candidate Sperm Ligands

Primakoff et al. (1987) used a library of monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) directed against the guinea pig sperm plasma membrane and identified a sperm surface protein that is potentially required for sperm-egg fusion. The PH-30 MAb recognized fertilin/PH-30 and was able to inhibit fusion. The PH-30 MAb also immunoprecipitated a heterodimeric protein composed of two subunits: fertilin α (ADAM1) and fertilin β (ADAM2) [99-101]. These two subunits were sequenced and revealed three regions of interest: 1) a metalloprotease domain in the fertilin α subunit, 2) a disintegrin domain in both subunits, and 3) an amphipathic alpha helix region in the fertilin α subunit which is similar of the fusion peptides of some viruses [102, 103].

Both subunits were later identified in other mammalian species: mouse [104], monkey [105], rabbit [106], and cattle [100], although some species (humans) may lack the fertilin α subunit [107]. Cyritestin (ADAM3) was later identified in the mouse and monkey [104, 108, 109]. Many other members of this new family of proteins were discovered and named the ADAM (A Disintegrin and A Metalloprotease domain) family because of the presence of a disintegrin and a metalloprotease domain [104].

Over 30 members of the ADAM family have been identified in vertebrates while being expressed in a wide range of tissues and cell types. Proteins of the ADAM family have a distinct domain structure: a signal sequence, prodomain, metalloprotease domain, disintegrin-like domain, cysteine-rich domain, an epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like repeat, and a transmembrane segment with a short cytoplasmic tail. The disintegrin-like domains have homology to snake venom ligands for the integrin family of cell adhesion molecules, which suggest these sperm proteins have a role in cell adhesion [110-112]. Many of the snake disintegrin peptides were shown to have a putative binding site consisting of a short loop formed by disulfide bonds at the base and an RGD (Arg-Gly-Asp) sequence at its tip [113] and have been shown to induce parthenogenetic development in the bovine system [114].

In addition to the work performed by Primakoff et al., 1987, several functional studies have provided evidence that ADAM1, ADAM2, and ADAM3 participate in the sperm-oocyte interaction. Antibodies to these proteins bind to sperm and inhibit fertilization in IVF assays [115, 116]. Recombinant forms of ADAM1, ADAM2, and ADAM3 bind to the mouse oocytes plasma membrane, and inhibit sperm-oocyte binding resulting in a reduction of fertilization [117-122]. Peptides corresponding to the ADAM2 disintegrin loop reduce fertilization by inhibiting sperm binding in the mouse [116, 123-127], and guinea pig [128]. The fertility of ADAM1, ADAM2, and ADAM3 knockout mice is all dramatically reduced due to the inability of sperm to migrate

through the oviduct and decreased sperm binding to the zona pellucida and oocyte plasma membrane [129-133].

CRISP glycoproteins are cysteine-rich epididymal secretory proteins absorbed onto the surface of the spermatozoa and have been proposed to be involved in capacitation and sperm-oocyte binding [134, 135]. Epididymal protein DE (CRISP1) is localized on the posterior region of the spermatozoa head and appears to have 2 different affinities. The CRISP1 population that is weakly bound to the spermatozoa head is removed during capacitation and is hypothesized to play a role in this process by regulating protein tyrosine phosphorylation [136]. The CRISP1 population that is strongly bound is localized on the dorsal region of non-capacitated spermatozoa head and is involved in sperm binding to the zona pellucida prior to capacitation. Once zona pellucida mediated capacitation occurs, CRISP1 migrates to the equatorial segment where it mediates sperm-oocyte fusion through the interaction of its S2 motif with an unknown partner on the oocyte plasma membrane. CRISP1 knockout mice are fertile but suffer from reduced zona pellucida penetration and fusion [137] while mice immunized against CRISP1 have reduced fertility [138]. In addition to CRISP1 it appears that additional CRISP proteins could be involved in mediating fertilization. The intraacrosomal testes specific CRISP2 protein also has been shown to play a role in spermoocyte fusion when incubation of antibodies against CRISP2 resulted in the accumulation of spermatozoa in the perivitelline space of mouse oocytes during *in vitro* fertilization. Zona-free fertilization studies showed that CRISP1 and CRISP2 compete for binding sites on the oocyte plasma membrane, indicating either a redundant or cooperative role in sperm-oocyte fusion [139, 140].

IZUMO is a testis specific member of the immunoglobulin superfamily cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) and is located on the anterior acrosome and equatorial regions of acrosome reacted mouse and human spermatozoa [134, 141]. CAMs are known for their role in the immune response and are able to bind identical or similar members of the immunoglobulin family [142]. Male IZUMO knockout mice are infertile due to the inability of their sperm to fuse with oocytes and it appears that IZUMO plays a similar role in human gamete fusion as well [143]. IZUMO does associate with itself and other non-IZUMO proteins including tetraspanins in the formation of homoprotein and multiprotein membrane complexes and could function to stabilize such complexes on the spermatozoa membrane [141].

The postacrosomal sheath WW domain-binding protein (PAWP) is an alkaline extractable protein localized to the postacrosomal sheath region of the perinuclear theca [144]. Microinjection of recombinant PAWP into bovine, porcine, and xenopus oocytes resulted in meiotic resumption and pronuclear formation while co-injection of a competitive PAWP derived peptide inhibited these same events [144]. Microinjection of recombinant PAWP in xenopus oocytes resulted in calcium release from intracellular stores in a manner similar to sperm-induced intracellular calcium release while both calcium release mechanisms were prevented by co-injection of PAWP derived competitive peptides or antibodies [144, 145].

Candidate Oolemma Receptors

Integrins are a large family of heterodimeric cation-dependent transmembrane proteins composed of non-covalently linked α and β subunits. Each subunit contains a large N-terminal extracellular domain, a transmembrane domain, and a short C-terminal

cytoplasmic domain. There are eighteen α and eight β subunits identified and these subunits combine to form 23 heterodimers. The major function of integrins is to mediate cell-to-cell interactions and cell-to-substratum attachment even though they may mediate a variety of other cellular functions [146]. Integrins associate and interact with cytoskeletal proteins through the cytoplasmic domain of the β subunit and aggregate as focal adhesion sites [147]. These focal adhesion sites also contain signaling complexes involving focal adhesion kinase (FAK), integrin-linked kinase (ILK), molecules of the MAP kinase pathway, small GTPases (ras and rho), lipid kinases (PIP 5-kinase and PI3 kinase), PIP2, PLC-y, serine/threonine kinases, phosphatases, and activation of focal adhesion sites can result in changes in intracellular pH and calcium concentration [148-151].

Numerous integrin subunits, including α_2 , α_3 , α_4 , α_5 , α_6 , α_V , α_8 , α_9 , α_{11} , α_M , β_1 , β_2 , β_3 , β_5 , and β_7 have been detected in mammalian oocytes at the protein or mRNA level [123, 124, 152-159]. The interaction of human and hamster sperm with zona pellucidafree hamster and human oocytes by RGD peptides implicated the involvement of the RGD-binding subfamily of integrins ($\alpha_5\beta_1 \alpha_8\beta_1 \alpha_V\beta_1 \alpha_V\beta_3 \alpha_V\beta_5 \alpha_V\beta_6 \alpha_V\beta_8 \alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$) [160, 161]. Even though RGD peptides do have an inhibitory effect on the binding of recombinant fertilin β to mouse oocytes, they do not have a substantial inhibitory effect on mouse sperm-oocyte interactions [123, 124]. However, cyclic RGD-containing peptides were found to inhibit sperm-oocyte interaction in the mouse model in addition to stimulating the activation of PKC and cortical granual exocytosis [162]. Also in the mouse model, Baessler et al., 2009 illustrated that the β_1 integrin subunit is intimately involved with the initial adhesion of the spermatozoa to the oocyte plasma membrane in addition to mediating the subsequent attachment and fusion. The involvement of the β 1 and α 9 integrin subunits in murine fertilization was also shown using RNA interference and function blocking antibodies [163]. Bovine sperm-oocyte interactions have been shown to involve integrins, in particular the α V, α 5, β 1 and β 3 subunits and may be mediated through cell surface receptors that contain RGD recognition sequences [164]. Biochemical analysis has implicated α V and β 1 integrins subunits on the pig oocytes in the recognition of pig sperm membrane proteins [157]. RGD containing peptides have also been shown to inhibit or block fertilization in amphibians [165]. There is evidence that integrins may not be sufficient for a full oocyte activation response [162]; however, they cannot be excluded as playing a critical role in mediating sperm-oocyte fusion and binding.

Glycosyl phosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored protein is a glycolipid that anchors proteins by their C-terminal tail to the extracellular side of the plasma membrane. The O-side of a GPI associates with DAG in the membrane via DAG's inositol residue. They lack a cytoplasmic tail so their extracellular domain dictates their membrane targeting properties. They participate in signaling cascades but it is unclear how they are able to transduce signals [166]. A glycosyl phosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored protein may be required for fertilization, because removal of GPI-anchored proteins treated with phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C (PI-PLC) results in oocytes greatly inhibited in their ability to support sperm adhesion and fusion [167]. GPI knockout female mice also resulted in highly reduced infertility further implicating GPI involvement in sperm-oocyte interactions [168].

Members of the tetraspanin superfamily have been shown to form membrane

complexes with adhesion receptors from the integrin family [169, 170]. Tetraspanins CD9, CD53, CD63, CD81, CD82, and CD151 form integrin-tetraspanin complexes with numerous integrins [171]. The absence of the tetraspanin protein CD9 on the oocytes of knockout mice resulted in sperm bound to the oocyte membrane; however, the sperm had lost almost all of its ability to fuse [172-174]. Zona pellucida-free oocytes treated with anti-CD9 MAbs were reported to have reduced number of bound sperm [175], and also showed reduced levels of binding of the sperm ligands, ADAM3 [119], ADAM1 [120], and ADAM2 [122]. However, CD9 knockout mice did conceive and give birth to pups on rare occasions [122]. Recently it was discovered that oocytes release CD9 exosome-like vesicles that are transferred to the spermatozoa head and assist in spermatozoa-oocyte fusion [51, 176-178]. CD81 was localized in the zona pellucida of mouse oocytes with the deletion of the CD81 gene resulting in an inability of oocytes to fuse with sperm [178, 179]. Ohnami et al., 2012, concluded that CD9 and CD81 are both involved in spermatozoa-oocyte fusion and behave independently of one another. Jegou et al., utilized a recently developed biophysical approach to measure the strength of interaction between two live cells and found that CD9 was able to generate the strongest adhesion sites for spermatozoa.

Oocyte Activation

Membrane fusion triggers cellular responses in the oocyte, and prevents additional sperm that have penetrated the zona pellucida from fusing with the oocyte plasma membrane. The resulting signal transduction events "activate" the eggs and include the initiation of intracellular calcium oscillations, resumption of meiosis, and cortical granule exocytosis [180, 181]. It is accepted that the majority of these activation events are directly related to calcium signaling cascades and the subsequent changes in particular protein kinase activities [56].

The release of sequestered calcium in response to fertilization involves an IP3 evoked release of calcium from the endoplasmic reticulum. The increase in IP3 production is believed to be a result of the activation of a member of the PLC family of enzymes which catalyzes the hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) to produce two common secondary messengers, DAG and IP3 [182]. DAG is able to activate PKC while IP3 binds to an IP3R channel on the endoplasmic reticulum, resulting in a conformational change to the receptor and a significant release of intracellular calcium. A variety of hypotheses have been proposed in attempt to explain the initiation of these calcium oscillations including: 1) the contact (receptor-mediated) hypothesis or 2) the fusion (sperm factor) hypothesis.

The contact or receptor mediated hypothesis predicts the interaction of a sperm ligand with a receptor on the oocyte plasma membrane activates a PLC isoform endogenous to the oocyte to generate the IP3. If an oocyte specific PLC is involved, a characterization of the upstream pathway would paint a clearer picture of oocyte activation. In many non-mammalian species PLC- γ is activated by Src family kinases shortly after fertilization and appears to be required for fertilization induced calcium oscillations in these species [182]; however, this has not been established in mammalian fertilization [56]. It would be worthwhile to review the Src Family Kinases in addition to the PLC family of enzymes in order to get a better understanding of potential players in the oocyte activation signaling cascade in response to ligand-receptor binding, including experimental evidence supporting or refuting their specific involvement in

Src Family Kinases

SFKs are rapidly activated following integrin-ligand interactions and subsequently activate downstream kinases and adapters [183-185]. SFKs are able to bind directly to β -integrin tails in a tail and SFK specific manner [183, 186, 187] in addition to binding and phosphorylating FAK and FAK-binding proteins.

SFKs include ten non-receptor tyrosine kinases (Abl, Blk, Fgr, Fyn, Hck, Lck, Lyn, Src, Yes and Yrk) that are similar in structure and function. Src, Fyn, and Yes are ubiquitously expressed while the others show a more restricted pattern of expression [183, 188-191]. SFKs have a N-terminal myristoylation signal and a modular architecture consisting of 5 domains: the kinase unique N-terminal domain, the SH3 and SH2 protein interaction domains, the catalytic domain, and the C-terminal regulatory domain [188]. The myristoylation signal is critical for membrane localization and the unique N-terminal domain is the only non-conserved region within the SFKs. Two tyrosine phosphorylation sites, an autophosphorylation site at Tyr417 in the catalytic domain and a Tyr527 site in the C-terminal domain regulate the catalytic activities of SFKs positively and negatively. The SH3 domain binds to proline rich sequences and in so doing contributes to substrate recruitment, while also playing a critical role in the regulation of kinase activity [183, 190 1993, 192-196]. The SH2 domain also assists with protein-protein interactions by binding phosphotyrosine-containing sequences [183, 190].

Species that fertilize externally display intense activation of SFKs immediately after fertilization [188, 197-199]. The specific member of oocyte SFKs involved in this

activity vary from species to species and include Fyn in zebrafish and sea urchins [197, 200], and Src in sea urchins, starfish, and Xenopus [198, 201, 202]. The SFK activation begins at a localized site of sperm binding and indicates that gamete interactions (ligand-receptor mediated) and cell fusion initiate the SFK activation [188]. Sperm binding and fusion activates oocytes SFKs that phosphorylate and activates PLC-y in echinoderms and ascidians [203, 204], but the involvement of SFKs in mice activation does not appear to be essential [205]. Injection of recombinant c-Fyn into mouse oocytes resulted in oocyte activation and is believed to interact with the truncated c-kit tyrosine kinase of sperm to activate PLC-y [206, 207]. However, it appears that this pathway is different than the activation pathway that occurs in mice [182]. Abl [208], Src [197, 199], and Yes [209] are all active in vertebrate SFKs has proven to be challenging because of sequence diversity [188].

FAK is a conserved, ubiquitously expressed 125 kDa scaffold protein that recruits cytoskeletal and signaling molecules. FAK contains an N-terminal FERM domain, a central kinase domain, proline rich regions, and a C-terminal focal-adhesiontargeting (FAT) domain. The FERM domain facilitates a signaling linkage from receptor tyrosine kinases in addition to binding to and promoting integrin and FAK mediated activation of non-receptor tyrosine kinases [210]. Two proline-rich regions are found in the C-terminal domain that serve as binding sites for Src homology (SH)3 domain containing proteins. Also located in the C-terminal domain is the FAT region which promotes the colocalization of FAK with integrins at focal adhesions via binding of integrin associated proteins paxillin and talin. When FAK is autophosphorylated at Tyr397, a motif forms that is recognized by proteins with SH2 domains including SFKs, PLC-γ, and PI3K. Of the SFKs, Src binding is promoted after FAK Tyr397 autophosphorylation that results in a conformational activation of Src and a duel activated FAK-Src signaling complex. Within the complex Src then phosphorylates FAK at Tyr861 resulting in additional SH3-domain mediated binding of the adaptor protein p130Cas to the proline rich regions in the C-terminal domain. Activated Src also phosphorylates FAK at Tyr925, thus creating an SH2 binding site for the GRB2 adapter protein, which leads to activation of Ras and the ERk2/MAPK signaling cascade. However, Src mediated transphosphorylation of FAK within the activation loop at Tyr576 and Tyr577 results in the maximum FAK catalytic activation [210].

FAK and closely related PYK2 are found to be rapidly phosphorylated/activated after fertilization in the zebrafish and could serve as targets of SFKs in perpetuating the activation signaling cascade [211]. Activated FAK as also been found in localized pools in response to fertilization in zebrafish [188].

Phospholipase C family of enzymes

In response to activation of receptors by neurotransmitters, hormones, growth factors and other molecules, phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C (PLC) hydrolyzes phosphatidylinositol 4,5 bisphosphate (PIP2) to generate two second messengers: inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG). Both second messengers initiate further signal transduction cascades with IP3 activating intracellular calcium release while DAG activates protein kinase C (PKC) [212-216]. A variety of PLCs with different molecular masses, isoelectric points, and calcium dependencies

have been discovered in a variety of different tissues and categorized into 6 classes based on structure and activity: PLC- β (1-4), PLC- γ (1and 2), PLC- δ (1, 3, and 4) PLC- ϵ , PLC- ζ , and PLC- η (1 and 2) [216, 217]. Each isozyme family contains conserved domains as well as isozyme specific domains. All PLC isozymes contain catalytic X and Y domains in addition to isozyme specific regulatory regions including the pleckstrin homology (PH) domain, the C2 domain, and the EF-hand motif. The isotype specific domains allow for subtype specific regulatory mechanism including the Ras-associating domain and Ras-GTPase exchange factor-like domain in PLC- ϵ and the src homology (SH) domain in PLC- γ [216]. Numerous alternative splicing variants for each PLC isotype have been found across multiple species, indicating an extremely complex level of additional regulation [217].

The family of PLC- β isozymes consists of 4 enzymes (1-4) and is characterized by the presence of an elongated C-terminus that contains many of the required sequences for G protein interaction, membrane binding, and nuclear localization. PLC- β isozymes are regulated by heterotrimeric GTP-binding proteins and have a high ability to stimulated GTPase. Typically PLC- β isozymes function in the cytoplasm as effector enzymes for transmembrane proteins containing seven transmembrane segments. PLC- β isozymes are differentially expressed in a variety of tissues with PLC- β 1 being the most abundant. Overexpression of PLC- β 1 in mice had a large effect on sperm-induced calcium oscillations by greatly reducing the total amount of calcium released and even a modest reduction in PLC- β 1 protein levels significantly reduced the amplitude of the calcium oscillations in mice [218]. The authors stated that they only focused on PLC- β 1 and their results could not address or exclude the involvement of other oocyte derived PLCs [218].

Two mammalian PLC- γ isozymes (1 and 2) have been identified and are characterized by the presence of two tandem Src homology 2 (SH2) domains and a Src homology 3 (SH3) domain flanked by a split PH domain. PLC- γ isozymes are activated by growth factors, immune receptors, and integrins [216, 217]. In response to growth factor stimulation, the SH2 domains of PLC- γ 1 mediate binding to the autophosphorylated tyrosine regions of the intracellular region of the receptor and are critical for membrane recruitment and tyrosine phosphorylation of PLC- γ 1. After recruitment to multi-molecular signaling complexes, both PLC- γ isozymes are phosphorylated by non-receptor tyrosine kinases from the Src, Syk, and Tec kinase families. Both PLC- γ 1 and PLC- γ 2 have similar expression patterns, but appear to perform independent functions [217]. The involvement of PLC- γ in the oocyte activation signaling cascade in echinoderms and ascidians in addition to potential implications in the mouse model was stated earlier and will not be repeated here.

The PLC- δ isozyme family (1, 3, and 4) has the simplest structure of all of the PLC isotype families and contains a PH domain, EF hand motif, X and Y domains, and a C2 domain which could explain the high homology among the three family members. The PLC- δ isozyme family is the most sensitive to intracellular calcium concentrations suggesting its activity to be tightly regulated by intra-cellular calcium levels. PLC- δ 1 appears to play a role in cell cycle regulation [217, 219] in addition to have anti-oncogene activity [220], and both PLC- δ 1 and PLC- δ 3 are essential for proper trophoblast development during formation of the placenta [221, 222]. PLC- δ 4 in sperm plays a critical role in fertilization and oocyte activation as PLC- δ 4 knockout mice suffer
from male infertility. Spermatozoa from PLC- δ4 knockout mice result in fewer activated oocytes with those oocytes being activated having delayed or no calcium oscillations at all [97]. In addition, the sperm from PLC-δ4 mice were unable to initiate the acrosome reaction demonstrating that PLC- δ4 functions in the zona pellucida induced acrosome reaction during mammalian fertilization [223, 224]. This was further evidenced by the ability of solubilized mouse zona pellucida to generate a sustained intracellular calcium increase in wild type sperm but was only able to generate a minimal calcium increase in PLC-δ4 null mice sperm [225]. These data indicate PLC-δ4 plays a pivotal role in the generation of the calcium response in the sperm during the zona pellucida induced acrosome reaction.

PLC-ε is the largest PLC isozyme and contains 2 domains not found in other PLC isozymes. It contains RA domains in the C-terminus and a CDC25 homology domain located in the N-terminus. The RA domains mediate the GTP dependent interaction with Ras family small G-proteins [226, 227] and the CDC25 homology domain functions as a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for one of the Ras family small G-proteins [228]. Based on these structural features, the role of PLC-ε is believed to mediate the interplay between Ras-mediated and PLC-dependent pathways. PLC-ε is activated by growth factors, in particular EGF and PDGF, and is recruited into the plasma membrane by activated RAS through the R2 domain [226]. PLC-ε plays a role in the development of some organs and is involved in cell proliferation and tumor formation [229-234].

Recently, two PLC-η isozymes (1 and 2) were identified in mice and humans [230, 235, 236] and this family contains the PH domain, four EF-Hand motifs, catalytic X and Y domains, and the C2 domain. The function(s) of both PLC- η isozymes have yet to be elucidated; however, both PLC- η isozymes are found in neuron enriched areas of the brain indicating their potential involvement in neural regulation [217].

PLC-ζ was identified as a sperm specific PLC as a result of analyzing EST sequences from human and mouse testis. It is the smallest mammalian PLC isozyme with a molecular weight of 70kDa and consists of the EF-hand motif, catalytic X and Y domains, and the C2 domain. PLC- ζ has a high degree of sequence homology (64%) with PLC- δ 1 in addition to sharing catalytic residues in the X domain, which indicates that the catalytic activation of PLC- ζ is similar to PLC- δ 1. PLC- ζ does not contain a PH domain like the other PLC isozymes so it is unclear how PLC- ζ can target PIP2, its membrane bound substrate [217]. PLC- ζ has been proposed to be the testis-specific, sperm borne activating factor (SOAF) that initiates oocyte activation after gamete fusion in support of the fusion hypothesis [237].

Microinjection of PLC- ζ cRNA or recombinant protein into mouse oocytes results in intracellular calcium oscillations, activation and development [237, 238]. Sperm from male mice with decreased expression of PLC- ζ due to RNA interference are able to fuse with oocytes and initiate calcium oscillations; however, the number of oscillations was reduced and no transgenic offspring were born [239]. PLC- ζ was also shown to be defective due to reduced protein levels or mutated forms in men suffering infertility [240, 241].

For a spermatozoa protein to be a viable SOAF candidate, many criteria must be met: 1) Protein specific to male germ cells and more particular is only expressed in elongating spermatids and spermatozoa; 2) Triggers cortical granule exocytosis, pronuclear development, and cleavage; 3) Ability to induce repetitive calcium oscillations; 4) Not species specific; 5) During the early stages of fertilization should be localized to the postacrosomal sheath of the spermatozoa perinuclear theca; 6) Soluble and released into cytoplasm of oocyte upon fusion [242, 243]. Unfortunately PLC- ζ fails to fulfill all of these requirements so its function as the SOAF needs to be taken into question.

PLC-ζ expression has also been shown not to be testes specific, as PLC-ζ expression has been detected in mouse brain [244] in addition to the ovary and brain of the puffer fish [245]. Aarabi et al., [246] recently demonstrated that PLC-ζ is actually secreted by the epididymis as a component of the acrosome during mouse spermatogenesis. Nevertheless, a novel function of PLC-ζ might be required for spermatogenesis, as PLC-ζ knockout mice seem unable to complete spermatogenesis with spermatocytes failing to develop beyond elongation [247], although the specificity of these effects needs to be evaluated in more detail.

By removing all sperm membranous and acrosomal components with the nonionic detergent, Triton X-100, the SOAF has been shown to be localized to the perinuclear theca (PT) [248-250], and actually more precisely localized to the postacrosomal sheath of the perinuclear theca (PAS-PT) which is the region of the PT that is first solubilized on sperm entry into the ooplasm [242]. Consequently the SOAF should be non extractable by non-ionic detergents and localized to the PT, two requirements that the 74 kDa catalytically active form of PLC-ζ failed to meet [242].

PLC- ζ was originally believed to be localized to the part of the spermatozoa head that first enters the egg [251]; however, it was recently shown that PLC- ζ disappears

from the sperm head when it fuses with the oocyte plasma membrane and subsequent incorporation into the oocyte [242]. Reports also suggest that PLC- ζ undergoes dynamic changes in its pattern of localization in the spermatozoa of mice [252], hamster [252], and humans [253]. For example, it was demonstrated that PLC- ζ displays variable localizations in the sperm head, including the equatorial segment and the post-acrosomal regions, and it was suggested that these distinct localizations may reflect a different functional status of the sperm, i.e. capacitation and acrosome reaction, and that PLC- ζ may be involved in some of these physiological steps. However, to date, there is no supporting data to implicate PLC- ζ in these steps.

Microinjection of PLC- ζ cRNA into oocytes to overexpress PLC- ζ protein has been a common technique used to illustrate the ability of PLC- ζ to induce fertilizationlike calcium oscillations and oocyte activation. There is an inherent flaw with this technique in that non-physiological amounts of protein are expressed, so how can one rule out the response is not non-physiological? Igarashi et al. [218] found that microinjecting PLC- β 1 cRNA into mouse eggs significantly altered the sperm-induced oscillations and the authors wondered that if PLC- ζ was the sole activating factor, how could an oocyte specific PLC affect the pattern. This provides evidence that a PLC endogenous to the oocyte might also be involved in initiation of calcium oscillations.

Retrospective studies involving men with globozoospermia [240, 241] concluded their infertility was due to reduced or defective PLC- ζ protein levels. As stated in Aarabi et al. [246] many other sperm proteins are also affected or absent in these patients, so in this case there is no direct experimental evidence indicating the reduced levels or mutated forms of PLC- ζ are the actual cause of the infertility. Association does not mean causation.

The studies that used transgenic RNAi methods to decrease the amount of PLC- ζ in male mice, concluded that since no transgenic offspring were found, none of the PLC- ζ deficient sperm were able to activate oocytes [239]. In light of the recent findings that PLC- ζ might play a role in the acrosome reaction and is absent from the sperm head at fertilization, it is possible to conclude that no transgenic offspring were born because none of the PLC- ζ deficient sperm were able to undergo the acrosome reaction.

Summary

Much as been said regarding the molecular players involved in mediating spermatozoa-oocyte interactions and I believe there is yet much, much more to be said on the matter. Some facts are certain, in particular, the vital role calcium plays as a secondary messenger in many of the numerous events of mammalian fertilization leading up to and culminating in the formation of a zygote. However, it appears that for every experiment implicating the involvement of a spermatazoa or oocyte membrane protein, there is another experiment or set of experiments proving why the previously implicated protein is no longer "the" candidate or essential for binding or fusion or oocyte activation. The same can be said regarding the proposed mechanism(s) by which fertilization initiates calcium oscillations and embryonic development. Successful fertilization most likely includes the involvement of a multitude of protein complexes with multiple layers of redundancy, both on the oocyte and spermatozoa, to ensure a high probability of success. Additional characterization of some of the implicated molecular players will add a little more clarity to the complex picture of mammalian fertilization in particular, gamete binding, fusion, and oocyte activation.

Research Goals and Possible Applications of Project

The focus of my research included three primary objectives in characterizing the molecular factor(s) involved in bovine fertilization. They are:

- Characterize which integrin subunits on the oocyte plasma membrane are involved in spermatozoa binding and fusion in the bovine model.
- Elucidate the involvement of FAK as a signaling molecule downstream of integrin signaling in bovine fertilization.
- Determine if any of the PLC enzymes endogenous to the bovine oocyte are involved in the oocyte activation signaling cascade.

A more complete understanding of the molecular factors involved in fertilization could have beneficial impacts for human fertility and assisted reproduction. Overcoming human infertility problems due to the failure of spermatozoa-oocyte interactions [134] in addition to targeting the involved proteins for use in contraceptive therapy are highly plausible outcomes.

Another potential outcome is improved efficiency associated with animal somatic cell nuclear transfer (scNT). Currently the nuclear donor cell is fused with the oocyte plasma membrane via electrofusion and the resulting nuclear transfer couplet is subjected to chemical activation. Both electrofusion and chemical activation are nonphysiologic events and could have long lasting negative impacts on embryo survival. A better understanding of spermatozoa-oocyte fusion and the oocyte activation signaling cascade could lead to a more natural method of fusing the donor cell with the oocyte, in addition to a more natural way of inducing oocyte activation and embryonic development. The technology of somatic cell nuclear transfer has a great potential of producing transgenic animals for biopharmaceutical production and use as animal models for human disease, rescuing endangered species, and producing stem cells to name a few. Improving the efficiency of scNT will allow for increased advancements and benefits of the technology.

References

- Kawano N, Kang W, Yamashita M, Koga Y, Yamazaki T, Hata T, Miyado K, Baba T. Mice lacking two sperm serine proteases, ACR and PRSS21, are subfertile, but the mutant sperm are infertile in vitro. Biol Reprod 2010; 83:359-369.
- Kawano N, Yoshida K, Miyado K, Yoshida M. Lipid rafts: keys to sperm maturation, fertilization, and early embryogenesis. J Lipids 2011; 2011:264706.
- Yanagimachi R, Kamiguchi Y, Mikamo K, Suzuki F, Yanagimachi H. Maturation of spermatozoa in the epididymis of the Chinese hamster. Am J Anat 1985; 172:317-330.
- Sullivan R, Saez F, Girouard J, Frenette G. Role of exosomes in sperm maturation during the transit along the male reproductive tract. Blood Cells Mol Dis 2005; 35:1-10.
- Rejraji H, Sion B, Prensier G, Carreras M, Motta C, Frenoux JM, Vericel E, Grizard G, Vernet P, Drevet JR. Lipid remodeling of murine epididymosomes and spermatozoa during epididymal maturation. Biol Reprod 2006; 74:1104-1113.
- 6. Triantafilou M, Triantafilou K. Heat-shock protein 70 and heat-shock protein 90 associate with Toll-like receptor 4 in response to bacterial lipopolysaccharide.

Biochem Soc Trans 2004; 32:636-639.

- Fevrier B, Raposo G. Exosomes: endosomal-derived vesicles shipping extracellular messages. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2004; 16:415-421.
- Dhungana S, Merrick BA, Tomer KB, Fessler MB. Quantitative proteomics analysis of macrophage rafts reveals compartmentalized activation of the proteasome and of proteasome-mediated ERK activation in response to lipopolysaccharide. Mol Cell Proteomics 2009; 8:201-213.
- 9. Mathivanan S, Ji H, Simpson RJ. Exosomes: extracellular organelles important in intercellular communication. J Proteomics 2010; 73:1907-1920.
- Frenette G, Thabet M, Sullivan R. Polyol pathway in human epididymis and semen. J Andrology 2006; 27:233-239.
- Chang MC. Fertilizing capacity of spermatozoa deposited into the fallopian tubes. Nature 1951; 168:697-698.
- Austin CR. Activation and the correlation between male and female elements in fertilization. Nature 1951; 168:558-559.
- Abou-haila A, Tulsiani DR. Signal transduction pathways that regulate sperm capacitation and the acrosome reaction. Arch Biochem Biophys 2009; 485:72-81.
- Tulsiani DR, Abou-Haila A, Loeser CR, Pereira BM. The biological and functional significance of the sperm acrosome and acrosomal enzymes in mammalian fertilization. Exp Cell Res 1998; 240:151-164.
- Tulsiani DR, Zeng HT, Abou-Haila A. Biology of sperm capacitation: evidence for multiple signalling pathways. Soc Reprod Fertil Suppl 2007; 63:257-272.
- 16. Visconti PE, Galantino-Homer H, Ning X, Moore GD, Valenzuela JP, Jorgez CJ,

Alvarez JG, Kopf GS. Cholesterol efflux-mediated signal transduction in mammalian sperm. beta-cyclodextrins initiate transmembrane signaling leading to an increase in protein tyrosine phosphorylation and capacitation. J Biol Chem 1999; 274:3235-3242.

- Visconti PE, Kopf GS. Regulation of protein phosphorylation during sperm capacitation. Biol Reprod 1998; 59:1-6.
- Zeng HT, Tulsiani DR. Calmodulin antagonists differentially affect capacitationassociated protein tyrosine phosphorylation of mouse sperm components. J Cell Sci 2003; 116:1981-1989.
- Demarco IA, Espinosa F, Edwards J, Sosnik J, De La Vega-Beltran JL, Hockensmith JW, Kopf GS, Darszon A, Visconti PE. Involvement of a Na+/HCO-3 cotransporter in mouse sperm capacitation. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:7001-7009.
- Buck J, Sinclair ML, Schapal L, Cann MJ, Levin LR. Cytosolic adenylyl cyclase defines a unique signaling molecule in mammals. Proc Nat Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96:79-84.
- Breitbart H, Rotman T, Rubinstein S, Etkovitz N. Role and regulation of PI3K in sperm capacitation and the acrosome reaction. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2010; 314:234-238.
- Visconti PE, Westbrook VA, Chertihin O, Demarco I, Sleight S, Diekman AB. Novel signaling pathways involved in sperm acquisition of fertilizing capacity. J Reprod Immunol 2002; 53:133-150.
- 23. Krapf D, Arcelay E, Wertheimer EV, Sanjay A, Pilder SH, Salicioni AM,

Visconti PE. Inhibition of Ser/Thr phosphatases induces capacitation-associated signaling in the presence of Src kinase inhibitors. J Biol Chem 2010; 285:7977-7985.

- 24. Breitbart H, Etkovitz N. Role and regulation of EGFR in actin remodeling in sperm capacitation and the acrosome reaction. Asian J Androl 2011; 13:106-110.
- Dell'Acqua ML, Scott JD. Protein kinase A anchoring. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:12881-12884.
- 26. Rubin CS. A kinase anchor proteins and the intracellular targeting of signals carried by cyclic AMP. Biochim Biophys Acta 1994; 1224:467-479.
- 27. Coghlan VM, Perrino BA, Howard M, Langeberg LK, Hicks JB, Gallatin WM, Scott JD. Association of protein kinase A and protein phosphatase 2B with a common anchoring protein. Science 1995; 267:108-111.
- Klauck TM, Faux MC, Labudda K, Langeberg LK, Jaken S, Scott JD.
 Coordination of three signaling enzymes by AKAP79, a mammalian scaffold protein. Science 1996; 271:1589-1592.
- 29. Nauert JB, Klauck TM, Langeberg LK, Scott JD. Gravin, an autoantigen recognized by serum from myasthenia gravis patients, is a kinase scaffold protein. Curr Biol 1997; 7:52-62.
- Sarkar D, Erlichman J, Rubin CS. Identification of a calmodulin-binding protein that co-purifies with the regulatory subunit of brain protein kinase II. J Biol Chem 1984; 259:9840-9846.
- 31. Schillace RV, Scott JD. Association of the type 1 protein phosphatase PP1 with the A-kinase anchoring protein AKAP220. Curr Biol : CB 1999; 9:321-324.

- 32. Baker MA, Hetherington L, Aitken RJ. Identification of SRC as a key PKAstimulated tyrosine kinase involved in the capacitation-associated hyperactivation of murine spermatozoa. J Cell Sci 2006; 119:3182-3192.
- 33. Leclerc P, Goupil S. Regulation of the human sperm tyrosine kinase c-yes.
 Activation by cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate and inhibition by Ca(2+).
 Biol Reprod 2002; 67:301-307.
- 34. Luconi M, Barni T, Vannelli GB, Krausz C, Marra F, Benedetti PA, Evangelista V, Francavilla S, Properzi G, Forti G, Baldi E. Extracellular signal-regulated kinases modulate capacitation of human spermatozoa. Biol Reprod 1998; 58:1476-1489.
- 35. Baker MA, Hetherington L, Curry B, Aitken RJ. Phosphorylation and consequent stimulation of the tyrosine kinase c-Abl by PKA in mouse spermatozoa; its implications during capacitation. Dev Biol 2009; 333:57-66.
- Bailey JL. Factors regulating sperm capacitation. Syst Biol Reprod Med 2010;
 56:334-348.
- 37. Vijayaraghavan S, Trautman KD, Goueli SA, Carr DW. A tyrosinephosphorylated 55-kilodalton motility-associated bovine sperm protein is regulated by cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphates and calcium. Biol Reprod 1997; 56:1450-1457.
- Si Y, Okuno M. Role of tyrosine phosphorylation of flagellar proteins in hamster sperm hyperactivation. Biol Reprod 1999; 61:240-246.
- Holt WV, Harrison RA. Bicarbonate stimulation of boar sperm motility via a protein kinase A-dependent pathway: between-cell and between-ejaculate

differences are not due to deficiencies in protein kinase A activation. J Androl 2002; 23:557-565.

- Itach SB, Finklestein M, Etkovitz N, Breitbart H. Hyper-activated motility in sperm capacitation is mediated by phospholipase D-dependent actin polymerization. Dev Biol 2012; 362:154-161.
- 41. Marin-Briggiler CI, Jha KN, Chertihin O, Buffone MG, Herr JC, Vazquez-Levin MH, Visconti PE. Evidence of the presence of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV in human sperm and its involvement in motility regulation. J Cell Sci 2005; 118:2013-2022.
- 42. Rothman JE. Mechanisms of intracellular protein transport. Nature 1994; 372:55-63.
- Cheung WY. Calmodulin plays a pivotal role in cellular regulation. Science 1980; 207:19-27.
- 44. Means AR, Tash JS, Chafouleas JG, Lagace L, Guerriero V. Regulation of the cytoskeleton by Ca2+-calmodulin and cAMP. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1982; 383:69-84.
- 45. Gross MK, Toscano DG, Toscano WA, Jr. Calmodulin-mediated adenylate cyclase from mammalian sperm. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:8672-8676.
- 46. Abou-Haila A, Tulsiani DR. Evidence for the capacitation-associated membrane priming of mouse spermatozoa. Histochem Cell Biol 2003; 119:179-187.
- 47. Cohen-Dayag A, Tur-Kaspa I, Dor J, Mashiach S, Eisenbach M. Sperm capacitation in humans is transient and correlates with chemotactic responsiveness to follicular factors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995; 92:11039-

11043.

- Sun F, Bahat A, Gakamsky A, Girsh E, Katz N, Giojalas LC, Tur-Kaspa I,
 Eisenbach M. Human sperm chemotaxis: both the oocyte and its surrounding
 cumulus cells secrete sperm chemoattractants. Hum Reprod 2005; 20:761-767.
- Oren-Benaroya R, Orvieto R, Gakamsky A, Pinchasov M, Eisenbach M. The sperm chemoattractant secreted from human cumulus cells is progesterone. Hum Reprod 2008; 23:2339-2345.
- 50. Guidobaldi HA, Teves ME, Unates DR, Anastasia A, Giojalas LC. Progesterone from the cumulus cells is the sperm chemoattractant secreted by the rabbit oocyte cumulus complex. PLoS One 2008; 3:e3040.
- 51. Ikawa M, Inoue N, Benham AM, Okabe M. Fertilization: a sperm's journey to and interaction with the oocyte. J Clin Invest 2010; 120:984-994.
- 52. Thomas P, Meizel S. Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate hydrolysis in human sperm stimulated with follicular fluid or progesterone is dependent upon Ca2+ influx. Biochem J 1989; 264:539-546.
- 53. Blackmore PF, Neulen J, Lattanzio F, Beebe SJ. Cell surface-binding sites for progesterone mediate calcium uptake in human sperm. J Biol Chem 1991;
 266:18655-18659.
- 54. Meizel S, Turner KO. Progesterone acts at the plasma membrane of human sperm. Mol Cell Endocrinol 1991; 77:R1-5.
- 55. Baldi E, Luconi M, Muratori M, Forti G. A novel functional estrogen receptor on human sperm membrane interferes with progesterone effects. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2000; 161:31-35.

- 56. Florman HM, Ducibella T. Fertilization in Mammals. In. Knobil E, Neill J (eds),
 Physiology of Reproduction, vol 1, 3rd ed. New York; Academic Press; 2006:
 55-112.
- 57. Claw KG, Swanson WJ. Evolution of the egg: new findings and challenges.Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 2012.
- 58. Myles DG, Primakoff P. Why did the sperm cross the cumulus? To get to the oocyte. Functions of the sperm surface proteins PH-20 and fertilin in arriving at, and fusing with, the egg. Biol Reprod 1997; 56:320-327.
- 59. Shimada M, Yanai Y, Okazaki T, Noma N, Kawashima I, Mori T, Richards JS. Hyaluronan fragments generated by sperm-secreted hyaluronidase stimulate cytokine/chemokine production via the TLR2 and TLR4 pathway in cumulus cells of ovulated COCs, which may enhance fertilization. Development 2008; 135:2001-2011.
- 60. Tanii I, Aradate T, Matsuda K, Komiya A, Fuse H. PACAP-mediated spermcumulus cell interaction promotes fertilization. Reproduction 2011; 141:163-171.
- Avella MA, Dean J. Fertilization with acrosome-reacted mouse sperm: implications for the site of exocytosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011; 108:19843-19844.
- 62. Inoue N, Satouh Y, Ikawa M, Okabe M, Yanagimachi R. Acrosome-reacted mouse spermatozoa recovered from the perivitelline space can fertilize other eggs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011; 108:20008-20011.
- 63. Jin M, Fujiwara E, Kakiuchi Y, Okabe M, Satouh Y, Baba SA, Chiba K,Hirohashi N. Most fertilizing mouse spermatozoa begin their acrosome reaction

before contact with the zona pellucida during in vitro fertilization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011; 108:4892-4896.

- Sun TT, Chung CM, Chan HC. Acrosome reaction in the cumulus oophorus revisited: involvement of a novel sperm-released factor NYD-SP8. Protein Cell 2011; 2:92-98.
- Kim E, Yamashita M, Kimura M, Honda A, Kashiwabara S, Baba T. Sperm penetration through cumulus mass and zona pellucida. Int J Dev Biol 2008; 52:677-682.
- 66. Lin Y, Mahan K, Lathrop WF, Myles DG, Primakoff P. A hyaluronidase activity of the sperm plasma membrane protein PH-20 enables sperm to penetrate the cumulus cell layer surrounding the egg. J Cell Biol 1994; 125:1157-1163.
- 67. Primakoff P, Myles DG. Penetration, adhesion, and fusion in mammalian spermegg interaction. Science 2002; 296:2183-2185.
- Talbot P, Shur BD, Myles DG. Cell adhesion and fertilization: steps in oocyte transport, sperm-zona pellucida interactions, and sperm-egg fusion. Biol Reprod 2003; 68:1-9.
- 69. Phelps BM, Myles DG. The guinea pig sperm plasma membrane protein, PH-20, reaches the surface via two transport pathways and becomes localized to a domain after an initial uniform distribution. Dev Biol 1987; 123:63-72.
- Primakoff P, Hyatt H, Myles DG. A role for the migrating sperm surface antigen PH-20 in guinea pig sperm binding to the egg zona pellucida. J Cell Biol 1985; 101:2239-2244.
- 71. Myles DG, Hyatt H, Primakoff P. Binding of both acrosome-intact and

acrosome-reacted guinea pig sperm to the zona pellucida during in vitro fertilization. Dev Biol 1987; 121:559-567.

- 72. Hunnicutt GR, Primakoff P, Myles DG. Sperm surface protein PH-20 is bifunctional: one activity is a hyaluronidase and a second, distinct activity is required in secondary sperm-zona binding. Biol Reprod 1996; 55:80-86.
- Hunnicutt GR, Mahan K, Lathrop WF, Ramarao CS, Myles DG, Primakoff P. Structural relationship of sperm soluble hyaluronidase to the sperm membrane protein PH-20. Biol Reprod 1996; 54:1343-1349.
- McLeskey SB, Dowds C, Carballada R, White RR, Saling PM. Molecules involved in mammalian sperm-egg interaction. Int Rev Cytol 1998; 177:57-113.
- 75. Baba D, Kashiwabara S, Honda A, Yamagata K, Wu Q, Ikawa M, Okabe M, Baba T. Mouse sperm lacking cell surface hyaluronidase PH-20 can pass through the layer of cumulus cells and fertilize the egg. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:30310-30314.
- Gupta SK, Bhandari B. Acrosome reaction: relevance of zona pellucida glycoproteins. Asian J Androl 2011; 13:97-105.
- Visconti PE, Florman HM. Mechanisms of sperm-egg interactions: between sugars and broken bonds. Sci Signal 2010; 3:pe35.
- Litscher ES, Williams Z, Wassarman PM. Zona pellucida glycoprotein ZP3 and fertilization in mammals. Mol Reprod Dev 2009; 76:933-941.
- Talbot P, Shur BD, Myles DG. Cell adhesion and fertilization: steps in oocyte transport, sperm-zona pellucida interactions, and sperm-egg fusion. Biol Reprod 2003; 68:1-9.

- Bleil JD, Wassarman PM. Identification of a ZP3-binding protein on acrosomeintact mouse sperm by photoaffinity crosslinking. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990; 87:5563-5567.
- 81. Cheng A, Le T, Palacios M, Bookbinder LH, Wassarman PM, Suzuki F, Bleil JD. Sperm-egg recognition in the mouse: characterization of sp56, a sperm protein having specific affinity for ZP3. J Cell Biol 1994; 125:867-878.
- 82. Foster JA, Friday BB, Maulit MT, Blobel C, Winfrey VP, Olson GE, Kim KS, Gerton GL. AM67, a secretory component of the guinea pig sperm acrosomal matrix, is related to mouse sperm protein sp56 and the complement component 4binding proteins. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:12714-12722.
- Wassarman PM, Litscher ES. The multifunctional zona pellucida and mammalian fertilization. J Reprod Immunol 2009; 83:45-49.
- Kim KS, Cha MC, Gerton GL. Mouse sperm protein sp56 is a component of the acrosomal matrix. Biol Reprod 2001; 64:36-43.
- 85. Kim KS, Gerton GL. Differential release of soluble and matrix components: evidence for intermediate states of secretion during spontaneous acrosomal exocytosis in mouse sperm. Dev Biol 2003; 264:141-152.
- Buffone MG, Zhuang T, Ord TS, Hui L, Moss SB, Gerton GL. Recombinant mouse sperm ZP3-binding protein (ZP3R/sp56) forms a high order oligomer that binds eggs and inhibits mouse fertilization in vitro. J Biol Chem 2008; 283:12438-12445.
- Hickox JR, Bi M, Hardy DM. Heterogeneous processing and zona pellucida binding activity of pig zonadhesin. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:41502-41509.

- Topfer-Petersen E, Cechova D. Zona pellucida induces conversion of proacrosin to acrosin. Int J Androl 1990; 13:190-196.
- Jones R, Brown CR. Identification of a zona-binding protein from boar spermatozoa as proacrosin. Exp Cell Res 1987; 171:503-508.
- 90. Topfer-Petersen E, Henschen A. Zona pellucida-binding and fucose-binding of boar sperm acrosin is not correlated with proteolytic activity. Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler 1988; 369:69-76.
- 91. Urch UA, Patel H. The interaction of boar sperm proacrosin with its natural substrate, the zona pellucida, and with polysulfated polysaccharides.
 Development 1991; 111:1165-1172.
- 92. Hyne RV, Garbers DL. Calcium-dependent increase in adenosine 3',5'monophosphate and induction of the acrosome reaction in guinea pig spermatozoa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1979; 76:5699-5703.
- 93. Domino SE, Bocckino SB, Garbers DL. Activation of phospholipase D by the fucose-sulfate glycoconjugate that induces an acrosome reaction in spermatozoa.
 J Biol Chem 1989; 264:9412-9419.
- 94. Ward CR, Storey BT, Kopf GS. Selective activation of Gi1 and Gi2 in mouse sperm by the zona pellucida, the egg's extracellular matrix. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:13254-13258.
- Roldan ER. Role of phospholipases during sperm acrosomal exocytosis. Front Biosci 1998; 3:D1109-1119.
- 96. Doherty CM, Tarchala SM, Radwanska E, De Jonge CJ. Characterization of two second messenger pathways and their interactions in eliciting the human sperm

acrosome reaction. J Androl 1995; 16:36-46.

- 97. Fukami K, Nakao K, Inoue T, Kataoka Y, Kurokawa M, Fissore RA, Nakamura K, Katsuki M, Mikoshiba K, Yoshida N, Takenawa T. Requirement of phospholipase Cdelta4 for the zona pellucida-induced acrosome reaction. Science 2001; 292:920-923.
- 98. Jungnickel MK, Sutton KA, Wang Y, Florman HM. Phosphoinositide-dependent pathways in mouse sperm are regulated by egg ZP3 and drive the acrosome reaction. Dev Biol 2007; 304:116-126.
- 99. Primakoff P, Hyatt H, Tredick-Kline J. Identification and purification of a sperm surface protein with a potential role in sperm-egg membrane fusion. J Cell Biol 1987; 104:141-149.
- 100. Waters SI, White JM. Biochemical and molecular characterization of bovine fertilin alpha and beta (ADAM 1 and ADAM 2): a candidate sperm-egg binding/fusion complex. Biol Reprod 1997; 56:1245-1254.
- 101. Cho C, Bunch D, Faure J, Goulding E, Eddy E, Primakoff P, Myles D.
 Fertilization defects in sperm from mice lacking fertilin beta. Science 1998; Sep 18, 281:1857-1859.
- 102. Blobel C, Wolfsberg T, Turck C, Myles D, Primakoff P, White J. A potential fusion peptide and an integrin ligand domain in a protein active in sperm-egg fusion. Nature 1992; 356:248-252.
- 103. Lum L, Blobel CP. Evidence for distinct serine protease activities with a potential role in processing the sperm protein fertilin. Dev Biol 1997; 191:131-145.

- 104. Wolfsberg TG, Straight PD, Gerena RL, Huovila AP, Primakoff P, Myles DG, White JM. ADAM, a widely distributed and developmentally regulated gene family encoding membrane proteins with a disintegrin and metalloprotease domain. Dev Biol 1995; 169:378-383.
- 105. Perry AC, Gichuhi PM, Jones R, Hall L. Cloning and analysis of monkey fertilin reveals novel alpha subunit isoforms. Biochem J 1995; 307 (Pt 3):843-850.
- Hardy CM, Holland MK. Cloning and expression of recombinant rabbit fertilin. Mol Reprod Dev 1996; 45:107-116.
- Jury JA, Frayne J, Hall L. The human fertilin alpha gene is non-functional: implications for its proposed role in fertilization. Biochem J 1997; 321 (Pt 3):577-581.
- 108. Barker HL, Perry AC, Jones R, Hall L. Sequence and expression of a monkey testicular transcript encoding tMDC I, a novel member of the metalloproteinaselike, disintegrin-like, cysteine-rich (MDC) protein family. Biochim Biophys Acta 1994; 1218:429-431.
- 109. Heinlein UAO, Wallat S, Senftleben A, Lemaire L. Male germ cell-expressed mosue gene TAZ83 encodes a putative, cysteine-rich transmembrane protein (cyritestin) sharing homologies with snake toxins and sperm-egg fusion proteins. Dev Growth Differ 1996; 36:49-58.
- Evans JP. The molecular basis of sperm-oocyte membrane interactions during mammalian fertilization. Hum Reprod Update 2002; 8:297-311.
- 111. Gould RJ, Polokoff MA, Friedman PA, Huang TF, Holt JC, Cook JJ,Niewiarowski S. Disintegrins: a family of integrin inhibitory proteins from viper

venoms. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1990; 195:168-171.

- 112. McLane MA, Marcinkiewicz C, Vijay-Kumar S, Wierzbicka-Patynowski I, Niewiarowski S. Viper venom disintegrins and related molecules. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1998; 219:109-119.
- Primakoff P, Myles DG. The ADAM gene family: surface proteins with adhesion and protease activity. Trends Genet 2000; 16:83-87.
- 114. White KL, Passipieri M, Bunch TD, Campbell KD, Pate B. Effects of arginineglycine-aspartic acid (RGD) containing snake venom peptides on parthenogenetic development and in vitro fertilization of bovine oocytes. Mol Reprod Dev 2007; 74:88-96.
- 115. Hardy CM, Clarke HG, Nixon B, Grigg JA, Hinds LA, Holland MK. Examination of the immunocontraceptive potential of recombinant rabbit fertilin subunits in rabbit. Biol Reprod 1997; 57:879-886.
- 116. Yuan R, Primakoff P, Myles DG. A role for the disintegrin domain of cyritestin, a sperm surface protein belonging to the ADAM family, in mouse sperm-egg plasma membrane adhesion and fusion. J Cell Biol 1997; 137:105-112.
- 117. Evans JP, Kopf GS, Schultz RM. Characterization of the binding of recombinant mouse sperm fertilin beta subunit to mouse eggs: evidence for adhesive activity via an egg beta1 integrin-mediated interaction. Dev Biol 1997; 187:79-93.
- 118. Bigler D, Takahashi Y, Chen M, Almeida E, Osbourne L, White J. Sequencespecific interaction between the disintegrin domain of mouse ADAM 2 (fertilin beta) and murine eggs. Role of the alpha(6) integrin subunit. J Biol Chem 2000; 275:11576-11584.

- 119. Takahashi Y, Bigler D, Ito Y, White J. Sequence-specific interaction between the disintegrin domain of mouse ADAM 3 and murine eggs: role of beta1 integrinassociated proteins CD9, CD81, and CD98. Mol Biol Cell 2001; 12:809-820.
- 120. Wong GE, Zhu X, Prater CE, Oh E, Evans JP. Analysis of fertilin alpha (ADAM1)-mediated sperm-egg cell adhesion during fertilization and identification of an adhesion-mediating sequence in the disintegrin-like domain. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:24937-24945.
- 121. Eto K, Huet C, Tarui T, Kupriyanov S, Liu HZ, Puzon-McLaughlin W, Zhang XP, Sheppard D, Engvall E, Takada Y. Functional classification of ADAMs based on a conserved motif for binding to integrin alpha 9beta 1: implications for sperm-egg binding and other cell interactions. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:17804-17810.
- 122. Zhu X, Evans JP. Analysis of the roles of RGD-binding integrins, alpha(4)/alpha(9) integrins, alpha(6) integrins, and CD9 in the interaction of the fertilin beta (ADAM2) disintegrin domain with the mouse egg membrane. Biol Reprod 2002; 66:1193-1202.
- 123. Almeida E, Huovila A, Sutherland A, Stephens L, Calarco P, Shaw L, Mercurio A, Sonnenberg A, Primakoff P, Myles D. Mouse egg integrin alpha 6 beta 1 functions as a sperm receptor. Cell 1995; 81:1095-1104.
- Evans JP, Schultz RM, Kopf GS. Identification and localization of integrin subunits in oocytes and eggs of the mouse. Mol Reprod Dev 1995; 40:211-220.
- Gupta S, Li H, Sampson NS. Characterization of fertilin beta-disintegrin binding specificity in sperm-egg adhesion. Bioorg Med Chem 2000; 8:723-729.

- 126. Zhu X, Bansal NP, Evans JP. Identification of key functional amino acids of the mouse fertilin beta (ADAM2) disintegrin loop for cell-cell adhesion during fertilization. J Biol Chem 2000; 275:7677-7683.
- 127. McLaughlin EA, Frayne J, Bloomerg G, Hall L. Do fertilin beta and cyritestin play a major role in mammalian sperm--oolemma interactions? A critical reevaluation of the use of peptide mimics in identifying specific oocyte recognition protiens. Mol Hum Reprod 2001; 7:313-317.
- 128. Myles DG, Kimmel LH, Blobel CP, White JM, Primakoff P. Identification of a binding site in the disintegrin domain of fertilin required for sperm-egg fusion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994; 91:4195-4198.
- 129. Cho C, Ge H, Branciforte D, Primakoff P, Myles DG. Analysis of mouse fertilin in wild-type and fertilin beta(-/-) sperm: evidence for C-terminal modification, alpha/beta dimerization, and lack of essential role of fertilin alpha in sperm-egg fusion. Dev Biol 2000; 222:289-295.
- Nishimura H, Cho C, Branciforte DR, Myles DG, Primakoff P. Analysis of loss of adhesive function in sperm lacking cyritestin or fertilin beta. Dev Biol 2001; 233:204-213.
- 131. Stein KK, Go JC, Primakoff P, Myles DG. Defects in secretory pathway trafficking during sperm development in Adam2 knockout mice. Biol Reprod 2005; 73:1032-1038.
- Kim E, Yamashita M, Nakanishi T, Park KE, Kimura M, Kashiwabara S, Baba T. Mouse sperm lacking ADAM1b/ADAM2 fertilin can fuse with the egg plasma membrane and effect fertilization. J Biol Chem 2006; 281:5634-5639.

- Han C, Choi E, Park I, Lee B, Jin S, Kim do H, Nishimura H, Cho C.
 Comprehensive analysis of reproductive ADAMs: relationship of ADAM4 and
 ADAM6 with an ADAM complex required for fertilization in mice. Biol Reprod
 2009; 80:1001-1008.
- Sutovsky P. Sperm-egg adhesion and fusion in mammals. Expert Rev Mol Med 2009; 11:e11.
- 135. Cohen DJ, Da Ros VG, Busso D, Ellerman DA, Maldera JA, Goldweic N, Cuasnicu PS. Participation of epididymal cysteine-rich secretory proteins in sperm-egg fusion and their potential use for male fertility regulation. Asian J Androl 2007; 9:528-532.
- 136. Cohen DJ, Maldera JA, Vasen G, Ernesto JI, Munoz MW, Battistone MA, Cuasnicu PS. Epididymal protein CRISP1 plays different roles during the fertilization process. J Androl 2011; 32:672-678.
- 137. Da Ros VG, Maldera JA, Willis WD, Cohen DJ, Goulding EH, Gelman DM,
 Rubinstein M, Eddy EM, Cuasnicu PS. Impaired sperm fertilizing ability in mice
 lacking Cysteine-RIch Secretory Protein 1 (CRISP1). Dev Biol 2008; 320:12-18.
- 138. Ellerman DA, Ha C, Primakoff P, Myles DG, Dveksler GS. Direct binding of the ligand PSG17 to CD9 requires a CD9 site essential for sperm-egg fusion. Mol Biol Cell 2003; 14:5098-5103.
- Busso D, Cohen DJ, Maldera JA, Dematteis A, Cuasnicu PS. A novel function for CRISP1 in rodent fertilization: involvement in sperm-zona pellucida interaction. Biol Reprod 2007; 77:848-854.
- 140. Busso D, Goldweic NM, Hayashi M, Kasahara M, Cuasnicu PS. Evidence for the

involvement of testicular protein CRISP2 in mouse sperm-egg fusion. Biol Reprod 2007; 76:701-708.

- 141. Ellerman DA, Pei J, Gupta S, Snell WJ, Myles D, Primakoff P. Izumo is part of a multiprotein family whose members form large complexes on mammalian sperm.
 Mol Reprod Dev 2009; 76:1188-1199.
- Aricescu AR, Jones EY. Immunoglobulin superfamily cell adhesion molecules: zippers and signals. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2007; 19:543-550.
- 143. Inoue N, Ikawa M, Isotani A, Okabe M. The immunoglobulin superfamily protein Izumo is required for sperm to fuse with eggs. Nature 2005; 434:234-238.
- 144. Wu AT, Sutovsky P, Manandhar G, Xu W, Katayama M, Day BN, Park KW, Yi YJ, Xi YW, Prather RS, Oko R. PAWP, a sperm-specific WW domain-binding protein, promotes meiotic resumption and pronuclear development during fertilization. J Biol Chem 2007; 282:12164-12175.
- 145. Aarabi M, Qin Z, Xu W, Mewburn J, Oko R. Sperm-borne protein, PAWP, initiates zygotic development in Xenopus laevis by eliciting intracellular calcium release. Mol Reprod Dev 2010; 77:249-256.
- Bowen J, Hunt J. The role of integrins in reproduction. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 2000; Apr;223:331-343.
- 147. Guan JL. Role of focal adhesion kinase in integrin signaling. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1997; 29:1085-1096.
- Longhurst CM, Jennings LK. Integrin-mediated signal transduction. Cell Mol Life Sci 1998; 54:514-526.
- 149. Schwartz MA, Schaller MD, Ginsberg MH. Integrins: emerging paradigms of

signal transduction. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 1995; 11:549-599.

- 150. Chen MS, Tung KS, Coonrod SA, Takahashi Y, Bigler D, Chang A, Yamashita Y, Kincade PW, Herr JC, White JM. Role of the integrin-associated protein CD9 in binding between sperm ADAM 2 and the egg integrin alpha6beta1: implications for murine fertilization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96:11830-11835.
- Romer LH, Birukov KG, Garcia JG. Focal adhesions: paradigm for a signaling nexus. Circ Res 2006; 98:606-616.
- 152. Fusi FM, Vignali M, Gailit J, Bronson RA. Mammalian oocytes exhibit specific recognition of the RGD (Arg-Gly-Asp) tripeptide and express oolemmal integrins. Mol Reprod Dev 1993; 36:212-219.
- 153. Fusi FM, Vignali M, Busacca M, Bronson RA. Evidence for the presence of an integrin cell adhesion receptor on the oolemma of unfertilized human oocytes.
 Mol Reprod Dev 1992; 31:215-222.
- 154. Tarone G, Russo MA, Hirsch E, Odorisio T, Altruda F, Silengo L, Siracusa G. Expression of beta 1 integrin complexes on the surface of unfertilized mouse oocyte. Development 1993; 117:1369-1375.
- 155. Anderson DJ, Abbott AF, Jack RM. The role of complement component C3b and its receptors in sperm-oocyte interaction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993;
 90:10051-10055.
- 156. de Nadai C, Fenichel P, Donzeau M, Epel D, Ciapa B. Characterisation and role of integrins during gametic interaction and egg activation. Zygote 1996; 4:31-40.
- 157. Linfor J, Berger T. Potential role of alphav and beta1 integrins as oocyte

adhesion molecules during fertilization in pigs. J Reprod Fertil 2000; 120:65-72.

- Neilson L, Andalibi A, Kang D, Coutifaris C, Strauss JF, 3rd, Stanton JA, Green DP. Molecular phenotype of the human oocyte by PCR-SAGE. Genomics 2000; 63:13-24.
- Stanton JL, Green DP. A set of 840 mouse oocyte genes with well-matched human homologues. Mol Hum Reprod 2001; 7:521-543.
- Bronson R, Fusi F. Evidence that an Arg-Gly-Asp adhesion sequence plays a role in mammalian fertilization. Biol Reprod 1990; 43:1019-1025.
- Ji YZ, Wolf JP, Jouannet P, Bomsel M. Human gamete fusion can bypass beta1 integrin requirement. Hum Reprod 1998; 13:682-689.
- 162. Tatone C, Carbone MC. Possible involvement of integrin-mediated signalling in oocyte activation: evidence that a cyclic RGD-containing peptide can stimulate protein kinase C and cortical granule exocytosis in mouse oocytes. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2006; 4:48.
- 163. Vjugina U, Zhu X, Oh E, Bracero NJ, Evans JP. Reduction of mouse egg surface integrin alpha9 subunit (ITGA9) reduces the egg's ability to support sperm-egg binding and fusion. Biol Reprod 2009; 80:833-841.
- 164. Campbell K, Reed W, White K. Ability of integrins to mediate fertilization, intracellular calcium release, and parthenogenetic development in bovine oocytes. Biol Reprod 2000; 62:1702-1709.
- Iwao Y, Fujimura T. Activation of Xenopus eggs by RGD-containing peptides accompanied by intracellular Ca2+ release. Dev Biol 1996; 177:558-567.
- 166. Lefevre B, Wolf JP, Ziyyat A. Sperm-egg interaction: is there a link between

tetraspanin(s) and GPI-anchored protein(s)? Bioessays 2010; 32:143-152.

- 167. Coonrod SA, Naaby-Hansen S, Shetty J, Shibahara H, Chen M, White JM, Herr JC. Treatment of mouse oocytes with PI-PLC releases 70-kDa (pI 5) and 35- to 45-kDa (pI 5.5) protein clusters from the egg surface and inhibits sperm-oolemma binding and fusion. Dev Biol 1999; 207:334-349.
- 168. Alfieri JA, Martin AD, Takeda J, Kondoh G, Myles DG, Primakoff P. Infertility in female mice with an oocyte-specific knockout of GPI-anchored proteins. J Cell Sci 2003; 116:2149-2155.
- 169. Hemler ME, Mannion BA, Berditchevski F. Association of TM4SF proteins with integrins: relevance to cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996; 1287:67-71.
- Maecker HT, Todd SC, Levy S. The tetraspanin superfamily: molecular facilitators. Faseb J 1997; 11:428-442.
- 171. Berditchevski F. Complexes of tetraspanins with integrins: more than meets the eye. J Cell Sci 2001; 114:4143-4151.
- 172. Kaji K, Oda S, Shikano T, Ohnuki T, Uematsu Y, Sakagami J, Tada N, Miyazaki S, Kudo A. The gamete fusion process is defective in eggs of Cd9-deficient mice. Nat Genet 2000; 24:279-282.
- 173. Miyado K, Yamada G, Yamada S, Hasuwa H, Nakamura Y, Ryu F, Suzuki K, Kosai K, Inoue K, Ogura A, Okabe M, Mekada E. Requirement of CD9 on the egg plasma membrane for fertilization. Science 2000; 287:321-324.
- 174. Le Naour F, Rubinstein E, Jasmin C, Prenant M, Boucheix C. Severely reduced female fertility in CD9-deficient mice. Science 2000; 287:319-321.
- 175. Chen H, Sampson N. Mediation of sperm-egg fusion: evidence that mouse egg

alpha6beta1 integrin is the receptor for sperm fertilinbeta. Chem Biol 1999; 6:1-10.

- 176. Miyado K, Yoshida K, Yamagata K, Sakakibara K, Okabe M, Wang X, Miyamoto K, Akutsu H, Kondo T, Takahashi Y, Ban T, Ito C, et al. The fusing ability of sperm is bestowed by CD9-containing vesicles released from eggs in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008; 105:12921-12926.
- 177. Toshimori K. Dynamics of the mammalian sperm membrane modification
 leading to fertilization: a cytological study. J Electron Microsc 2011; 60 Suppl
 1:S31-42.
- 178. Ohnami N, Nakamura A, Miyado M, Sato M, Kawano N, Yoshida K, Harada Y, Takezawa Y, Kanai S, Ono C, Takahashi Y, Kimura K, et al. CD81 and CD9 work independently as extracellular components upon fusion of sperm and oocyte. Biology Open 2012.
- 179. Rubinstein E, Ziyyat A, Prenant M, Wrobel E, Wolf JP, Levy S, Le Naour F,
 Boucheix C. Reduced fertility of female mice lacking CD81. Dev Biol 2006;
 290:351-358.
- Evans JP. Sperm disintegrins, egg integrins, and other cell adhesion molecules of mammalian gamete plasma membrane interactions. Front Biosci 1999; 4:D114-131.
- 181. Snell WJ, White JM. The molecules of mammalian fertilization. Cell 1996; 85:629-637.
- Runft LL, Jaffe LA, Mehlmann LM. Egg activation at fertilization: where it all begins. Dev Biol 2002; 245:237-254.

- 183. Harburger DS, Calderwood DA. Integrin signalling at a glance. J Cell Sci 2009; 122:159-163.
- Giannone G, Sheetz MP. Substrate rigidity and force define form through tyrosine phosphatase and kinase pathways. Trends Cell Biol 2006; 16:213-223.
- Ginsberg MH, Partridge A, Shattil SJ. Integrin regulation. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2005; 17:509-516.
- 186. Arias-Salgado EG, Lizano S, Sarkar S, Brugge JS, Ginsberg MH, Shattil SJ. Src kinase activation by direct interaction with the integrin beta cytoplasmic domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003; 100:13298-13302.
- Reddy KB, Smith DM, Plow EF. Analysis of Fyn function in hemostasis and alphaIIbbeta3-integrin signaling. J Cell Sci 2008; 121:1641-1648.
- McGinnis LK, Carroll DJ, Kinsey WH. Protein tyrosine kinase signaling during oocyte maturation and fertilization. Mol Reprod Dev 2011; 78:831-845.
- Thomas SM, Brugge JS. Cellular functions regulated by Src family kinases.
 Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 1997; 13:513-609.
- 190. Engen JR, Wales TE, Hochrein JM, Meyn MA, 3rd, Banu Ozkan S, Bahar I, Smithgall TE. Structure and dynamic regulation of Src-family kinases. Cell Mol Life Sci; 65:3058-3073.
- 191. Lowell CA, Niwa M, Soriano P, Varmus HE. Deficiency of the Hck and Src tyrosine kinases results in extreme levels of extramedullary hematopoiesis. Blood 1996; 87:1780-1792.
- 192. Weng Z, Thomas SM, Rickles RJ, Taylor JA, Brauer AW, Seidel-Dugan C,Michael WM, Dreyfuss G, Brugge JS. Identification of Src, Fyn, and Lyn SH3-

binding proteins: implications for a function of SH3 domains. Mol Cell Biol 1994; 14:4509-4521.

- 193. Briggs SD, Bryant SS, Jove R, Sanderson SD, Smithgall TE. The Ras GTPaseactivating protein (GAP) is an SH3 domain-binding protein and substrate for the Src-related tyrosine kinase, Hck. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:14718-14724.
- 194. Murphy SM, Bergman M, Morgan DO. Suppression of c-Src activity by Cterminal Src kinase involves the c-Src SH2 and SH3 domains: analysis with Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol 1993; 13:5290-5300.
- 195. Okada M, Howell BW, Broome MA, Cooper JA. Deletion of the SH3 domain of Src interferes with regulation by the phosphorylated carboxyl-terminal tyrosine. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:18070-18075.
- 196. Briggs SD, Sharkey M, Stevenson M, Smithgall TE. SH3-mediated Hck tyrosine kinase activation and fibroblast transformation by the Nef protein of HIV-1. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:17899-17902.
- Kinsey WH. Biphasic activation of Fyn kinase upon fertilization of the sea urchin egg. Dev Biol 1996; 174:281-287.
- 198. Sato K, Aoto M, Mori K, Akasofu S, Tokmakov AA, Sahara S, Fukami Y. Purification and characterization of a Src-related p57 protein-tyrosine kinase from Xenopus oocytes. Isolation of an inactive form of the enzyme and its activation and translocation upon fertilization. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:13250-13257.
- 199. Sato K, Iwao Y, Fujimura T, Tamaki I, Ogawa K, Iwasaki T, Tokmakov AA,Hatano O, Fukami Y. Evidence for the involvement of a Src-related tyrosine

kinase in Xenopus egg activation. Dev Biol 1999; 209:308-320.

- 200. Wu W, Kinsey WH. Fertilization triggers activation of Fyn kinase in the zebrafish egg. Int J Dev Biol 2000; 44:837-841.
- 201. Giusti AF, O'Neill FJ, Yamasu K, Foltz KR, Jaffe LA. Function of a sea urchin egg Src family kinase in initiating Ca2+ release at fertilization. Dev Biol 2003; 256:367-378.
- 202. Townley IK, Schuyler E, Parker-Gur M, Foltz KR. Expression of multiple Src family kinases in sea urchin eggs and their function in Ca2+ release at fertilization. Dev Biol 2009; 327:465-477.
- 203. Carroll M, Ohno-Jones S, Tamura S, Buchdunger E, Zimmermann J, Lydon NB, Gilliland DG, Druker BJ. CGP 57148, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor, inhibits the growth of cells expressing BCR-ABL, TEL-ABL, and TEL-PDGFR fusion proteins. Blood 1997; 90:4947-4952.
- 204. Shearer J, De Nadai C, Emily-Fenouil F, Gache C, Whitaker M, Ciapa B. Role of phospholipase Cgamma at fertilization and during mitosis in sea urchin eggs and embryos. Development 1999; 126:2273-2284.
- 205. Mehlmann LM, Jaffe LA. SH2 domain-mediated activation of an SRC family kinase is not required to initiate Ca2+ release at fertilization in mouse eggs. Reproduction 2005; 129:557-564.
- 206. Sette C, Paronetto MP, Barchi M, Bevilacqua A, Geremia R, Rossi P. Tr-kitinduced resumption of the cell cycle in mouse eggs requires activation of a Srclike kinase. The EMBO journal 2002; 21:5386-5395.
- 207. Talmor A, Kinsey WH, Shalgi R. Expression and immunolocalization of p59c-

fyn tyrosine kinase in rat eggs. Dev Biol 1998; 194:38-46.

- 208. Moore KL, Kinsey WH. Identification of an abl-related protein tyrosine kinase in the cortex of the sea urchin egg: possible role at fertilization. Dev Biol 1994; 164:444-455.
- 209. Tsai WB, Zhang X, Sharma D, Wu W, Kinsey WH. Role of Yes kinase during early zebrafish development. Dev Biol 2005; 277:129-141.
- 210. Mitra SK, Hanson DA, Schlaepfer DD. Focal adhesion kinase: in command and control of cell motility. Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology 2005; 6:56-68.
- 211. Sharma D, Kinsey WH. Regionalized calcium signaling in zebrafish fertilization.Int J Dev Biol 2008; 52:561-570.
- 212. Connolly TM, Lawing WJ, Jr., Majerus PW. Protein kinase C phosphorylates human platelet inositol trisphosphate 5'-phosphomonoesterase, increasing the phosphatase activity. Cell 1986; 46:951-958.
- Singer WD, Brown HA, Sternweis PC. Regulation of eukaryotic phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C and phospholipase D. Annu Rev Biochem 1997; 66:475-509.
- 214. Rhee SG. Regulation of phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C. Annu Rev Biochem 2001; 70:281-312.
- 215. Byrne RD, Barona TM, Garnier M, Koster G, Katan M, Poccia DL, Larijani B. Nuclear envelope assembly is promoted by phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C with selective recruitment of phosphatidylinositol-enriched membranes. Biochem J 2005; 387:393-400.
- 216. Nakamura Y, Fukami K. Roles of phospholipase C isozymes in organogenesis

and embryonic development. Physiology 2009; 24:332-341.

- 217. Suh PG, Park JI, Manzoli L, Cocco L, Peak JC, Katan M, Fukami K, Kataoka T, Yun S, Ryu SH. Multiple roles of phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C isozymes. BMB reports 2008; 41:415-434.
- Igarashi H, Knott JG, Schultz RM, Williams CJ. Alterations of PLCbeta1 in mouse eggs change calcium oscillatory behavior following fertilization. Dev Biol 2007; 312:321-330.
- 219. Stallings JD, Zeng YX, Narvaez F, Rebecchi MJ. Phospholipase C-delta1 expression is linked to proliferation, DNA synthesis, and cyclin E levels. J Biol Chem 2008; 283:13992-14001.
- 220. Fu L, Qin YR, Xie D, Hu L, Kwong DL, Srivastava G, Tsao SW, Guan XY. Characterization of a novel tumor-suppressor gene PLC delta 1 at 3p22 in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res 2007; 67:10720-10726.
- 221. Nakamura Y, Hamada Y, Fujiwara T, Enomoto H, Hiroe T, Tanaka S, Nose M, Nakahara M, Yoshida N, Takenawa T, Fukami K. Phospholipase C-delta1 and delta3 are essential in the trophoblast for placental development. Mol Cell Biol 2005; 25:10979-10988.
- 222. James SR, Paterson A, Harden TK, Downes CP. Kinetic analysis of phospholipase C beta isoforms using phospholipid-detergent mixed micelles.
 Evidence for interfacial catalysis involving distinct micelle binding and catalytic steps. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:11872-11881.
- 223. Lopez-Gonzalez I, De La Vega-Beltran JL, Santi CM, Florman HM, Felix R,Darszon A. Calmodulin antagonists inhibit T-type Ca(2+) currents in mouse

spermatogenic cells and the zona pellucida-induced sperm acrosome reaction. Dev Biol 2001; 236:210-219.

- 224. Breitbart H. Intracellular calcium regulation in sperm capacitation and acrosomal reaction. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2002; 187:139-144.
- 225. Fukami K, Yoshida M, Inoue T, Kurokawa M, Fissore RA, Yoshida N,
 Mikoshiba K, Takenawa T. Phospholipase Cdelta4 is required for Ca2+
 mobilization essential for acrosome reaction in sperm. J Cell Biol 2003; 161:7988.
- Song C, Hu CD, Masago M, Kariyai K, Yamawaki-Kataoka Y, Shibatohge M,
 Wu D, Satoh T, Kataoka T. Regulation of a novel human phospholipase C,
 PLCepsilon, through membrane targeting by Ras. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:2752-2757.
- Bunney TD, Katan M. Phospholipase C epsilon: linking second messengers and small GTPases. Trends Cell Biol 2006; 16:640-648.
- 228. Jin TG, Satoh T, Liao Y, Song C, Gao X, Kariya K, Hu CD, Kataoka T. Role of the CDC25 homology domain of phospholipase Cepsilon in amplification of Rap1-dependent signaling. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:30301-30307.
- 229. Tadano M, Edamatsu H, Minamisawa S, Yokoyama U, Ishikawa Y, Suzuki N, Saito H, Wu D, Masago-Toda M, Yamawaki-Kataoka Y, Setsu T, Terashima T, et al. Congenital semilunar valvulogenesis defect in mice deficient in phospholipase C epsilon. Mol Cell Biol 2005; 25:2191-2199.
- Hwang JI, Oh YS, Shin KJ, Kim H, Ryu SH, Suh PG. Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel phospholipase C, PLC-eta. Biochem J 2005; 389:181-

186.

- 231. Hinkes B, Wiggins RC, Gbadegesin R, Vlangos CN, Seelow D, Nurnberg G, Garg P, Verma R, Chaib H, Hoskins BE, Ashraf S, Becker C, et al. Positional cloning uncovers mutations in PLCE1 responsible for a nephrotic syndrome variant that may be reversible. Nat Genet 2006; 38:1397-1405.
- 232. Vazquez-Manrique RP, Nagy AI, Legg JC, Bales OA, Ly S, Baylis HA. Phospholipase C-epsilon regulates epidermal morphogenesis in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLoS Genet 2008; 4:e1000043.
- 233. Bai Y, Edamatsu H, Maeda S, Saito H, Suzuki N, Satoh T, Kataoka T. Crucial role of phospholipase Cepsilon in chemical carcinogen-induced skin tumor development. Cancer Res 2004; 64:8808-8810.
- 234. Ikuta S, Edamatsu H, Li M, Hu L, Kataoka T. Crucial role of phospholipase C epsilon in skin inflammation induced by tumor-promoting phorbol ester. Cancer Res 2008; 68:64-72.
- Zhou Y, Wing MR, Sondek J, Harden TK. Molecular cloning and characterization of PLC-eta2. Biochem J 2005; 391:667-676.
- 236. Nakahara M, Shimozawa M, Nakamura Y, Irino Y, Morita M, Kudo Y, Fukami
 K. A novel phospholipase C, PLC(eta)2, is a neuron-specific isozyme. J Biol
 Chem 2005; 280:29128-29134.
- 237. Saunders CM, Larman MG, Parrington J, Cox LJ, Royse J, Blayney LM, Swann K, Lai FA. PLC zeta: a sperm-specific trigger of Ca(2+) oscillations in eggs and embryo development. Development 2002; 129:3533-3544.
- 238. Yoda A, Oda S, Shikano T, Kouchi Z, Awaji T, Shirakawa H, Kinoshita K,
Miyazaki S. Ca2+ oscillation-inducing phospholipase C zeta expressed in mouse eggs is accumulated to the pronucleus during egg activation. Dev Biol 2004; 268:245-257.

- 239. Knott JG, Kurokawa M, Fissore RA, Schultz RM, Williams CJ. Transgenic RNA interference reveals role for mouse sperm phospholipase Czeta in triggering Ca2+ oscillations during fertilization. Biol Reprod 2005; 72:992-996.
- 240. Yoon SY, Jellerette T, Salicioni AM, Lee HC, Yoo MS, Coward K, Parrington J, Grow D, Cibelli JB, Visconti PE, Mager J, Fissore RA. Human sperm devoid of PLC, zeta 1 fail to induce Ca(2+) release and are unable to initiate the first step of embryo development. J Clin Invest 2008; 118:3671-3681.
- 241. Heytens E, Parrington J, Coward K, Young C, Lambrecht S, Yoon SY, Fissore RA, Hamer R, Deane CM, Ruas M, Grasa P, Soleimani R, et al. Reduced amounts and abnormal forms of phospholipase C zeta (PLCzeta) in spermatozoa from infertile men. Hum Reprod 2009; 24:2417-2428.
- 242. Aarabi M, Yu Y, Xu W, Tse MY, Pang SC, Yi Y-J, Sutovsky P, Oko R. The testicular and epididymal expression profile of PLCzeta in mouse and human does not support its role as a sperm-borne oocyte activating factor. PloS One 2012; 7:e33496.
- 243. Sutovsky P, Manandhar G, Wu A, Oko R. Interactions of sperm perinuclear theca with the oocyte: implications for oocyte activation, anti-polyspermy defense, and assisted reproduction. Microsc Res Tech 2003; 61:362-378.
- 244. Yoshida N, Amanai M, Fukui T, Kajikawa E, Brahmajosyula M, Iwahori A, Nakano Y, Shoji S, Diebold J, Hessel H, Huss R, Perry AC. Broad, ectopic

expression of the sperm protein PLCZ1 induces parthenogenesis and ovarian tumours in mice. Development 2007; 134:3941-3952.

- 245. Coward K, Ponting CP, Zhang N, Young C, Huang CJ, Chou CM, Kashir J, Fissore RA, Parrington J. Identification and functional analysis of an ovarian form of the egg activation factor phospholipase C zeta (PLCzeta) in pufferfish. Mol Reprod Dev 2011; 78:48-56.
- 246. Ito J, Parrington J, Fissore RA. PLCzeta and its role as a trigger of development in vertebrates. Mol Reprod Dev 2011; 78:846-853.
- 247. Kimura Y, Yanagimachi R, Kuretake S, Bortkiewicz H, Perry AC, Yanagimachi H. Analysis of mouse oocyte activation suggests the involvement of sperm perinuclear material. Biol Reprod 1998; 58:1407-1415.
- 248. Perry AC, Wakayama T, Cooke IM, Yanagimachi R. Mammalian oocyte activation by the synergistic action of discrete sperm head components: induction of calcium transients and involvement of proteolysis. Dev Biol 2000; 217:386-393.
- 249. Sutovsky P, Oko R, Hewitson L, Schatten G. The removal of the sperm perinuclear theca and its association with the bovine oocyte surface during fertilization. Dev Biol 1997; 188:75-84.
- 250. Fujimoto S, Yoshida N, Fukui T, Amanai M, Isobe T, Itagaki C, Izumi T, Perry AC. Mammalian phospholipase Czeta induces oocyte activation from the sperm perinuclear matrix. Dev Biol 2004; 274:370-383.
- 251. Young C, Grasa P, Coward K, Davis LC, Parrington J. Phospholipase C zeta undergoes dynamic changes in its pattern of localization in sperm during

capacitation and the acrosome reaction. Fertil Steril 2009; 91:2230-2242.

252. Grasa P, Coward K, Young C, Parrington J. The pattern of localization of the putative oocyte activation factor, phospholipase Czeta, in uncapacitated, capacitated, and ionophore-treated human spermatozoa. Hum Reprod 2008; 23:2513-2522.

CHAPTER 2

THE INVOLVEMENT OF INTEGRINS, IN PARTICULAR THE αV AND β1 SUBUNITS, ON THE BOVINE OOCYTE VITELLINE MEMBRANE IN BOVINE FERTILIZATION

Abstract

Integrins are heterodimers composed of two subunits, alpha (α) and beta (β), and facilitate cell migration and attachment to the extra-cellular matrix, mediate cell-cell adhesion, and act as two-way signaling molecules. Integrins located on the vitelline membrane of bovine oocytes have been implicated in mediating the sperm-oocyte interaction [164, 254] and the identity of the specific integrin subunits present on the bovine oocyte has also been determined ($\alpha V, \alpha 2, \alpha 4, \alpha 5, \alpha 6, \beta 1, \text{ and } \beta 3$) [255, 256]. Anti-integrin function blocking antibodies and immunofluorescence were utilized to reveal which specific integrin subunits are involved in mediating the sperm-oocyte interaction during bovine fertilization. Zona-free oocytes were pre-incubated with function blocking antibodies specific for the integrin subunits located on the vitelline membrane of bovine oocytes and subsequently fertilized and cultured in vitro according to our standard laboratory procedures [257]. The oocytes pre-incubated with the function blocking antibodies for the αV and $\beta 1$ subunits had significantly lower cleavage rates, pronuclei formation and oocytes exhibiting calcium transients (p < 0.05) compared to all other treatment groups. Immunofluorescence also confirmed the recruitment of αV and β 1 and not α 2, α 4, α 5, α 6, or β 3 integrin subunits to the site of spermatozoa binding in bovine oocytes in response to sperm binding to the vitelline membrane. However, despite the fact that the integrin α 5 subunit was not shown to aggregate in the oocyte

plasma membrane at the site of sperm binding, it was only localized to the equatorial segment of acrosome reacted sperm during membrane binding. These data are compelling evidence that the αV and $\beta 1$ integrin subunits are essential for fertilization in the bovine and could form the integrin heterodimer involved in the sperm-oocyte interaction.

Introduction

Fertilization is an essential step for all life and the process by which cells from two different parents combine to create unique offspring. In order for fertilization to occur, a single sperm cell must penetrate the oocyte, their DNA must combine, and a cascade of intracellular reactions must occur to initiate division and growth. The oocyte is surrounded by a protective structure called the zona pellucida (ZP). The sperm first binds to the ZP that initiates the acrosomal reaction and as a result releases hydrolases and other digestive enzymes that create a channel through the ZP for the sperm to enter. Once the sperm enters the perivitelline space it fuses with the oocyte plasma membrane and is engulfed by the oocyte.

Fusion of the gametes is marked by the resumption of meiosis, transient calcium $[Ca^{2^+}]$ oscillations, and expulsion of the second polar body. In all species studied thus far transient Ca^{2^+} release from intracellular stores is mandatory for resumption of the cell cycle [182]. Once these processes have occurred the oocyte is "activated" and becomes a developing zygote.

The factors responsible for fusion as well as activation of the oocyte have not been identified; however, several families of proteins have been implicated as possible players, and one such group is the integrin family. Integrins are heterodimeric transmembrane proteins composed of an alpha (α) and beta (β) subunit and are located on the vitelline membrane of mammalian oocytes [258]. Integrins facilitate cell-cell recognition and have been found to mediate oocyte activation in the bovine model [164].

Five α subunits ($\alpha 2$, $\alpha 4$, $\alpha 5$, $\alpha 6$, and αV) and two β subunits ($\beta 1$ and $\beta 3$) have been found on the bovine oocyte [255, 256]. It is possible that one or both subunits mediate the fusion and/or activation of the oocyte. Bovine sperm-oocyte interactions have been shown to involve integrins, in particular the αV , $\alpha 5$, $\beta 1$ and $\beta 3$ subunits and may be mediated through cell surface receptors that contain RGD recognition sequences [164]. The deactivation of subunits through the use of functional blocking antibodies has been used to study the importance of integrins in other species, and this study uses a similar approach to demonstrate the involvement of integrins in bovine fertilization.

Materials/Methods

Oocyte Collection and In Vitro Maturation (IVM)

All reagents were purchased from ICN Biomedicals Inc. (Irvine, CA) unless otherwise stated. All procedures were performed according to published methods routinely used in this laboratory [1]. Bovine oocytes were collected from a local abattoir (E.A. Miller, Hyrum, UT). Oocytes from follicles 3-8 mm in size were aspirated into 50-ml centrifuge tubes using an 18-gauge needle attached to a vacuum pump. Oocytes with uniform cytoplasm and intact multiple layers of cumulus cells were selected and washed with PB1+ (phosphate-buffered saline with Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ plus 5.55 mM glucose, 0.32 mM sodium pyruvate, 3 mg/ml BSA). Oocytes were transferred into 500 μ L of maturation medium, M199, containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Hyclone Laboratories, Logan, UT), 0.5 μ g/ml FSH (Sioux Biochemicals, Sioux City, IA), 5

 μ g/ml LH (Sioux Biochemicals), 100 units/ml penicillin (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY), and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin (Life Technologies) in four-well culture dishes (Nunc, Milwaukee, WI) and cultured at 39°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ and air for 18 h. After the maturation period, oocytes were vortexed for 4 min in a 15-ml conical centrifuge tube containing 1 ml PB1+ stock (without BSA) medium containing 10 mg/mL hyaluronidase to completely remove cumulus cells. After cumulus cell removal, zonae pellucidae were removed from the cumulus-free mature oocytes by incubation in 600 μ L drops of 0.33% pronase (Fluka, Milwaukee, WI) in PB1+ Stock on a shaker at 100 RPM for 15 minutes. Zona-free oocytes were collected from the drop, washed thoroughly in PB1+, and returned to 500 μ L of fresh maturation medium for 6 hours at 39°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ and air to recover.

In Vitro Fertilization

Oocytes were collected and matured according to methods previously described. Twenty-four-hour IVM bovine oocytes were subjected to our standard *in vitro* fertilization protocol [257]. Cryopreserved bovine semen (Hoffman AI, Logan, UT) was thawed and live sperm were separated by centrifugation on a 45%/90% layered Percoll gradient. Sperm was capacitated with heparin and acrosome reacted with lysophosphatidylcholine according to published procedures [259]. Treatment groups included a 2-hour incubation prior to fertilization with no antibody, and either the $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 4$, $\alpha 5$, $\alpha 6$, αV , $\beta 1$, and $\beta 3$ function blocking antibodies at a concentration of 5 µg/ml. Zona free *in vitro* for 18-20 h at 39°C in 5% CO₂ and air. After the fertilization period, oocytes were vortexed for 2 minutes 40 seconds in a 15-ml conical centrifuge tube containing 1 ml PB1+ medium to completely remove unbound sperm. Presumptive embryos were co-cultured on a monolayer of bovine cumulus cells in CR1aa medium containing 3% FBS at 39°C in 5% CO₂ and cleavage was determined 24 hours after removal of sperm.

Analysis of Pronuclei Formation

Bovine oocytes were fertilized *in vitro* according to protocols described above with the appropriate inhibitor and control. After 5 hours, unbound sperm were removed by vortexing vigorously for 2 minutes 40 seconds. Embryos were rinsed well through drops of PB1+ and stained in a solution of PB1+ containing 1 μ g/mL Hoechst 33342 for 20 minutes at 37°C. After staining, embryos were rinsed again through 8 drops of PB1+ and observed by fluorescence microscopy to evaluate pronuclear formation.

Calcium Indicator Fura-2 AM Loading

Oocytes were loaded with Ca^{2+} indicator by incubation in 2 µM Fura-2 AM ester (Molecular Probes Inc., Eugene, OR) and 0.02% Pluronic F-127 (Molecular Probes Inc.) in Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} free phosphate buffered saline (Hyclone Laboratories) containing 0.32 mM sodium pyruvate, 5.55 mM glucose, 3 mg/ml BSA, and 100 µM EGTA at 39°C in darkness for 45 minutes. After loading indicator, oocytes were washed extensively with PB1- (phosphate-buffered saline without Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} plus 5.55 mM glucose, 0.32 mM sodium pyruvate, 3 mg/ml BSA) and maintained in this solution at 39°C until use.

Measurement of intracellular Ca^{2+} transients

Fura-2 indicator was loaded, as described above, and Ca^{2+}_{i} levels were measured

after fertilization. Sperm were prepared as described above, after which a 50- μ L drop of Fert-talp containing PHE, heparin, and sperm was made in the center of a 35-mm dish (Beckton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ) and overlaid with mineral oil. Microinjected oocytes were visualized in groups of 8-10. The plate was placed in an incubator at 39°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ and air for 5 hours. At this point the dish was removed from the incubator and visualized over a 2-hour period to observe Ca²⁺ transients on an a Nikon Diaphot inverted microscope, coupled with a Hamamatsu ORCA-ER digital camera and analyzed on Metafluor Imaging Series 7.6 software (Universal Imaging Corp, Downingtown, PA).

Immunofluorescence

Oocytes were placed in PBS with 4% formaldehyde (fixative) for 30 minutes at 4°C, washed in PBS with 0.05% Tween 20 (PBST) for 30 minutes at room temperature, permeabilized in PBS with 1% Triton X-100 for 30 minutes at room temperature, and transferred to blocking buffer consisting of PBST with 1% BSA and incubated overnight at 4°C. Oocytes were incubated with the appropriate primary antibodies for 3 hours at 37°C, washed with PBST for 30 minutes at room temperature, incubated with the appropriate secondary antibodies for 2 hours at 37°C, washed with PBST for 30 minutes at 37°C, washed with PBST for 30 minutes at room temperature, incubated with the appropriate secondary antibodies for 2 hours at 37°C, washed with PBST for 30 minutes at room temperature, and oocytes were transferred to slides with drops of Vectashield Hard Set mounting medium containing DAPI and covered with a cover slip. All samples were viewed on a Zeiss Axioobserver equipped with a Vivatome module and an Axiocam MRm camera.

Statistical Analysis

Data were pooled from three replicates per group. Chi-square analysis was used to determine differences in cleavage, pronuclei formation, and intracellular calcium release. Unless otherwise noted, a probability of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Effect of Integrin Function Blocking Antibodies on Bovine In Vitro Fertilization

The results indicate the involvement and importance of the αV and $\beta 1$ integrin subunits in bovine fertilization. Compared with all other treatment groups, there was a significant reduction (p<0.05) in cleavage for the oocytes incubated with the αV or $\beta 1$ function blocking antibodies (Fig. 2-1). Blocking the $\alpha 4$, $\alpha 5$, and $\beta 3$ integrin subunits also resulted in a significant reduction in cleavage compared to the IVF control, but not to the extent of the αV or $\beta 1$ subunits (p<0.05).

Effect of Integrin Function Blocking Antibodies on Pronuclei Formation

Oocyte incubation with αV or $\beta 1$ function blocking antibodies resulted in a significant decrease (p<0.05) in pronuclei formation, consequently providing additional evidence that the αV and $\beta 1$ integrin subunits are involved in the fusion of sperm and oocyte in bovine fertilization (Fig. 2-2). The $\alpha 5$ and $\beta 3$ function blocking antibodies also resulted in a significant decrease (p<0.05) in pronuclei formation compared to the IVF control, but had less of an effect than the αV or $\beta 1$ function blocking antibodies.



FIG 2-1. Percent cleavage of IVF embryos treated with anti-integrin antibodies and incubated with sperm for 18 hrs. Values represent the mean (n=3) and unlike superscripts are statistically significant p<0.5.

Effect of Integrin Function Blocking Antibodies on Intracellular Calcium Release in Bovine Oocytes

Incubation of oocytes with anti-integrin αV and βI function blocking antibodies

during IVF also resulted in significantly lower numbers of oocytes (p<0.05) responding

with calcium transients compared to the IVF and control (Table 2-1).



FIG 2-2. Percentage of oocytes with two pronuclei after incubation with anti-integrin antibodies and incubated with sperm for 6 hrs. Values represent the mean (n=3) and unlike superscripts are statistically significant p<0.05.

	Number of occytes responding	
Treatment	with an intracellular calcium	Total number of oocytes
	release	
IVF control	36 (72.0 %)a	50
Alpha-2	$29 (69.0\%)^{ab}$	42
Alpha-6	27 (67.5%) ^{abc}	40
Alpha-4	$20 (50.0\%)^{bcd}$	40
Alpha-5	18 (46.2%) ^{cd}	39
Beta-3	$17(41.5\%)^{d}$	41
Beta-1	7 (21.2%) ^e	40
Alpha-V	8 (19.0%) ^e	42

Table 2-1. Percentage of oocytes responding with intracellular calcium transients after incubation with anti-integrin antibodies and incubated with sperm for 6 hrs. Values represent the mean (n=3) and unlike superscripts are statistically significant p<0.05.

Localization of Integrin subunits of αV and βI to Site of Spermatozoa Binding to Oocyte Vitelline Membrane

The localization of αV and $\beta 1$ integrin subunits on the vitelline membrane at the site of spermatozoa binding can be seen in Fig. 2-3A and 2-3B, respectively. Despite the fact that the integrin $\alpha 5$ subunit was not shown to aggregate in the oocyte plasma membrane at the site of sperm binding, it was localized to the equatorial segment of acrosome reacted sperm during membrane binding (Fig. 2-3C). All together these data are strong evidence that integrins are involved in bovine fertilization.



FIG 2-3. Fluorescent images of integrin subunits αV (3A) and $\beta 1$ (3B) at the level of the vitelline membrane localized to the site of spermatozoa binding and $\alpha 5$ (3C) only localized to the equatorial segment of spermatozoa.

Discussion

Integrins are a large family of heterodimeric cation-dependent transmembrane proteins composed of non-covalently linked α and β subunits. Each subunit contains a large N-terminal extracellular domain, a transmembrane domain, and a short C-terminal cytoplasmic domain. There are eighteen α and eight β subunits identified and these subunits combine to form 23 heterodimers. The major function of integrins is to mediate cell-to-cell interactions and cell-to-substratum attachment even though they may mediate a variety of other cellular functions [146]. In the mouse model, Baessler et al., illustrated that the β 1 integrin subunit is intimately involved with the initial adhesion of the spermatozoa to the oocyte plasma membrane in addition to mediating the subsequent attachment and fusion [260]. The involvement of the β 1 and α 9 integrin subunits in murine fertilization was also shown using RNA interference and function blocking antibodies [163]. Bovine sperm-oocyte interactions have been shown to involve integrins, in particular the α V, α 5, β 1 and β 3 subunits and may be mediated through cell surface receptors that contain RGD recognition sequences [164]. Biochemical analysis has implicated α V and β 1 integrins subunits on the pig oocytes in the recognition of pig sperm membrane proteins [157].

Membrane fusion triggers cellular responses in the oocyte, and prevents additional sperm, that have penetrated the zona pellucida, from fusing with the oocyte plasma membrane. The resulting signal transduction events "activate" the eggs and include the initiation of intracellular calcium oscillations, resumption of meiosis, and cortical granule exocytosis [180, 181]. It is accepted that the majority of these activation events are directly related to calcium signaling cascades and the subsequent changes in particular protein kinase activities [56].

The release of sequestered calcium in response to fertilization involves an IP3 evoked release of calcium from the endoplasmic reticulum. A variety of hypotheses have been proposed in attempt to explain the initiation of these calcium oscillations including: 1) the contact (receptor-mediated) hypothesis or 2) the fusion (sperm factor) hypothesis. The contact or receptor mediated hypothesis predicts the interaction of a sperm ligand with a receptor on the oocyte plasma membrane activates a PLC isoform endogenous to the oocyte to generate the IP3.

The incubation of oocytes with anti-integrin function blocking antibodies

decreased the ability of spermatozoa to fertilize the oocytes; however, a complete blockage did not occur. A common interpretation of this result is that integrins are not required for bovine fertilization since some oocytes were successfully fertilized. However, this result could also be explained considering the concept that spermatozoa were able to "out-compete" the function-blocking antibody over time. This theory is supported by the pronuclei data and calcium data illustrating the ability of the function blocking antibodies to block sperm effectively over a shorter time period. The antibody could also easily be denatured over the 18-20 hour IVF period and consequently allow more oocytes to be fertilized. Integrins are known to interact with other integrins in addition to membrane proteins including tetraspanins, Ig superfamily receptors and GPI anchored proteins, which also have been shown to be involved with the process of fertilization in a variety of species [166, 261-263]. From an evolutionary aspect, it would make sense to have redundancy and multiple proteins (ligands and receptors) involved to ensure the highest probability of success for such a critical process leading to propagation of the species.

It is clear that the α V and β 1 integrin subunits located on the bovine oocyte vitelline membrane contribute to the spermatozoa binding/fusion process. It appears that the α 5 integrin subunit is localized to the equatorial region of acrosome reacted sperm, which confirms the findings of Thys et al., 2009. Integrin α 5 didn't localize on the oocyte plasma membrane at the site of spermatozoa binding and fusion to the oolemma; however this doesn't preclude a potential role of integrin α 5 located on the spermatozoa in initiating the spermatozoa-oocyte binding events [256]. These results provide evidence that spermatozoa interact with integrins, known "outside-in" signaling

complexes, at the level of the vitelline membrane in bovine oocytes. These events could serve as the initiation of signaling cascades associated with bovine oocyte activation and require further investigation.

References

- Campbell K, Reed W, White K. Ability of integrins to mediate fertilization, intracellular calcium release, and parthenogenetic development in bovine oocytes. Biol Reprod 2000; 62:1702-1709.
- Sessions BR, Aston KI, Davis AP, Pate BJ, White KL. Effects of amino acid substitutions in and around the arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (RGD) sequence on fertilization and parthenogenetic development in mature bovine oocytes. Mol Reprod Dev 2006; 73:651-657.
- Pate BJ, White KL, Winger QA, Rickords LF, Aston KI, Sessons BR, Li GP, Campbell KD, Weimer B, Bunch TD. Specific integrin subunits in bovine oocytes, including novel sequences for alpha 6 and beta 3 subunits. Mol Reprod Dev 2007; 74:600-607.
- Thys M, Nauwynck H, Maes D, Hoogewijs M, Vercauteren D, Rijsselaere T, Favoreel H, Van Soom A. Expression and putative function of fibronectin and its receptor (integrin alpha(5)beta(1)) in male and female gametes during bovine fertilization in vitro. Reproduction 2009; 138:471-482.
- Reed WA, Suh TK, Bunch TD, White KL. Culture of in vitro fertilized bovine embryos with bovine oviductal epithelial cells, Buffalo rat liver (BRL) cells, or BRL-cell-conditioned medium. Theriogenology 1996; 45:439-449.
- 6. Runft LL, Jaffe LA, Mehlmann LM. Egg activation at fertilization: where it all

begins. Dev Biol 2002; 245:237-254.

- Bowen JA, Hunt JS. The role of integrins in reproduction. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 2000; 223:331-343.
- Parrish JJ, Susko-Parrish JL, Handrow RR, Ax RL, First NL. Effect of sulfated glycoconjugates on capacitation and the acrosome reaction of bovine and hamster spermatozoa. Gamete Res 1989; 24:403-413.
- Bowen J, Hunt J. The role of integrins in reproduction. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 2000; Apr; 223:331-343.
- Baessler KA, Lee Y, Sampson NS. Beta1 integrin is an adhesion protein for sperm binding to eggs. ACS Chem Biol 2009; 4:357-366.
- Vjugina U, Zhu X, Oh E, Bracero NJ, Evans JP. Reduction of mouse egg surface integrin alpha9 subunit (ITGA9) reduces the egg's ability to support sperm-egg binding and fusion. Biol Reprod 2009; 80:833-841.
- Linfor J, Berger T. Potential role of alphav and beta1 integrins as oocyte adhesion molecules during fertilization in pigs. J Reprod Fertil 2000; 120:65-72.
- Evans JP. Sperm disintegrins, egg integrins, and other cell adhesion molecules of mammalian gamete plasma membrane interactions. Front Biosci 1999; 4:D114-131.
- 14. Snell WJ, White JM. The molecules of mammalian fertilization. Cell 1996; 85:629-637.
- Florman HM, Ducibella T. Fertilization in Mammals. In. Knobil E, Neill J (eds), Physiology of Reproduction, vol 1, 3rd ed. New York; Academic Press; 2006: 55-112.

- Yanez-Mo M, Barreiro O, Gordon-Alonso M, Sala-Valdes M, Sanchez-Madrid F. Tetraspanin-enriched microdomains: a functional unit in cell plasma membranes. Trends Cell Biol 2009; 19:434-446.
- 17. Lefevre B, Wolf JP, Ziyyat A. Sperm-egg interaction: is there a link between tetraspanin(s) and GPI-anchored protein(s)? Bioessays 2010; 32:143-152.
- Jegou A, Ziyyat A, Barraud-Lange V, Perez E, Wolf JP, Pincet F, Gourier C.
 CD9 tetraspanin generates fusion competent sites on the egg membrane for mammalian fertilization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011; 108:10946-10951.
- Barraud-Lange V, Chalas Boissonnas C, Serres C, Auer J, Schmitt A, Lefevre B, Wolf JP, Ziyyat A. Membrane transfer from oocyte to sperm occurs in two CD9independent ways that do not supply the fertilising ability of Cd9-deleted oocytes. Reproduction 2012; 144:53-66.

CHAPTER 3

EVIDENCE OF INVOLVEMENT OF FOCAL ADHESION KINASE IN BOVINE FERTILIZATION

Abstract

Focal adhesion kinase (FAK), also known as protein tyrosine kinase 2, is localized to focal adhesions and is a key component of signal transduction pathways mediated by integrins. The clustering of integrins at focal contacts results in activation of FAK and the subsequent assembly of signaling complexes including SRC family kinases. Because integrins have been implicated in bovine fertilization and activation [164, 254], the investigation of the involvement of FAK is an essential step for elucidating the molecular mechanisms involved in bovine fertilization and activation. The presence of FAK at the mRNA and protein levels in bovine oocytes was verified by real time PCR (qPCR) and immunoprecipitation and the localization of FAK at the site of sperm binding to the oocyte plasma membrane was verified using immunohistochemistry. Small interfering RNA (siRNA) duplexes directed against bovine FAK, and known FAK inhibitors FAK I and FAK II, were microinjected into bovine oocytes at various concentrations and the resulting effects on FAK mRNA and protein levels, intracellular calcium release, and embryo development were evaluated. FAK I inhibitor, FAK II inhibitor, all resulted in lower cleavage rates and a decrease in the number of oocytes responding with calcium transients. The sham and scrambled FAK sequence siRNA control microinjections had no effect on fertilization while the microinjection of the FAK siRNA did result in significantly lower cleavage rates and the FAK siRNA treatment group was not significantly different than the no sperm control.

The microinjection of FAK siRNA resulted in lower levels of FAK mRNA transcript while western blot analysis indicated a decrease in the relative levels of FAK protein corresponding to a decrease in mRNA levels after microinjection with the FAK siRNA. Neither the FAK siRNA nor inhibitors acted at the level of the zona pellucida or the plasma membrane, as indicated by sperm-oocyte penetration rates equal to controls. These data are compelling evidence that FAK is involved in bovine activation and fertilization.

Introduction

Integrins are a large family of heterodimeric cation-dependent transmembrane proteins composed of non-covalently linked α and β subunits. Each subunit contains a large N-terminal extracellular domain, a transmembrane domain, and a short C-terminal cytoplasmic domain. There are eighteen α and eight β subunits identified and these subunits combine to form 23 heterodimers. The major function of integrins is to mediate cell-to-cell interactions and cell-to-substratum attachment even though they may mediate a variety of other cellular functions [146]. Integrins associate and interact with cytoskeletal proteins through the cytoplasmic domain of the β subunit and aggregate as focal adhesion sites [147]. These focal adhesion sites also contain signaling complexes involving focal adhesion kinase (FAK), integrin-linked kinase (ILK), molecules of the MAP kinase pathway, small GTPases (ras and rho), lipid kinases (PIP 5-kinase and PI3 kinase), PIP2, PLC- γ , serine/threonine kinases, phosphatases, and activation of focal adhesion sites can result in changes in intracellular pH and calcium concentration [148-151].

The interaction of human and hamster sperm with zona pellucida (ZP)-free

hamster and human oocytes by RGD peptides implicated the involvement of the RGDbinding subfamily of integrins [160, 161]. Even though RGD peptides do have an inhibitory affect on the binding of recombinant fertilin β to mouse oocytes, they do not have a substantial inhibitory effect on mouse sperm-oocyte interactions [123, 124]. However, cyclic RGD-containing peptides were found to inhibit sperm-oocyte interaction in the mouse model in addition to stimulating the activation of PKC and cortical granule exocytosis [162]. Also in the mouse model, Baessler et al., 2009 illustrated that the β 1 integrin subunit is intimately involved with the initial adhesion of the spermatozoa to the oocyte plasma membrane in addition to mediating the subsequent attachment and fusion [260]. The involvement of the β 1 and α 9 integrin subunits in murine fertilization was also shown using RNA interference and function blocking antibodies [163]. Bovine sperm-oocyte interactions have been shown to involve integrins and may be mediated through cell surface receptors that contain RGD recognition sequences [114, 164, 254].

FAK is a conserved, ubiquitously expressed 125 kDa scaffold protein that recruits cytoskeletal and signaling molecules to focal adhesions at the site of integrin clustering [183]. FAK contains an N-terminal four-point-one, ezrin, radixin, moesin (FERM) domain, a central kinase domain, proline rich regions, and a C-terminal focaladhesion-targeting (FAT) domain. The FERM domain facilitates a signaling linkage from receptor tyrosine kinases in addition to binding to and promoting integrin and FAK mediated activation of non-receptor tyrosine kinases including Src and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-kinase) [210]. Two proline-rich regions are found in the C-terminal domain that serve as binding sites for Src homology (SH)3 domain containing proteins. Also located in the C-terminal domain is the FAT region which promotes the co-localization of FAK with integrins at focal adhesions via binding of integrin associated proteins paxillin and talin. FAK and closely related PYK2 are found to be rapidly phosphorylated/activated after fertilization in the zebrafish and could serve as targets of SFKs in perpetuating the activation signaling cascade [211]. Activated FAK has also been found in localized pools in response to fertilization in zebrafish [188].

An inquiry into the involvement of FAK in bovine fertilization is merited based on the evidence illustrating integrin involvement in fertilization and the previously characterized recruitment of FAK as a signaling molecule to the site of integrin clustering.

Materials and Methods

All reagents were purchased from MP Biomedicals LLC (Solon, OH) unless otherwise stated.

Oocyte Collection and In Vitro Maturation (IVM)

All procedures were performed according to published methods routinely used in this laboratory [164]. Bovine oocytes were collected from a local abattoir (E.A. Miller, Hyrum, UT). Oocytes from follicles 3-8 mm in size were aspirated into 50-ml centrifuge tubes using an 18-gauge needle attached to a vacuum pump. Oocytes with uniform cytoplasm and intact multiple layers of cumulus cells were selected and washed with PB1+ (phosphate-buffered saline with Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} plus 5.55 mM glucose, 0.32 mM sodium pyruvate, 3 mg/ml BSA). Oocytes were transferred into 500 mL of maturation

medium, M199, containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Hyclone Laboratories, Logan, UT), 0.5 mg/ml FSH (Sioux Biochemicals, Sioux City, IA), 5 mg/ml LH (Sioux Biochemicals), 100 units/ml penicillin (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY), and 100 mg/ml streptomycin (Life Technologies) in four-well culture dishes (Nunc, Milwaukee, WI) and cultured at 39°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ and air until use. Oocytes were vortexed in 1 ml PB1+ containing 10 mg/ml hyaluronidase for 4 min. to completely remove cumulus cells. Oocytes of good quality were selected for use.

Microinjection of FAK siRNA

The FAK siRNA duplexes oligo ribonucleotides were designed with Invitrogen's (Carlsbad, CA) BLOCK-iT[™] RNAi Designer using the target sequence of different bovine FAK. Three siRNA duplexes were designed against separate, distinct regions of the bovine FAK mRNA sequence. Each duplex RNA was resuspended in DEPC treated water in order to make a 20-µM stock solution (10mM Tris-HCl, pH8.0, 20 mM NaCL, 1 mM EDTA). Thin-bore borosilicate glass capillaries were pulled into microinjection needles using a Narishige (East Meadow, NY) PB-7 pipette puller. Holding pipettes were similarly pulled and crafted using a Narishige MF-9 micro forge.

For the siRNA injections cumulus cells were removed at 14 hours post maturation and cumulus-free mature oocytes were randomly assigned to each treatment group and microinjected (using a Nikon Diaphot inverted microscope and Narishige IM 300 microinjector) with 20 μ M siRNA duplex, water (sham), FAK scramble negative control, or not injected. The approximate volume of a bovine oocyte is 800 pL and the injection volume was calculated to be 8 pL (1% of total volume) so the working concentration in the oocyte of each duplex is 200nM. For the initial screening of the siRNA duplexes the oocytes were subjected to our standard *in vitro* fertilization protocol [257].

Microinjection of FAK inhibitors

For the inhibitor microinjections, cumulus cells were removed at 20 hours post maturation and cumulus-free mature oocytes were randomly assigned to each treatment group. After a recovery period of two hours in maturation medium in the incubator, the oocytes were microinjected with FAKI inhibitor (EMD Millipore, Billerica, MA) (working concentrations of 10 nM, 100 nM, and 200 nM), FAKII inhibitor (EMD Millipore, Billerica, MA) (working concentrations of 40 pM, 40 nM, an 400 nM), a sham injection of water, or not injected.

In Vitro Fertilization

After microinjection, oocytes were returned to maturation medium and were either subjected to a modified version of our *in vitro* fertilization protocol or snap frozen in groups of 30 for subsequent analysis by real time PCR and Western blot. Briefly, cryopreserved bovine semen (Hoffman AI, Logan, UT) was thawed and live sperm were separated by centrifugation on a 45%/90% layered Percoll gradient. Motile spermatozoa obtained by this method were diluted in fert-TALP to a final concentration of 1.0 X 10⁶ per ml [22]. Capacitation occurred in fert-TALP containing heparin at a concentration of 10 mg/ml. The oocytes were fertilized *in vitro* for 5 hours (24-29 hours post maturation for inhibitor studies, and 27-32 hours post maturation for siRNA studies) at 39°C in 5% CO₂ and air. After the fertilization period, oocytes were vortexed for 2 minutes in a 15ml conical centrifuge tube containing 1 ml PB1+ medium to completely remove sperm. Presumptive embryos were cultured in CR1aa medium containing 3% FBS at 39°C in 5% CO₂ and cleavage was determined 48 hours after removal of sperm. Each treatment was performed in three replicates. Data were analyzed with a chi-square analysis for independence in an $r \ge 2$ contingency table, where r equals the number of treatments.

Immunofluorescence

For the immunofluorescence studies the oocytes were fertilized for seven hours, after which they were vortexed for 2 minutes in a 15-ml conical centrifuge tube containing 1 ml PB1+ medium to completely remove sperm. Oocytes were placed in PBS with 4% formaldehyde (fixative) for 30 minutes at 4°C, washed in PBS with 0.05% Tween 20 (PBST) for 30 minutes at room temperature, permeabilized in PBS with 1% Triton X-100 for 30 minutes at room temperature, and transferred to blocking buffer consisting of PBST with 1% BSA and incubated overnight at 4°C. Oocytes were incubated with the anti-FAK primary antibody for 3 hours at 37°C, washed with PBST for 30 minutes at room temperature, incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody for 2 hours at 37°C, washed with PBST for 30 minutes at room temperature, and oocytes were transferred to slides with drops of Vectashield Hard Set mounting medium containing DAPI and covered with a cover slip. All samples were viewed on a Zeiss Axioobserver equipped with a Vivatome module and an Axiocam MRm camera.

Sperm Penetration Assay

Microinjected oocytes were fertilized in vitro at 23 hours post maturation. After 6 hours of incubation with sperm, embryos were rinsed through drops of PB1+ and stained in a solution of PB1+ containing 1 mg/mL Hoechst 33342 for 20 minutes at 37°C. After

staining, embryos were rinsed again through 8 drops of PB1+ and observed by fluorescence microscopy to evaluate pronuclear formation. Sperm penetration was determined by positive identification of 2 pronuclei in each embryo.

Calcium Indicator Fura-2 AM Loading

Oocytes were loaded with Ca^{2+} indicator by incubation in 2 µM Fura-2 AM ester (Molecular Probes Inc., Eugene, OR) and 0.02% Pluronic F-127 (Molecular Probes Inc.) in Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} free phosphate buffered saline (Hyclone Laboratories) containing 0.32 mM sodium pyruvate, 5.55 mM glucose, 3 mg/ml BSA, and 100 µM EGTA at 39°C in darkness for 45 minutes. After loading indicator, oocytes were washed extensively with PB1- (phosphate-buffered saline without Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} plus 5.55 mM glucose, 0.32 mM sodium pyruvate, 3 mg/ml BSA) and maintained in this solution at 39°C until use.

Measurement of intracellular Ca^{2+} transients

Fura-2 indicator was loaded, as described above, and $Ca^{2+}{}_{i}$ levels were measured after fertilization. Sperm were prepared as described above, after which a 50-µL drop of Fert-talp containing PHE, heparin, and sperm was made in the center of a 35-mm dish (Beckton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ) and overlaid with mineral oil. Microinjected oocytes were visualized in groups of 4-6. The plate was placed in an incubator at 39°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ and air for 5 hours. At this point the dish was removed from the incubator and visualized over a 2 hour period to observe Ca^{2+} transients on an a Nikon Diaphot inverted microscope, coupled with a Hamamatsu ORCA-ER digital camera and analyzed on Metafluor Imaging Series 7.6 software (Universal Imaging Corp, Downingtown, PA).

Reverse Transcription and Real Time PCR analysis

Total RNA was extracted from 3 groups of 30 microinjected oocytes for each siRNA duplex using an RNeasy Micro Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). Reverse transcription was performed using a SuperScript III Kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and cDNA was stored at -80 C for later use. Primers for FAK were designed used Primer3 software [264] and qPCR were performed to verify knockdown of the FAK transcript. The delta-delta Ct method ($\Delta\Delta$ Ct) was used for real-time PCR data evaluation [265]. Data was normalized for differing amounts of input cDNA by calculating Δ Ct (Ct for the GAPDH housekeeping gene minus Ct for the gene of interest). The $\Delta\Delta$ Ct was calculated by subtracting the Δ Ct of each sample from the Δ Ct of a reference cDNA sample. The n-fold increase or decrease in expression levels of each treatment at each time point was calculated using the formula $2^{-\Delta\Delta$ Ct}.

Immunoprecipitation

Total protein was extracted from 100 mature bovine oocytes by placing them in 50 μL of lysis buffer containing 8 M urea, 4% CHAPS, 40 mM Tris, and Complete Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Roche Diagnostic, Manheim, Germany). The immunoprecipitation protocol provided by Upstate (Lake Placid, NY) was used. Briefly, the cell lysate was diluted with PBS to roughly 1 μg/ml total cell protein before beginning the immunoprecipitation, after which 4 μg of monoclonal mouse IgG anti-FAK antibody clone 2A7 (Upstate) was added and gently rocked at 4°C overnight. The immunocomplex was captured by adding 100 μl of washed Protein G agarose bead slurry and gently rocked at 4°C for 2 hours. The agarose beads were collected by pulsing for 5 seconds in a microcentrifuge at 14,000 x g and draining off the supernatant. The beads were washed three times with ice-cold PBS and resuspended in 60 µl 2X Laemmli sample buffer. The beads were boiled for 5 minutes and collected using a microcentrifuge pulse after which the supernatant was run on a 4-20% gradient polyacrylamide gel (Pierce Precise Protein Gels) while the nitrocellulose membrane and filters were incubated in the transfer buffer at 4°C for 45 minutes. A lysate of 3T3/A31 cells (Upstate) was included as a positive control. After electrophoresis, the gel was washed with transfer buffer for 3 minutes and then the total protein was transferred electrophoretically using a semi-dry blotter (Biorad, Hercules, CA) onto the nitrocellulose membrane for 80 minutes at 20V. After transfer the membrane was washed twice with TBST for 5 minutes each time and then the membrane was blocked overnight at 4°C in TBST with 5% skim milk. To detect bovine FAK the membrane was incubated for 1 hour with polyclonal rabbit IgG primary antibody (Upstate, Lake Placid, NY) washed three times in TBST for 10 minutes each, incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with a goat anti-rabbit HRP-labeled secondary antibody diluted 1:1000 in TBST, and finally processed as described below. The nitrocellulose membrane was washed two times with TBST, 5 minutes each time. For protein detection 3 mls of Luminata Classico Western HRP Substrate (Millipore, Billerica, MA) was poured onto the membrane. The membrane was incubated without agitation in the substrate for 3 minutes, drained of excess substrate, wrapped in a clear plastic wrap, exposed to an xray film for 30 seconds and developed.

Western Blot Analysis

The Western blot analysis of bovine FAK was performed according to the procedures used by Sun and Fan, 2004 [266]. Briefly, 30 bovine oocytes were added to 6.5 µL double-strength sample buffer and 5 µL ddH2O in a 0.5 ml Eppendorf tube and frozen at -80°C until use. The samples were boiled for 4 minutes, placed on ice for 5 minutes, and centrifuged at 12,000 x g for 3 minutes. The total proteins were separated by SDS-page on a 4-20% gradient polyacrylamide gel (Pierce Precise Protein Gels) for 45 minutes at 110 V and 115 mA, while the nitrocellulose membrane and filters were incubated in the transfer buffer at 4°C for 45 minutes. After electrophoresis, the gel was washed with transfer buffer for 3 minutes and then the total protein was transferred electrophoretically onto the nitrocellulose membrane for 80 minutes at 20V. After transfer, the membrane was washed twice with TBS for 5 minutes each time and then the membrane was blocked overnight at 4°C in TBST with 5% skim milk. To detect bovine FAK the membrane was incubated for 1 hour with a rabbit polyclonal anti-FAK antibody (sc-558; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) diluted 1:300 in TBST, washed 3 times in TBST for 10 minutes each, incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with a goat anti-rabbit HRP-labeled secondary antibody diluted 1:1000 in TBST, and finally processed as described above.

Statistical Analysis

Data were pooled from three replicates per group. Chi-square analysis was used to determine differences in cleavage and intracellular calcium release. Unless otherwise noted, a probability of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. For the confirmation of siRNA knockdown experiments, pair-wise comparisons were performed by utilizing the calculated $\Delta\Delta$ Ct values for each treatment time point and the control were performed using the Student's t-test. A probability of p<0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Immunoprecipitation/Western Blot

Western blot analysis of lysate from mature bovine oocytes immunoprecipitated with a monoclonal anti-FAK antibody revealed that a FAK protein (~125 kDa band) is present in the mature bovine oocyte (Fig. 3-1).



FIG 3-1. Western blot analysis of immunoprecipitated FAK.

Effect of Anti-FAK Agents on Intracellular Calcium Release in Bovine Oocytes

Fak Inhibitors

Microinjection of the FAKI inhibitor at working concentrations of 10 nM (p<0.01), 100 nM (p<0.0001), and 200 nM (p<0.0001) all resulted in significantly lower numbers of oocytes responding with calcium transients compared to the IVF and sham injected controls.

The microinjection of the FAKII inhibitor at the working concentration of 400 nM resulted in significantly lower numbers of oocytes responding with calcium transients (p<0.001). The lower concentrations of 40 nM and 40 pM were not significantly different than the sham injected oocytes.

Anti-FAK siRNA Oligonucleotides

The anti FAK siRNA oligonucleotide microinjected into oocytes resulted in a significantly lower number of oocytes responding with calcium transients (p<0.001). The number of oocytes microinjected with the scrambled FAK siRNA control oligonucleotide responding with calcium transients were not significantly different than the IVF and sham injected controls.

Effect of Anti-FAK Agents on *In Vitro* Fertilization in Bovine Oocytes

Fak Inhibitors

The injection of the FAKI inhibitor resulted in significantly lower cleavage rates at the working concentrations of 200 nM (p<0.0001), 100 nM (p<0.0001), and 10 nM (p<0.01) with the 200 nM and 100 nM concentrations not being significantly different than the no-sperm control.

The injection of the FAK II inhibitor resulted in significantly lower cleavage rates at the working concentration of 400 nM (p<0.0001) and not significantly different than the no sperm control. The concentrations of 40 nM and 40 pM were not significantly different than the IVF and sham injected controls.

	Number of oocytes	Total
Treatment	responding with an	Number of
	intracellular calcium release	Oocytes
Non-injected	16 (72.7%) ^a	22
Scrambled FAK siRNA	16 (66.7%) ^a	24
Sham	16 (61.5%) ^a	26
FAK II Inhibitor (40 nM)	14 (58.3%) ^a	24
FAK II Inhibitor (40 pM)	16 (57.1%) ^a	28
FAK I Inhibitor (10 nM)	6 (23.1%) ^b	26
FAK siRNA	6 (20.0%) ^b	30
FAK II Inhibitor (400 nM)	4 (14.3%) ^b	28
FAK I Inhibitor (100 nM)	3 (10.7%) ^b	28
FAK I Inhibitor (200 nM)	$2(7.7\%)^{b}$	26

TABLE 1. Effect of anti-FAK inhibitors on the intracellular calcium release after incubation with sperm for 6 hrs. Values represent the mean (n=3) and unlike superscripts are statistically significant (p<0.05).

Anti-FAK siRNA Oligonucleotide

The anti-FAK siRNA oligonucleotide resulted in significantly lower cleavage rates (p<0.001) compared to the IVF and sham injected control and was not significantly different than the no sperm control. The scrambled FAK siRNA control oligonucleotide was not significantly different than the IVF and sham injected controls.

Confirmation of siRNA Knockdown

qPCR

The microinjection of FAK siRNA resulted in lower levels of FAK mRNA transcript at 6, 12 and 24 hours post injection as verified by qPCR. The FAK mRNA levels of the oocytes collected at all three time points for the FAK siRNA groups were the only treatment groups significantly different (P<0.05) than the 14 hour control (Fig. 3-2).

		Total
Treatment	Percent Cleavage	Number of
	_	Oocytes
FAK II Inhibitor (40 pM)	$32(72.7\%)^{a}$	44
FAK II Inhibitor (40 nM)	30 (63.8%) ^a	47
Non-injected	26 (61.9%) ^a	42
Sham	25 (61.0%) ^a	41
Scrambled FAK siRNA	24 (51.1%) ^{ab}	47
FAK I Inhibitor (10 nM)	22 (38.6%) ^{bc}	57
FAK II Inhibitor (400 nM)	14 (29.8%) ^c	47
FAK siRNA	12 (21.8%) ^{cd}	55
FAK I Inhibitor (100 nM)	$7(11.7\%)^{de}$	70
No sperm control	$5(8.3\%)^{de}$	60
FAK I Inhibitor (200 nM)	$1(1.6\%)^{e}$	61

TABLE 3-2. Effect of anti-FAK inhibitors on the cleavage rates of bovine oocytes after incubation with sperm for 6 hrs. Values represent the mean (n=3) and unlike superscripts are statistically significant (p<0.05).



FIG 3-2. Relative FAK mRNA expression levels as compared to 14 hr IVM control oocytes. Values represent the mean \pm SEM (n = 3, *P < 0.05).

Western Blot

Western blot analysis demonstrated a decrease in the relative levels of FAK protein corresponding to a decrease in mRNA levels after microinjection with the FAK

siRNA. As expected the reduction in protein levels occurred at a slower rate than the reduction in FAK mRNA levels with significant reduction in protein levels not occurring until 12 hours post injection (Fig. 3-3).



FIG 3-3. Relative FAK protein levels in relation to 14 hr IVM control oocytes. Values represent the mean \pm SEM (n = 3, *P < 0.05).

Immunofluorescence

The results of the immunohistochemistry studies indicate a colocalization of FAK clusters during fertilization at the site of spermatozoa binding to the oocyte plasma membrane (Fig 3-4).

Sperm Penetration Assay

The injected inhibitors and FAK siRNA did not act at the level of the zona pellucida or the plasma membrane, because sperm penetrated the oocytes at levels equivalent to controls and inhibition therefore occurred intracellularly (data not shown).



FIG. 3-4. Fluorescent images of FAK localized to the site of spermatozoa binding/fusion during fertilization of a bovine metaphase II arrested oocyte. A) Sperm nuclei labeled with Hoecsht. B) FAK labeled with Alexafluor 594. C) Merged image of sperm nuclei and immunolabeled FAK illustrating a localization of FAK at the site of sperm binding/fusion.

Discussion

Focal adhesion kinase (FAK) is a 125 kDa ubiquitous nonreceptor protein tyrosine kinase that localizes to focal adhesions where it functions as a prominent signaling molecule. Upon integrin activation and clustering, FAK is activated via tyrosine phosphorylation in order to interact with other signaling molecules recruited to the focal adhesion including Src and (PI3-kinase) resulting in the transduction of signaling cascades. These focal adhesions involve the recruitment of integrins, transmembrane heterodimers receptor proteins that bind to and respond to the extracellular matrix and consequently act as two-way signaling molecules. FAK has been implicated in mediating the oocyte activation signaling cascade in non-mammalian oocytes following fertilization [188, 211] and integrins have been show to be involved in mammalian fertilization [114, 123, 124, 157, 162-165, 254].

The FAK specific inhibitors, FAK I and FAK II, resulted in significantly lower

cleavage rates and oocytes responding with calcium transients. The sham and the scrambled FAK siRNA control microinjections had no effect on fertilization demonstrating the technique used did not negatively impact normal development. The microinjection of the FAK siRNA did result in significantly lower cleavage rates and the FAK siRNA treatment group was not significantly different than the no sperm control.

The microinjection of FAK siRNA resulted in significantly lower levels of FAK mRNA transcript at all three data points. The FAK mRNA levels of the oocytes collected at 6, 12, and 24 hours post injection for the FAK siRNA groups were the only treatment groups significantly different than the 18 hr control (p<0.05). The siRNA oligonucleotides quickly resulted in a quick reduction in the presence of FAK mRNA, with an almost 80% reduction in FAK mRNA levels in only a 6-hour period

Western blot analysis demonstrated a decrease in the relative levels of FAK protein corresponding to a decrease in mRNA levels after microinjection with the FAK siRNA. The oocytes microinjected with FAK siRNA had the lowest abundance of FAK protein at all three time points. The use of siRNA technology to knockdown FAK protein levels only resulted in an average of a 30-35% decrease in protein levels during the IVF period. Despite only a small reduction in protein levels, it still had a significant impact on cleavage rates and calcium oscillations. The inability to get a greater reduction in protein levels is probably due to the stockpiling of proteins by the oocyte in preparation for fertilization. The bovine oocyte is a challenging system to utilize protein knockdown studies due to the limited window of time to introduce the siRNA oligonucleotides and get significant decrease in protein levels between oocyte collection/maturation and IVF. The beginning time period selected for IVF (27 hours
IVM) corresponded to an ~ 25% decrease in FAK protein levels with the end of the IVF period corresponded to ~40% decrease in FAK protein. Western blots did not distinguish between total protein and active protein so there might actually be a greater reduction in active protein that would help explain the significant decrease in cleavage and oocytes responding with calcium transients.

The release of sequestered calcium in response to fertilization involves an IP3 evoked release of calcium from the endoplasmic reticulum. The increase in IP3 production is believed to be a result of the activation of a member of the PLC family of enzymes which catalyzes the hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) to produce two common secondary messengers, DAG and IP3 [182]. DAG is able to activate PKC while IP3 binds to an IP3R channel on the endoplasmic reticulum, resulting in a conformational change to the receptor and a significant release of intracellular calcium. Two hypotheses have been proposed in attempt to explain the initiation of these calcium oscillations including: 1) the contact (receptor-mediated) hypothesis or 2) the fusion (sperm factor) hypothesis.

The contact or receptor mediated hypothesis predicts the interaction of a sperm ligand with a receptor on the oocyte plasma membrane activates a PLC isoform endogenous to the oocyte to generate the IP3. If an oocyte specific PLC is involved, a characterization of the upstream pathway would paint a clearer picture of oocyte activation. In many non-mammalian species PLC- γ is activated by Src family kinases (SFKs) shortly after fertilization and appear to be required for fertilization induced calcium oscillations in these species [182]; however, this has not been established in mammalian fertilization [56]. SFKs are known to be rapidly activated following integrin-ligand interactions and subsequently activate downstream kinases and adapters [183 2006, 185]. SFKs are able to bind directly to β -integrin tails in a tail and SFK specific manner [183, 186, 187] in addition to binding and phosphorylating FAK and FAK-binding proteins.

PLC-ζ has been proposed to be the testis-specific, sperm borne activating factor (SOAF) that initiates oocyte activation after gamete fusion in support of the fusion hypothesis [237]. Microinjection of PLC-ζ cRNA or recombinant protein into mouse oocytes results in intracellular calcium oscillations, activation and development [237, 238]. Sperm from male mice with decreased expression of PLC-ζ due to RNA interference are able to fuse with oocytes and initiate calcium oscillations; however, the number of oscillations was reduced and no transgenic offspring were born [239]. PLC-ζ was also shown to be defective, with either reduced protein levels or mutated forms, in men suffering infertility [240, 241].

If PLC- ζ is truly the oocyte activating factor, inhibiting FAK located in the oocyte should have no effect on bovine fertilization and oocyte activation. This is obviously not the case. Inhibiting FAK had a dramatic effect on both calcium oscillations and cleavage in the bovine system, indicating that a signaling pathway endogenous to the oocyte is indeed actively involved during fertilization and oocyte activation. These data indicate the direct involvement of FAK in addition to further implicating the involvement of integrins in the signaling cascade related to bovine fertilization and oocyte activation.

References

1. Campbell K, Reed W, White K. Ability of integrins to mediate fertilization,

intracellular calcium release, and parthenogenetic development in bovine oocytes. Biol Reprod 2000; 62:1702-1709.

- Sessions BR, Aston KI, Davis AP, Pate BJ, White KL. Effects of amino acid substitutions in and around the arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (RGD) sequence on fertilization and parthenogenetic development in mature bovine oocytes. Mol Reprod Dev 2006; 73:651-657.
- Bowen J, Hunt J. The role of integrins in reproduction. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 2000; Apr;223:331-343.
- Guan JL. Role of focal adhesion kinase in integrin signaling. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1997; 29:1085-1096.
- 5. Hemler ME. Integrin associated proteins. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1998; 10:578-585.
- Longhurst CM, Jennings LK. Integrin-mediated signal transduction. Cell Mol Life Sci 1998; 54:514-526.
- Schwartz MA, Schaller MD, Ginsberg MH. Integrins: emerging paradigms of signal transduction. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 1995; 11:549-599.
- Chen MS, Tung KS, Coonrod SA, Takahashi Y, Bigler D, Chang A, Yamashita Y, Kincade PW, Herr JC, White JM. Role of the integrin-associated protein CD9 in binding between sperm ADAM 2 and the egg integrin alpha6beta1: implications for murine fertilization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96:11830-11835.
- Romer LH, Birukov KG, Garcia JG. Focal adhesions: paradigm for a signaling nexus. Circ Res 2006; 98:606-616.
- 10. Bronson R, Fusi F. Evidence that an Arg-Gly-Asp adhesion sequence plays a role

in mammalian fertilization. Biol Reprod 1990; 43:1019-1025.

- Ji YZ, Wolf JP, Jouannet P, Bomsel M. Human gamete fusion can bypass beta1 integrin requirement. Hum Reprod 1998; 13:682-689.
- Almeida E, Huovila A, Sutherland A, Stephens L, Calarco P, Shaw L, Mercurio A, Sonnenberg A, Primakoff P, Myles D. Mouse egg integrin alpha 6 beta 1 functions as a sperm receptor. Cell 1995; 81:1095-1104.
- Evans JP, Schultz RM, Kopf GS. Identification and localization of integrin subunits in oocytes and eggs of the mouse. Mol Reprod Dev 1995; 40:211-220.
- 14. Tatone C, Carbone MC. Possible involvement of integrin-mediated signalling in oocyte activation: evidence that a cyclic RGD-containing peptide can stimulate protein kinase C and cortical granule exocytosis in mouse oocytes. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2006; 4:48.
- Baessler KA, Lee Y, Sampson NS. Beta1 integrin is an adhesion protein for sperm binding to eggs. ACS Chem Biol 2009; 4:357-366.
- Vjugina U, Zhu X, Oh E, Bracero NJ, Evans JP. Reduction of mouse egg surface integrin alpha9 subunit (ITGA9) reduces the egg's ability to support sperm-egg binding and fusion. Biol Reprod 2009; 80:833-841.
- 17. White KL, Passipieri M, Bunch TD, Campbell KD, Pate B. Effects of arginineglycine-aspartic acid (RGD) containing snake venom peptides on parthenogenetic development and in vitro fertilization of bovine oocytes. Mol Reprod Dev 2007; 74:88-96.
- Harburger DS, Calderwood DA. Integrin signalling at a glance. J Cell Sci 2009;
 122:159-163.

- Mitra SK, Hanson DA, Schlaepfer DD. Focal adhesion kinase: in command and control of cell motility. Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology 2005; 6:56-68.
- Sharma D, Kinsey WH. Regionalized calcium signaling in zebrafish fertilization. Int J Dev Biol 2008; 52:561-570.
- McGinnis LK, Carroll DJ, Kinsey WH. Protein tyrosine kinase signaling during oocyte maturation and fertilization. Mol Reprod Dev 2011; 78:831-845.
- Reed WA, Suh TK, Bunch TD, White KL. Culture of in vitro fertilized bovine embryos with bovine oviductal epithelial cells, Buffalo rat liver (BRL) cells, or BRL-cell-conditioned medium. Theriogenology 1996; 45:439-449.
- Rozen S, Skaletsky H. Primer3 on the WWW for general users and for biologist programmers. Methods Mol Biol 2000; 132:365-386.
- 24. Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods 2001;
 25:402-408.
- Sun QY, Fan HY. Activity of MAPK/p90rsk during fertilization in mice, rats, and pigs. Methods Mol Biol 2004; 253:293-304.
- Iwao Y, Fujimura T. Activation of Xenopus eggs by RGD-containing peptides accompanied by intracellular Ca2+ release. Dev Biol 1996; 177:558-567.
- Linfor J, Berger T. Potential role of alphav and beta1 integrins as oocyte adhesion molecules during fertilization in pigs. J Reprod Fertil 2000; 120:65-72.
- Runft LL, Jaffe LA, Mehlmann LM. Egg activation at fertilization: where it all begins. Dev Biol 2002; 245:237-254.
- 29. Florman HM, Ducibella T. Fertilization in Mammals. In. Knobil E, Neill J (eds),

Physiology of Reproduction, vol 1, 3rd ed. New York; Academic Press; 2006: 55-112.

- Ginsberg MH, Partridge A, Shattil SJ. Integrin regulation. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2005; 17:509-516.
- Arias-Salgado EG, Lizano S, Sarkar S, Brugge JS, Ginsberg MH, Shattil SJ. Src kinase activation by direct interaction with the integrin beta cytoplasmic domain.
 Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003; 100:13298-13302.
- Reddy KB, Smith DM, Plow EF. Analysis of Fyn function in hemostasis and alphaIIbbeta3-integrin signaling. J Cell Sci 2008; 121:1641-1648.
- Saunders CM, Larman MG, Parrington J, Cox LJ, Royse J, Blayney LM, Swann K, Lai FA. PLC zeta: a sperm-specific trigger of Ca(2+) oscillations in eggs and embryo development. Development 2002; 129:3533-3544.
- 34. Yoda A, Oda S, Shikano T, Kouchi Z, Awaji T, Shirakawa H, Kinoshita K,
 Miyazaki S. Ca2+ oscillation-inducing phospholipase C zeta expressed in mouse
 eggs is accumulated to the pronucleus during egg activation. Dev Biol 2004;
 268:245-257.
- 35. Knott JG, Kurokawa M, Fissore RA, Schultz RM, Williams CJ. Transgenic RNA interference reveals role for mouse sperm phospholipase Czeta in triggering Ca2+ oscillations during fertilization. Biol Reprod 2005; 72:992-996.
- 36. Yoon SY, Jellerette T, Salicioni AM, Lee HC, Yoo MS, Coward K, Parrington J, Grow D, Cibelli JB, Visconti PE, Mager J, Fissore RA. Human sperm devoid of PLC, zeta 1 fail to induce Ca(2+) release and are unable to initiate the first step of embryo development. J Clin Invest 2008; 118:3671-3681.

37. Heytens E, Parrington J, Coward K, Young C, Lambrecht S, Yoon SY, Fissore RA, Hamer R, Deane CM, Ruas M, Grasa P, Soleimani R, et al. Reduced amounts and abnormal forms of phospholipase C zeta (PLCzeta) in spermatozoa from infertile men. Hum Reprod 2009; 24:2417-2428.

CHAPTER 4

THE INVOLVEMENT OF PHOSPHOLIPASE C ISOFORMS ENDOGENOUS TO THE OOCYTE IN BOVINE FERTILIZATION AND OOCYTE ACTIVATION

Abstract

Phospholipase C (PLC) isoforms stimulate the hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate (PIP2) to produce diacylglycerol (DAG) and 1,4,5 inositol triphosphate (IP3), with IP3 regulating the release of calcium (Ca^{2+}) from the endoplasmic reticulum. This release of calcium is essential for oocyte activation and a sperm specific PLC isoform, PLCZ, has been proposed as the primary agent that initiates the activation process. However, the oocyte contains many endogenous PLC isoforms (PLC β , γ , and δ) that could also be involved in regulating or initiating these calcium oscillations downstream of other initiating events. In order to better elucidate the involvement of endogenous PLC isoforms as well as the specific role of the spermspecific form, small interfering RNA (siRNA) directed against the specific bovine PLC isoforms (PLCζ, PLCγ1, PLCγ2, PLCδ1, PLCδ3, PLCδ4, PLCβ1, PLCβ3) were microinjected into bovine oocytes and the subsequent effects on PLC mRNA levels and bovine fertilization were evaluated. Real time PCR (qPCR) was used to quantify the levels of PLC message present in bovine oocytes at the time of injection (15 hours post maturation) and 6, 10, and 14 hours post injection. The qPCR results indicated a near complete knockdown of mRNA levels in bovine oocytes 10 hours post injection for the isotypes PLCy1, PLCy2, PLCo3, PLCo4, PLCo1, PLCo3, but only partial knockdown of PLCo1 mRNA. Oocytes microinjected with PLC siRNA were also fertilized and

cultured in vitro according to our standard laboratory procedures [257]. The oocytes microinjected with PLC ζ , PLC δ 1, PLC δ 3, PLC δ 4, PLC β 1, PLC β 3 siRNA resulted in cleavage rates similar to the negative control siRNA, non-injected, and sham injected treatment groups while bovine oocytes microinjected with PLC γ 1 and PLC γ 2 siRNA had significantly lower cleavage rates compared to the controls. Additionally, cRNA for each specific PLC isoform was also microinjected into bovine oocytes microinjected with PLC ζ and PLC γ 2 cRNA resulted in a significantly higher number of oocytes reaching the 2 cell stage compared to all other treatment groups and not significantly different than the Ionomycin/Cycloheximide activation control (p<0.05). These data illustrate the potential involvement of multiple endogenous PLC isoforms PLC γ 1 and PLC γ 2 and not just the sperm-specific PLC ζ isoform in bovine oocyte activation during fertilization.

Introduction

In response to activation of receptors by neurotransmitters, hormones, growth factors and other molecules, phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C (PLC) hydrolyzes phosphatidylinositol 4,5 bisphosphate (PIP2) to generate two second messengers: inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG). Both second messengers initiate further signal transduction cascades with IP3 activating intracellular calcium release while DAG activates protein kinase C (PKC) [212-216]. A variety of PLCs with different molecular masses, isoelectric points, and calcium dependencies have been discovered in a variety of different tissues and categorized into six classes based on structure and activity: PLC- β (1-4), PLC- γ (1and 2), PLC- δ (1, 3, and 4) PLC- ϵ , PLC- ζ , and PLC- η (1 and 2) [216, 217]. Each isozyme family contains conserved

domains as well as isozyme specific domains. All PLC isozymes contain catalytic X and Y domains in addition to isozyme specific regulatory regions including the pleckstrin homology (PH) domain, the C2 domain, and the EF-hand motif. The isotype specific domains allow for a subtype specific regulatory mechanism including the Ras-associating domain and Ras-GTPase exchange factor-like domain in PLC- ϵ and the src homology (SH) domain in PLC- γ [216]. Numerous alternative splicing variants for each PLC isotype have been found across multiple species, indicating an extremely complex level of additional regulation [217].

PLC-ζ was identified as a sperm specific PLC as a result of analyzing EST sequences from human and mouse testis. It is the smallest mammalian PLC isozyme with a molecular weight of 70kDa and consists of the EF-hand motif, catalytic X and Y domains, and the C2 domain. PLC- ζ has a high degree of sequence homology (64%) with PLC- δ 1 in addition to sharing catalytic residues in the X domain, which indicates that the catalytic activation of PLC- ζ is similar to PLC- δ 1. PLC- ζ does not contain a PH domain like the other PLC isozymes so it is unclear how PLC- ζ can target PIP2, its membrane bound substrate [217]. PLC- ζ has been proposed to be the testis-specific, sperm-borne activating factor (SOAF) that initiates oocyte activation after gamete fusion [237].

Materials and Methods

Oocyte Collection and In Vitro Maturation (IVM)

All reagents were purchased from ICN Biomedicals Inc. (Irvine, CA) unless otherwise stated. All procedures were performed according to published methods routinely used in this laboratory [164]. Bovine oocytes were collected from a local abattoir (E.A. Miller, Hyrum, UT). Oocytes from follicles 3-8 mm in size were aspirated into 50-ml centrifuge tubes using an 18-gauge needle attached to a vacuum pump. Oocytes with uniform cytoplasm and intact multiple layers of cumulus cells were selected and washed with PB1+ (phosphate-buffered saline with Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ plus 5.55 mM glucose, 0.32 mM sodium pyruvate, 3 mg/ml BSA). Oocytes were transferred into 500 μ L of maturation medium, M199, containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Hyclone Laboratories, Logan, UT), 0.5 μ g/ml FSH (Sioux Biochemicals, Sioux City, IA), 5 μ g/ml LH (Sioux Biochemicals), 100 units/ml penicillin (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY), and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin (Life Technologies) in four-well culture dishes (Nunc, Milwaukee, WI) and cultured at 39°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ and air for 24 hours.

Microinjection of PLC siRNA

The PLC siRNA duplexes oligoribonucleotides were designed with Invitrogen's (Carlsbad, CA) BLOCK-iTTM RNAi Designer using the target sequence of different bovine PLC isoforms (PLCζ, gi|55669158; PLCβ3, gi|119919227, PLC γ1, gi|31342035, PLCδ4, gi|114051038, PLCδ1, gi|125991881; PLCβ1, gi|27807356; PLCγ2, gi| 359075087; PLCδ3, 300795644). Three siRNA duplexes were designed against separate, distinct regions of each bovine PLC mRNA. Each duplex RNA was resuspended in DEPC treated water in order to make a 20-μM stock solution (10mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 20 mM NaCL, 1 mM EDTA).

Thin-bore borosilicate glass capillaries were pulled into microinjection needles using a Narishige (East Meadow, NY) PB-7 pipette puller. Holding pipettes were similarly pulled and crafted using a Narishige MF-9 micro forge. Cumulus cells were removed at 17 hours post maturation and cumulus-free mature oocytes were randomly assigned to each treatment group and microinjected (using a Nikon Diaphot inverted microscope and Narishige IM 300 microinjector) with either 20 μ M of each RNA duplex, water (sham), Stealth RNAi negative control, or not injected. The approximate volume of a bovine oocyte is 800 pl and the injection volume was calculated to be 8 pL (1% of total volume) so the working concentration in the oocyte of each duplex was 200nM.

In Vitro Fertilization

After microinjection oocytes were returned to maturation medium and were either subjected to a modified version of our *in vitro* fertilization protocol [257] or snap frozen in groups of 30 for subsequent analysis by real time PCR. Briefly, cryopreserved bovine semen (Hoffman AI, Logan, UT) was thawed and live sperm were separated by centrifugation on a 45%/90% layered Percoll gradient. Motile spermatozoa obtained by this method were diluted in fert-TALP to a final concentration of 1.0 X 10⁶ per ml [257]. Capacitation occurred in fert-TALP containing heparin at a concentration of 10 µg/ml. The oocytes were fertilized *in vitro* for 5 hrs (24-29 hours post maturation) at 39°C in 5% CO₂ and air. After the fertilization period, oocytes were vortexed for 1 minute in a 15-ml conical centrifuge tube containing 1 ml PB1+ medium to completely remove sperm. Presumptive embryos were cultured in CR1aa medium containing 3% FBS at 39°C in 5% CO₂ and cleavage was determined 48 hours after removal of sperm.

Reverse Transcription and Real Time PCR

Total RNA was extracted from 3 groups of 30 microinjected oocytes for each

siRNA duplex using an RNeasy Micro Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). Reverse transcription was performed using a SuperScript III Kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and cDNA was stored at –80 C for later use. Primers for each PLC isoform were designed used Primer3 software and qPCR was performed to verify knockdown of each isoform's transcript.

PLC Complementary RNA (cRNA) Preparation

A separate vector containing the full length coding sequence of each PLC isoform was linearized with NotI and used as a template for the in vitro synthesis of capped RNA by using the T7 or SP6 mMessage mMachine High Yield Capped RNA Transcription Kit (Ambion, Austin, TX) depending on the promoter present in the plasmid. Briefly, a 20 μ L reaction was assembled adding the following in order: 4 μ L nuclease free water, 10 μ L 2X NTP/CTP, 2 μ L 10X reaction buffer, 2 μ L linear template DNA, and 2 μ L enzyme mix. The tube was flicked, centrifuged briefly, and incubated at 37 °C for 2 hours. A poly-A tail was subsequently added to the cRNA by utilizing the Poly (A) Tailing Kit (Ambion). Briefly, the following tailing reagents were added, in order, to a completed 20 μ L mMessage mMachine reaction: 36 μ L nuclease free water, 20 μ L 5X E-PAP buffer, 10 μ L 25 mM MnCl₂, 10 mM ATP, and 4 μ L of E-PAP. The reaction was gently mixed, and incubated at 37°C for 1 hour. The poly-A tailed cRNA was purified by utilizing the MEGAclear Purification Kit (Ambion). Briefly, the volume of RNA samples was brought to 100 μ L with Elution Solution and mixed gently. Three hundred fifty microliters of Binding Solution Concentrate was added to the samples, followed by gently mixing. After which 250 µL of 100% ethanol was added to the samples and mixed again. The samples were applied to a filter cartridge inserted into a

Collection and Elution tube, centrifuged for 1 minute at 12,000 x g, and the flow through was discarded. The samples were washed twice by adding 500 μ L wash solution and centrifuged for 1 minute at 12,000 x g. After discarding the wash solution, the filter cartridge was centrifuged for another 30 seconds to remove the wash solution. The cRNA was eluted from the cartridge by placing the Filter Cartridge into a new Collection/Elution Tube, applying 50 μ L of Elution Solution and incubated for 7 minutes at 67 °C. The eluted cRNA was recovered by centrifugation for 1 minute at 12,000 x g at room temperature. The cRNA was stored in single use aliquots at -80 °C until use.

Microinjection of PLC cRNA

Cumulus cells were removed at 20-22 hrs post maturation and cumulus-free mature oocytes were randomly assigned to each treatment group and microinjected with the appropriate concentration of cRNA (0.1, 0.5, or $1.0 \mu g/ul$), water (sham), or not injected.

Microinjection of PLC siRNA and cRNA

Cumulus cells were removed at 14 hours post maturation and cumulus-free mature oocytes were randomly assigned to each treatment group and microinjected with the appropriate concentration of siRNA, water (sham), or not injected and placed back into maturation medium. The same oocytes were microinjected at 22-24 hours post maturation with the correct corresponding cRNA (0.1, 0.5, or 1.0 μ g/ul).

Calcium Indicator Fura-2 AM Loading

Oocytes microinjected with only cRNA of cRNA/siRNA were loaded with a

Ca²⁺ indicator by incubation in 2 μ M Fura-2 AM ester (Molecular Probes Inc., Eugene, OR) and 0.02% Pluronic F-127 (Molecular Probes Inc.) in Ca²⁺- and Mg²⁺- free phosphate buffered saline (Hyclone Laboratories) containing 0.32 mM sodium pyruvate, 5.55 mM glucose, 3 mg/ml BSA, and 100 μ M EGTA (PB1-) at 39°C in darkness for 30 min. After loading indicator, oocytes were washed extensively with PB1- and maintained in this solution at 39°C until use.

Intracellular Calcium Monitoring

The Fura-2 loaded oocytes were transferred to a 30- μ L drop of PB1- medium containing one and covered with mineral oil. An additional control of electroporation with 250 nM inositol (1,4,5)-triphosphate (IP3; Molecular Probes Inc.) was included with each replication to ensure that the oocytes were of good quality and capable of intracellular Ca²⁺ transients. Intracellular Ca²⁺ monitoring and electroporation conditions performed according to published methods [267-270].

Parthenogenetic Activation

At either 14 hours or 20 hours after the initiation of maturation, oocytes were vortexed in 1 ml TL-HEPES containing 10 mg/ml hyaluronidase for 4 minutes to completely remove cumulus cells. Oocytes exhibiting an extruded first polar body and of good quality were selected for use. Those oocytes prepared at 14 hours post maturation, were microinjected with siRNA and placed back in maturation medium to be injected with cRNA at 22-24 hours post maturation followed by incubation in 7.5 μ g/ml cytochalasin B for 5 hours, or not injected and exposed to 5 μ M ionomycin for 5 minutes immediately followed by 10 μ g/ml cycloheximide for 5 hours.

Oocytes prepared at 20 hours post maturation were injected with only cRNA, injected with cRNA followed by an incubation in 7.5 μ g/ml cytochalasin B for 5 hours, or not injected and exposed to 5 μ M ionomycin for 5 minutes immediately followed by 10 ug/ml cycloheximide for 5 hours. After the various treatments were completed, the oocytes were washed in CR1aa medium plus 10% FBS and cultured in the CR2-cumulus cells co-culture system [257]. Cleavage was recorded on Day 2. The treatment groups were compared to in vitro-fertilized oocytes according to our standard laboratory protocol [257].

Statistical Analysis

Data were pooled from three replicates per group. Chi-square analysis was used to determine differences in cleavage, parthenogenetic activation, and intracellular calcium release. Unless otherwise noted, a probability of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. For the confirmation of siRNA knockdown experiments, pairwise comparisons were performed by utilizing the calculated $\Delta\Delta$ Ct values for each treatment time point and the control were performed using the Student's t-test. A probability of p<0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Confirmation of siRNA Knockdown

qPCR

The qPCR results indicated a near complete knockdown of mRNA levels in bovine oocytes by 10 hours post injection for the isotypes PLCγ1, PLCγ2, PLCδ3, PLCδ4, PLCβ1, PLCβ3, but only partial knockdown of PLCδ1 mRNA (Figure 4-1).



FIG 4-1. Relative PLC mRNA Expression Levels as Compared to 14 hr IVM control oocytes. Values represent the mean (n=3).

Effect PLC siRNA on *In Vitro* Fertilization in Bovine Oocytes

The oocytes microinjected with PLC ζ , PLC δ 1, PLC δ 3, PLC δ 4, PLC β 1, PLC β 3 siRNA resulted in cleavage rates similar to the negative control siRNA, non-injected, and sham injected treatment groups while bovine oocytes microinjected with PLC γ 1 and PLC γ 2 siRNA had significantly lower cleavage rates (p<0.05) compared to the controls (Fig. 4-2).

Effect of PLC cRNA on Parthenogenetic Development Rates in Bovine Oocytes

The oocytes microinjected with PLC ζ and PLC γ 2 cRNA resulted in a significantly higher number of oocytes (p<0.05) reaching the 2 cell stage compared to all

other treatment groups and not significantly different than the Ionomycin/Cycloheximide activation control (Fig. 3-3). For clarity, only the highest cleavage rate out of the three different concentrations of cRNA microinjected for each PLC is represented in Figure 4-3 (0.1 μ g/µl for δ 1, δ 4, and ζ ; 0.5 μ g/µl for β 3 and δ 3, and 1.0 μ g/µl for β 1, γ 1, and γ 2).



FIG. 4-2. Effect of microinjection of PLC specific siRNA's on cleavage rates of bovine oocytes after incubation with sperm for 5 hours. Values represent the mean (n=3) and unlike superscripts are statistically significant.

Effect of PLC cRNA on Intracellular Calcium Release in Bovine Oocytes

The number of oocytes responding with calcium transients after the microinjection of PLC- ζ (8/13) and PLC- γ 2 (7/12) cRNA were at rates similar to the *in vitro* fertilized controls (7/10). The activating effects of any of the cRNA's were negligible if the oocytes were microinjected with the corresponding siRNA prior to microinjection with cRNA (data not shown). These data illustrate the potential involvement of an endogenous PLC isoform and not just the sperm-specific PLC- ζ

isoform in bovine oocyte activation during fertilization.



FIG 4-3. Effect of microinjection of PLC cRNA on parthenogenetic development rates in bovine oocytes. Values represent the mean (n=3) and unlike superscripts are statistically significant (p<0.05).

Discussion

Microinjection of PLC- ζ cRNA or recombinant protein into mouse oocytes results in intracellular calcium oscillations, activation and development [237, 238]. Sperm from male mice with decreased expression of PLC- ζ due to RNA interference are able to fuse with oocytes and initiate calcium oscillations; however, the number of oscillations was reduced and no transgenic offspring were born [239]. PLC- ζ was also shown to be defective with either reduced protein levels or mutated forms in men suffering infertility [240, 241].

For a spermatozoa protein to be a viable SOAF candidate, many criteria must be met: 1) Protein specific to male germ cells and more particular is only expressed in elongating spermatids and spermatozoa; 2) Triggers cortical granule exocytosis, pronuclear development, and cleavage; 3) Ability to induce repetitive calcium oscillations; 4) Not species specific; 5) During the early stages of fertilization should be localized to the postacrosomal sheath of the spermatozoa perinuclear theca; 6) Soluble and released into cytoplasm of oocyte upon fusion [242, 243]. Unfortunately PLC- ζ fails to fulfill all of these requirements so its function as the SOAF needs to be taken into question.

PLC- ζ expression has been proven to not be testes specific, as PLC- ζ expression has been detected in mouse brain [244] in addition to the ovary and brain of the puffer fish [245]. Aarabi et al., [18] recently demonstrated that PLC- ζ is actually secreted by the epididymis as a component of the acrosome during mouse spermatogenesis. Nevertheless, a novel function of PLC- ζ might be required for spermatogenesis, as PLC- ζ knockout mice seem unable to complete spermatogenesis with spermatocytes failing to proceed beyond elongation [247], although the specificity of these effects needs to be evaluated in more detail.

By removing all sperm membranous and acrosomal components with the nonionic detergent, Triton X-100, the SOAF has been shown to be localized to the perinuclear theca (PT) [248-250], and actually more precisely localized to the PAS-PT which is the region of the PT that is first solubilized on sperm entry into the ooplasm [242]. Consequently the SOAF should be non extractable by non-ionic detergents and localized to the PT, two requirements that the 74 kDa catalytically active form of PLC- ζ failed to meet [242].

PLC- ζ was originally believed to be localized to the part of the spermatozoa head

the that first enters the egg [251]; however, it was recently shown in mice and humans that PLC- ζ disappears from the sperm head when it fuses with the oocyte plasma membrane and subsequently incorporation into the oocyte [242]. Reports also suggest that PLC- ζ undergoes dynamic changes in its pattern of localization in the spermatozoa of mice [252], hamster [252], and humans [253]. For example, it was demonstrated that PLC- ζ displays variable localizations in the sperm head, including the equatorial segment and the post-acrosomal regions, and it was suggested that these distinct localizations may reflect a different functional status of the sperm, i.e. capacitation and acrosome reaction, and that PLC- ζ may be involved in some of these physiological steps. However, to date, there is not supporting data to incriminate PLC- ζ in these steps.

Microinjection of PLC- ζ cRNA into oocytes to overexpress PLC- ζ protein is a common technique used to illustrate the ability of PLC- ζ to induce fertilization-like calcium oscillations and oocyte activation. There is an inherent flaw with this technique in that non-physiological amounts of protein are expressed, this makes it difficult to conclude that this response is physiologic. Therefore, an active purified recombinant form of the protein that could be microinjected at physiologic concentrations would be required to ascertain whether the effect is physiologic [271]. Igarashi et al. [32] found that microinjecting PLC- β 1 cRNA into mouse eggs significantly altered the sperminduced oscillations and the authors wondered that if PLC- ζ was the sole activating factor, how could an oocyte specific PLC affect the pattern. In this study we found that the microinjection of cRNA for any of the PLC enzymes endogenous to a bovine oocyte resulted in some embryonic development, albeit at low rates, but the physiological relevance of the technique of cRNA injection might be questioned as a result.

116

Microinjection of cRNA for PLC- γ 2 had similar results to the microinjection of cRNA for PLC- ζ , so this provides evidence that a PLC endogenous to the oocyte might also be involved in initiation of calcium oscillations.

The microinjection of PLC-specific siRNA's also implicated the involvement of PLC- γ 2 and PLC- γ 1 with both resulting in significantly lower cleavage rates compared to the IVF control and all of the other PLC's. Interestingly, siRNA specific for PLC ζ failed to reduce cleavage when treated bovine oocytes were fertilized. PLC ζ RNA has been found in ejaculated spermatozoa of mice and humans, and has been proposed to potentially contribute to the overall pattern of intracellular calcium oscillations [271]. If this is also the case in the bovine model, inactivation of spermatozoa introduced PLC ζ RNA by preloading the oocyte with PLC ζ specific siRNA should have a negative impact on cleavage and intracellular calcium release; however, this did not occur.

The retrospective studies involving men with globozoospermia [240, 241] concluded their infertility was due to reduced or defective PLC- ζ protein levels. As stated in Aarabi et al. [18] many other sperm proteins are also affected or absent in these patients, so in this case there is no direct experimental evidence indicating the reduced levels or mutated forms of PLC- ζ are the actual cause of the infertility. Association does not mean causation.

Studies that used transgenic RNAi methods to decrease the amount of PLC- ζ in male mice, concluded that since no transgenic offspring were found, none of the PLC- ζ deficient sperm were able to activate oocytes [239]. In light of the recent findings that PLC- ζ might play a role in the acrosome reaction and is absent from the sperm head at fertilization, it is possible to conclude that no transgenic offspring were born because

none of the PLC- ζ deficient sperm were able to undergo the acrosome reaction.

Intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) in humans has proven to be a very successful technology for overcoming infertility issues; however, the application of this technology in domestic livestock species has proven to be challenging. The success of ICSI in cattle is very low and typically requires an additional chemical activation step for improved development [272, 273]. If spermatozoa do indeed contain the SOAF, why does ICSI not result in activation and embryonic development in the bovine model? It is clear that ICSI and bypassing the gamete membrane interaction in the bovine model fails to activate the oocyte and that spermatozoa-oocyte binding and fusion is requisite for activation.

These data illustrate the potential involvement of multiple endogenous PLC isoforms, in particular PLC γ 1 and PLC γ 2, and not just the sperm-specific PLC ζ isoform in bovine oocyte activation during fertilization. Knocking down the mRNA levels of PLC γ 1 and PLC γ 2 had the greatest impact on reducing cleavage rates while overexpressing PLC ζ and PLC γ 2 resulted in the highest parthenogenetic activation rate. Embryonic development and calcium transients were observed in oocytes microinjected with a variety of the cRNA's even though the knockdown of mRNA levels for these same PLC's did not have an impact on fertilization. These findings highlight the difficulty of interpreting the results of protein over expression experiments and whether the response is physiological. That being said, however, the combined results of mRNA knockdown and protein overexpression of PLC γ 1 and PLC γ 2 reinforce each other and indicate the involvement of these two PLC isoforms endogenous to the oocyte in bovine fertilization and oocyte activation.

References

- Reed WA, Suh TK, Bunch TD, White KL. Culture of in vitro fertilized bovine embryos with bovine oviductal epithelial cells, Buffalo rat liver (BRL) cells, or BRL-cell-conditioned medium. Theriogenology 1996; 45:439-449.
- Connolly TM, Lawing WJ, Jr., Majerus PW. Protein kinase C phosphorylates human platelet inositol trisphosphate 5'-phosphomonoesterase, increasing the phosphatase activity. Cell 1986; 46:951-958.
- Singer WD, Brown HA, Sternweis PC. Regulation of eukaryotic phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C and phospholipase D. Annu Rev Biochem 1997; 66:475-509.
- Rhee SG. Regulation of phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C. Annu Rev Biochem 2001; 70:281-312.
- Byrne RD, Barona TM, Garnier M, Koster G, Katan M, Poccia DL, Larijani B. Nuclear envelope assembly is promoted by phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C with selective recruitment of phosphatidylinositol-enriched membranes. Biochem J 2005; 387:393-400.
- Nakamura Y, Fukami K. Roles of phospholipase C isozymes in organogenesis and embryonic development. Physiology 2009; 24:332-341.
- Suh PG, Park JI, Manzoli L, Cocco L, Peak JC, Katan M, Fukami K, Kataoka T, Yun S, Ryu SH. Multiple roles of phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C isozymes. BMB reports 2008; 41:415-434.
- Saunders CM, Larman MG, Parrington J, Cox LJ, Royse J, Blayney LM, Swann
 K, Lai FA. PLC zeta: a sperm-specific trigger of Ca(2+) oscillations in eggs and

embryo development. Development 2002; 129:3533-3544.

- Campbell K, Reed W, White K. Ability of integrins to mediate fertilization, intracellular calcium release, and parthenogenetic development in bovine oocytes. Biol Reprod 2000; 62:1702-1709.
- Campbell KD, Reed WA, White KL. Ability of integrins to mediate fertilization, intracellular calcium release, and parthenogenetic development in bovine oocytes. Biol Reprod 2000; 62:1702-1709.
- Viets LN, Campbell KD, White KL. Pathways involved in RGD-mediated calcium transients in mature bovine oocytes. Cloning Stem Cells 2001; 3:105-113.
- Yue C, White KL, Reed WA, Bunch TD. The existence of inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate and ryanodine receptors in mature bovine oocytes. Development 1995; 121:2645-2654.
- Yue C, White KL, Reed WA, King E. Localization and regulation of ryanodine receptor in bovine oocytes. Biol Reprod 1998; 58:608-614.
- Yoda A, Oda S, Shikano T, Kouchi Z, Awaji T, Shirakawa H, Kinoshita K,
 Miyazaki S. Ca2+ oscillation-inducing phospholipase C zeta expressed in mouse
 eggs is accumulated to the pronucleus during egg activation. Dev Biol 2004;
 268:245-257.
- Knott JG, Kurokawa M, Fissore RA, Schultz RM, Williams CJ. Transgenic RNA interference reveals role for mouse sperm phospholipase Czeta in triggering Ca2+ oscillations during fertilization. Biol Reprod 2005; 72:992-996.
- 16. Yoon SY, Jellerette T, Salicioni AM, Lee HC, Yoo MS, Coward K, Parrington J,

Grow D, Cibelli JB, Visconti PE, Mager J, Fissore RA. Human sperm devoid of PLC, zeta 1 fail to induce Ca(2+) release and are unable to initiate the first step of embryo development. J Clin Invest 2008; 118:3671-3681.

- Heytens E, Parrington J, Coward K, Young C, Lambrecht S, Yoon SY, Fissore RA, Hamer R, Deane CM, Ruas M, Grasa P, Soleimani R, et al. Reduced amounts and abnormal forms of phospholipase C zeta (PLCzeta) in spermatozoa from infertile men. Hum Reprod 2009; 24:2417-2428.
- 18. Aarabi M, Yu Y, Xu W, Tse MY, Pang SC, Yi Y-J, Sutovsky P, Oko R. The Testicular and Epididymal Expression Profile of PLCζ in Mouse and Human Does Not Support Its Role as a Sperm-Borne Oocyte Activating Factor. PloS One 2012; 7:e33496.
- Sutovsky P, Manandhar G, Wu A, Oko R. Interactions of sperm perinuclear theca with the oocyte: implications for oocyte activation, anti-polyspermy defense, and assisted reproduction. Microsc Res Tech 2003; 61:362-378.
- 20. Yoshida N, Amanai M, Fukui T, Kajikawa E, Brahmajosyula M, Iwahori A, Nakano Y, Shoji S, Diebold J, Hessel H, Huss R, Perry AC. Broad, ectopic expression of the sperm protein PLCZ1 induces parthenogenesis and ovarian tumours in mice. Development 2007; 134:3941-3952.
- Coward K, Ponting CP, Zhang N, Young C, Huang CJ, Chou CM, Kashir J, Fissore RA, Parrington J. Identification and functional analysis of an ovarian form of the egg activation factor phospholipase C zeta (PLCzeta) in pufferfish. Mol Reprod Dev 2011; 78:48-56.
- 22. Ito J, Parrington J, Fissore RA. PLCzeta and its role as a trigger of development

in vertebrates. Mol Reprod Dev 2011; 78:846-853.

- 23. Kimura Y, Yanagimachi R, Kuretake S, Bortkiewicz H, Perry AC, Yanagimachi H. Analysis of mouse oocyte activation suggests the involvement of sperm perinuclear material. Biol Reprod 1998; 58:1407-1415.
- Perry AC, Wakayama T, Cooke IM, Yanagimachi R. Mammalian oocyte activation by the synergistic action of discrete sperm head components: induction of calcium transients and involvement of proteolysis. Dev Biol 2000; 217:386-393.
- 25. Sutovsky P, Oko R, Hewitson L, Schatten G. The removal of the sperm perinuclear theca and its association with the bovine oocyte surface during fertilization. Dev Biol 1997; 188:75-84.
- 26. Fujimoto S, Yoshida N, Fukui T, Amanai M, Isobe T, Itagaki C, Izumi T, Perry AC. Mammalian phospholipase Czeta induces oocyte activation from the sperm perinuclear matrix. Dev Biol 2004; 274:370-383.
- 27. Young C, Grasa P, Coward K, Davis LC, Parrington J. Phospholipase C zeta undergoes dynamic changes in its pattern of localization in sperm during capacitation and the acrosome reaction. Fertil Steril 2009; 91:2230-2242.
- Grasa P, Coward K, Young C, Parrington J. The pattern of localization of the putative oocyte activation factor, phospholipase Czeta, in uncapacitated, capacitated, and ionophore-treated human spermatozoa. Hum Reprod 2008; 23:2513-2522.
- 29. Ramadan WM, Kashir J, Jones C, Coward K. Oocyte activation and phospholipase C zeta (PLCzeta): diagnostic and therapeutic implications for

assisted reproductive technology. Cell Commun Signal; 10:12.

- 30. Fujinami N, Hosoi Y, Kato H, Matsumoto K, Saeki K, Iritani A. Activation with ethanol improves embryo development of ICSI-derived oocytes by regulation of kinetics of MPF activity. J Reprod Dev 2004; 50:171-178.
- Oikawa T, Takada N, Kikuchi T, Numabe T, Takenaka M, Horiuchi T. Evaluation of activation treatments for blastocyst production and birth of viable calves following bovine intracytoplasmic sperm injection. Anim Reprod Sci 2005; 86:187-194.
- Igarashi H, Knott JG, Schultz RM, Williams CJ. Alterations of PLCbeta1 in mouse eggs change calcium oscillatory behavior following fertilization. Dev Biol 2007; 312:321-330

CHAPTER 5

SUMMARY

Mammalian fertilization is an extremely complex series of events and has garnered the interest of numerous diverse research groups for many years. Much has been learned, but there is still much more remaining to be discovered pertaining to the molecules and mechanisms involved in fertilization. There is some conservation to an extent in the molecules and mechanisms of fertilization, but there is an inherent danger in making far reaching generalizations between phyla as diverse as echinoderms and mammals or between species as similar as murine and bovine. However, regardless of the animal system, the questions remain the same. What are the carbohydrates and glycoproteins involved in zona binding and penetration? What spermatozoa ligands are interacting with what receptors on the oocyte vitelline membrane during membrane binding and fusion? What are the initiating event(s) and pathways involved in eliciting the calcium release from the oocyte's intracellular stores resulting in embryonic activation? I believe each species is unique requiring individual attention to get to the heart of oocyte activation.

As I stated earlier it seems that for every experiment implicating the involvement of a spermatazoa or oocyte membrane protein, there is another experiment or set of experiments proving why the previously implicated protein is no longer "the" candidate or essential for binding or fusion or oocyte activation. Why does there have to be just "one" essential player and why is it so far fetched that multiple proteins be involved? Due to the complexity of life it is practically impossible to eliminate all of the other confounding variables so that we can get to the basic question of whether a single protein is involved and essential or non-essential and not involved.

The experiments in this dissertation confirm that integrins located on the vitelline membrane of bovine oocytes are involved in mediating the sperm-oocyte interaction. Anti-integrin function blocking antibodies and immunofluorescence revealed that the αV and $\beta 1$ integrin subunits are involved with some aspect of fertilization in the bovine model and could form the integrin heterodimer involved in the sperm-oocyte interaction.

Integrins associate and interact with cytoskeletal proteins through the cytoplasmic domain of the β subunit and aggregate as focal adhesion sites. Focal adhesion kinase (FAK) is localized to these focal adhesions and is a key component of signal transduction pathways mediated by integrins. Since integrins are involved in bovine fertilization, elucidating the downstream signaling molecules would be a logical step. The presence of FAK in bovine oocytes was verified by real time polymerase chain reaction and immunoprecipitation and the localization of focal adhesion kinase at the site of sperm binding to the oocyte plasma membrane was verified using immunohistochemistry. The inhibition of FAK resulted in fewer cleaved embryos in addition to a reduction in the number of oocytes responding with calcium transients; therefore we concluded that FAK is also involved in the intracellular signaling cascades resulting from sperm binding and fusion.

Phospholipase C isoforms regulate the release of calcium from the endoplasmic reticulum and are known to interact with integrins and focal adhesion kinase. The experiments reported in this dissertation explored the involvement of PLC isoforms endogenous to the oocyte in mediating the calcium release associated with fertilization. Reduction in PLC mRNA levels for the phospholipase C isoforms $\gamma 1$ and $\gamma 2$ resulted in

significantly lower cleavage rates compared to the controls. Maximizing protein levels for the phospholipase C isoforms ζ and γ 2 resulted in a significantly higher number of oocytes reaching the 2 cell stage compared to all other treatment groups and not significantly different than the activation control. The microinjection of PLC-specific siRNA's also implicated the involvement of PLC- γ 2 and PLC- γ 1 with both resulting in significantly lower cleavage rates compared to the IVF control and all of the other PLC's. Interestingly, siRNA specific for PLC ζ failed to reduce cleavage when treated bovine oocytes were fertilized. These data illustrate the potential involvement of an endogenous PLC isoform and not just the sperm-specific PLC- ζ isoform in bovine oocyte activation during fertilization.

PLC- ζ has been proposed to be the testis-specific, sperm borne activating factor (SOAF) that initiates oocyte activation after gamete fusion; however, PLC- ζ fails to fulfill all of the SOAF requirements, so its primary function as the SOAF needs to be taken into question. PLC- ζ expression has been proven to not be testes specific, it is not localized to the region of the sperm head where the SOAF candidate resides, it undergoes dramatic relocalization during the acrosome reaction, and recently was found to target intracellular stores of calcium and not those associated with the endoplasmic reticulum [274]. I find it fascinating that every time PLC- ζ is found to contradict the well established SOAF requirements, it only gains another "novel" function instead of being eliminated as "the" activating agent. As the saying goes, "Two wrongs don't necessarily make a right."

Together these data illustrate the involvement of integrins, FAK, and PLC isoforms endogenous to the oocyte in bovine fertilization and activation. Further work

needs to be done in evaluating the other downstream signaling molecules and cascades involved in bovine oocyte activation.

References

 Yu Y, Nomikos M, Theodoridou M, Nounesis G, Lai FA, Swann K. Plczeta causes ca(2+) oscillations in mouse eggs by targeting intracellular and not plasma membrane pi(4,5)p(2). Mol Biol Cell 2012; 23:371-380.

CURRICULUM VITAE

Benjamin Rand Sessions

PhD Student	(435) 760-2844
Animal, Dairy and Veterinary Sciences Departme	ent ben.sessions@usu.edu
Utah State University	4815 Old Main Hill Logan, UT 84322

Education

2004-present PhD, Animal Science, Reproductive Biology Specialization Utah State University, Logan UT

> **Dissertation:** Characterization Of The Involvement Of Integrins, Focal Adhesion Kinase, And Phospholipase C Enzymes Endogenous To The Oocyte In Bovine Fertilization And Oocyte Activation

2004 MSc, Animal Science, Reproductive Biology Specialization Utah State University, Logan UT

> **Thesis:** Effects of Amino Acid Substitutions in and Around the Arginine-Glycine-Aspartic Acid (RGD) Sequence on Fertilization and Parthenogenetic Development in Mature Bovine Oocytes.

1999 BSc, Biology and Chemistry Utah State University, Logan UT

Skills

- Oocyte collection /maturation
- In vitro fertilization
- *In vitro* embryo culture
- Embryo vitrification
- Culture media preparation
- Oocyte and embryo microinjection
- Embryo biopsies
- Embryo loading
- Somatic cell nuclear transfer
- PCR and real-time PCR
- Immunohistochemistry
- RNA, DNA, and protein

electrophoresis

- 2-D gel electrophoresis
- Gene expression microarray
- Molecular cloning
- Livestock synchronization/superovulation
- Embryo collection in mice and rabbits
- Artificial insemination
- Chromosome spreads
- Cell culture and cryopreservation

Employment Experience

2005-present	Utah State University, Logan UT. Animal, Dairy and Veterinary Sciences Department Research Associate / Laboratory Manager
2003-04	Utah State University, Logan UT. Animal, Dairy and Veterinary Sciences Department Teaching Assistant
2001-02	Utah State University, Logan UT Agricultural Systems Technology and Education Undergraduate Researcher
1998	USDA Bee Biology and Systematics Laboratory, Logan, UT Undergraduate Researcher
1993-96	Sessions Limousin Ranch, Morgan UT Ranch Supervisor

Honors / Awards 2007	ASUSU Distinguished Service Award
2005-06	Graduate Teaching Assistantship Utah State University, Logan UT
2004-05	Vice President for Research Fellowship Utah State University, Logan UT
2003-04	Graduate Teaching Assistantship Utah State University, Logan UT
2002-03	Vice President for Research Fellowship Utah State University, Logan UT
1996-99	Utah State University Presidential Scholarship

Post Secondary Extracurricular Activities

2009-10	Member of the new College of Agriculture
	Building Planning Committee
2009	Member of the Animal, Dairy and Veterinary

	Sciences Ad Hoc Curriculum Committee
2008-present	Member of the Animal, Dairy, and Veterinary Sciences/Center Committee for Integrated BioSystems Seminar Series Committee
2007-09	Utah State University's Department Teaching Excellence Award Committee Member Utah State University, Logan, UT
2007-present	ADVS Social Committee Member Utah State University, Logan, UT
2005-07	Voting member of Utah State University Graduate Council from 2006-2008
2005-07	Vice President for Research Graduate Student Senate Utah State University, Logan, UT
2005	College of Agriculture Senator Graduate Student Senate Utah State University, Logan, UT
2005-06	Matthew Hillyard Animal, Teaching and Research Facility Design Committee Utah State University, Logan, UT
1998-99	President Collegiate 4-H Utah State University, Logan, UT
1998-99	College of Science Week Committee Member Utah State University, Logan, UT

Publications

Refereed journal articles:

- 1. **Sessions BR** and White KL. New insights into the roles of PLC isoforms in bovine oocyte activation. International Review of Cell & Molecular Biology. (In preparation).
- Meng Q, Wu X, Bunch TD, White K, Sessions BR, Davies CJ, Rickords L, Li GP. Enucleation of demecolcine-treated bovine oocytes in cytochalasin-free medium: mechanism investigation and practical improvement. Cell Reprogram. 2011 Oct;13(5):411-8. Epub 2011 Jul 8.

- 3. White KL, Pate BJ, Sessions BR. Oolemma receptors and oocyte activation. Syst Biol Reprod Med. 2010 Oct;56(5):365-75. Review.
- Aston KI, Li GP, Hicks BA, Sessions BR, Davis AP, Rickords LF, Stevens JR, White KL. Abnormal levels of transcript abundance of developmentally important genes in various stages of preimplantation bovine somatic cell nuclear transfer embryos. Cell Reprogram. 2010 Feb;12(1):23-32.
- Li GP, White KL, Aston KI, Bunch TD, Hicks B, Liu Y, Sessions BR. Colcemidtreatment of heifer oocytes enhances nuclear transfer embryonic development, establishment of pregnancy and development to term. Mol Reprod Dev. 2009 Jul;76(7):620-8.
- Aston KI, Li GP, Hicks BA, Sessions BR, Davis AP, Winger QA, Rickords LF, Stevens JR, White KL. Global gene expression analysis of bovine somatic cell nuclear transfer blastocysts and cotyledons. Mol Reprod Dev. 2009 May;76(5):471-82.
- Li GP, Yang S, Liu Y, Sessions BR, White KL, Bunch TD. Nicotine combined with okadaic acid or taxol adversely affects bovine oocyte maturation and subsequent embryo development. Fertil Steril. 2009 Aug;92(2):798-805. Epub 2008 Sep 14
- 8. Liu Y, Li GP, **Sessions BR**, Rickords LF, White KL, Bunch TD. Nicotine induces multinuclear formation and causes aberrant embryonic development in bovine. Mol Reprod Dev. 2008 May;75(5):801-9.
- 9. Pate BJ, White KL, Chen D, Aston KI, **Sessions BR**, Bunch TD, Weimer BC. A novel approach to identify bovine sperm membrane proteins that interact with receptors on the vitelline membrane of bovine oocytes. Mol Reprod Dev. 2008 Apr;75(4):641-9.
- Liu Y, Li GP, White KL, Rickords LF, Sessions BR, Aston KI, Bunch TD. Nicotine alters bovine oocyte meiosis and affects subsequent embryonic development. Mol Reprod Dev. 2007 Nov;74(11):1473-82.
- Liu Y, Li GP, Rickords LF, White KL, Sessions BR, Aston KI, Bunch TD. Effect of nicotine on in vitro maturation of bovine oocytes. Anim Reprod Sci. 2008 Jan 15;103(1-2):13-24. Epub 2006 Nov 26.
- Sessions BR, Aston KI, Davis AP, Pate BJ, White KL. Effects of amino acid substitutions in and around the arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (RGD) sequence on fertilization and parthenogenetic development in mature bovine oocytes. Mol Reprod Dev. 2006 May;73(5):651-7.
- 13. Li GP, Bunch TD, White KL, Rickords L, Liu Y, Sessions BR. Denuding and
centrifugation of maturing bovine oocytes alters oocyte spindle integrity and the ability of cytoplasm to support parthenogenetic and nuclear transfer embryo development. Mol Reprod Dev. 2006 Apr;73(4):446-51.

- 14. Aston KI, Li GP, Hicks BA, Sessions BR, Pate BJ, Hammon D, Bunch TD, White KL. Effect of the time interval between fusion and activation on nuclear state and development in vitro and in vivo of bovine somatic cell nuclear transfer embryos. Reproduction. 2006 Jan;131(1):45-51.
- 15. Aston KI, Li GP, Hicks BA, **Sessions BR**, Pate BJ, Hammon DS, Bunch TD, White KL. The developmental competence of bovine nuclear transfer embryos derived from cow versus heifer cytoplasts. Anim Reprod Sci. 2006 Oct;95(3-4):234-43.
- 16. White KL, Woods GL, Vanderwall DK, Li GP, **Sessions BR**, Bunch TD. Why clone horses and mules? IEEE Eng Med Biol Mag. 2004 Mar-Apr;23(2):32-6. Review.
- Li GP, Bunch TD, White KL, Aston KI, Meerdo LN, Pate BJ, Sessions BR. Development, chromosomal composition, and cell allocation of bovine cloned blastocyst derived from chemically assisted enucleation and cultured in conditioned media. Mol Reprod Dev. 2004 Jun;68(2):189-97.

Abstracts and Proceedings

- Sessions BR, Rutigliano H, Davies CJ, and White KL. Evidence of Focal Adhesion Assembly in Bovine Oocytes. Proceedings of the Annual Conference of the International Embryo Transfer Society. Reproduction, Fertility, and Development. 23(1): 221. 2011
- Sessions BR and White KL. Recruitment of αV and not α2, α4, or α6 Integrin Subunits to Focal Adhesions at the Site of Sperm Binding to the Vitelline Membrane of Bovine Oocytes. Second World Congress of Reproductive Biology, Cairns, Queensland, Australia. Oct 9-12, 2011.
- Sessions BR, Bunch TD, Davies CJ, Rood KA, Stott R, and White KL. In vitro development of bovine IVF embryos cultured in USU6, mSOFaaci, CR1aa, or CR1aa with co-culture. Joint Meeting of ASAS and AAPA, Mar del Plata, Argentina. Oct 4-7, 2011.
- Sessions BR, Bayles AH, Collier K, Perry K, Whitaker L, and White KL. Microinjection of siRNA and cRNA to elucidate the involvement of endogenous PLC isoforms in bovine oocyte activation during fertilization. Proceedings of the Annual Conference of the International Embryo Transfer Society. Reproduction, Fertility, and Development. 22(1): 326. 2010

- Hall JS, Sessions BR, White KL, and Meng Q. uChIP analysis of histone modifications H3K4m3, H3K9m2, and H4K16ac of NANOG, POU5F1, and SOX2 in bovine blastocysts following somatic cell nuclear transfer. American Society for Cell Biology 49th Annual Meetings, San Diego, California, December 5-9, 2009.
- Sessions BR, Collier J, Perry K, and White KL. Identification of DNA binding proteins interacting with the promoter regions of the bovine Oct4 and Sox2 genes by utilizing the electrophorectic mobility shift assay followed by mass spectrometry analysis. American Society for Cell Biology 49th Annual Meetings, San Diego, California, December 5-9, 2009.
- Bayles AH, Sessions BR, Collier J, and White KL. Identifying Endogenous PLC Isoforms Involved in the Signal Transduction Pathway at Bovine Oocyte Activation. American Society for Cell Biology 49th Annual Meetings, San Diego, California, December 5-9, 2009.
- 8. **Sessions BR**, Collier J, Perry K, Hicks BA, and White KL. The effects of sire and breed on cleavage rates of oocytes fertilized in vitro with sex-sorted semen. ASAS-CAAV Asia Pacific Rim Conference, Beijing, China, Nov 8-10, 2009.
- 9. Elwood KA, Collier J, **Sessions BR**, Wilhelm A, Davis CJ, Rickords L, and White KL. Culture and characterization of bovine trophoblast stem cells on a gelatin layer. ASAS-CAAV Asia Pacific Rim Conference, Beijing, China, Nov 8-10, 2009.
- Brinkerhoff JM, Sessions BR, and White KL. Use of function blocking antibodies to identify the specific integrin subunits involved in bovine fertilization. American Society for Cell Biology 48th Annual Meetings, San Francisco, California December 13-17, 2008.
- 11. Sessions BR, Bayles AH, Collier J, Davis AP, and White KL. Utilizing the delivery of small interfering RNA (sirna) by microinjection to demonstrate the requirement of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) for bovine fertilization and activation. American Society for Cell Biology 48th Annual Meetings, San Francisco, California December 13-17, 2008.
- Bayles AH, Collier J, Davis AP, Sessions BR, and White KL. Identifying molecules involved in the signal transduction pathway at bovine oocyte activation using activators and inhibitors of src family kinases. American Society for Cell Biology 48th Annual Meetings, San Francisco, California December 13-17, 2008.
- 13. Davis, AP, Bayles AH, Davies C, Innes EW, Meng Q, Sessions BR, White KL. Bisulfite sequencing analysis of POU5F1, c-Myc, SOX2 and LIN 28 following bovine somatic cell nuclear transfer. American Society for Cell Biology 48th Annual Meetings, San Francisco, California December 13-17, 2008.
- 14. Davies CJ, Wilhlem A, **Sessions BR**, Parasar P, Li Y, Schmidt EE, and White KL. Expression of non-classical MHC class I genes by cultured bovine

embryos. Proceedings of the 28th Annual Meeting of the American Society for Reproductive Immunology, Chicago, Illinois. June 11-14, 2008, p. 23.

- 15. Davies CJ, Wilhlem A, Sessions BR, Parasar P, Li Y, Schmidt EE, and White KL. Expression of non-classical MHC class I genes by bovine embryos. Proceedings of the XXXI Conference of the International Society for Animal Genetics, Amsterdam, The Netherlands. July 20-24, 2008.
- 16. Bayles AH, Sessions BR, Aston KI, Brinkerhoff J, Chen D, Weimer BC, White KL. Purification of Bovine Sperm Membrane Proteins Involved in Sperm-Oocyte Interactions: Adhesion, Fusion, and Activation. The Society for the Study of Reproduction 40th Annual Meeting, San Antonio, Texas, July 21-25, 2007.
- Sessions BR, Aston KI, Davis AP, Pate BJ, White KL. Effects of Amino Acids Substitutions in and around the Arginine-Glycine-Aspartic acid (RGD) Sequence on Fertilization and Parthenogenetic Development in Mature Bovine Oocytes. American Society for Cell Biology 45th Annual Meetings, San Francisco, California December 10-14, 2005.
- Li GP, Bunch TD, White KL, Sessions BR, Aston KI, Pate BJ. Parthenogenetic and Nuclear Transfer Embryo Development of Bovine Oocytes Denuded and Centrifuged at Different Times during Maturation. American Society for Cell Biology 45th Annual Meetings, San Francisco, California December 10-14, 2005.
- 19. Pate BJ, White KL, Chen D, Desai P, Aston KI, Sessions BR, Weimer BC. A Novel Approach to Identify Bovine Sperm Membrane Proteins that Interact with Receptors on the Vitelline Membrane of Bovine Oocytes. American Society for Cell Biology 45th Annual Meetings, San Francisco, California December 10-14, 2005.
- 20. Pate BJ, White KL, DeWald DB, Rickords LF, Li GP, Aston KI, Sessions BR, Bunch TD. Involvement of Tyrosine Kinases, Specifically Src Family Kinases, Focal Adhesion Kinase (FAK), and Agonist-Induced PLC in the Activation and Development of Bovine Oocytes. American Society for Cell Biology 45th Annual Meetings, San Francisco, California December 10-14, 2005.
- 21. Aston KI, Li GP, Hicks BA, Sessions BR, Pate BJ, Levanger AJ, Meerdo LN, Hammon DS, Bunch TD, White KL. The Developmental Competence of Bovine Nuclear Transfer Embryos Derived from Cow Versus Heifer Ooplasts. The Society for the Study of Reproduction 37th Annual Meetings, Vancouver, British Columbia, August 1-4, 2004.
- 22. White KL, Passipieri M, Bunch TD, Campbell KD, Meerdo LN, Pate BJ, Sessions BR, Effects of Arginine-Glycine-Aspartic Acid (RGD) Containing Snake Venom Peptides on Parthenogenetic Development and In Vitro Fertilization of Bovine Oocytes. American Society for Cell Biology 42nd Annual Meetings, San Francisco, California December 14-18, 2002.

23. Harrison JD, Miller TJ, **Sessions BR**. An Integrated Facultative Pond System for Agricultural Wastewater Treatment. National Conferences on Undergraduate Research, University of Wisconsin, Whitewater, April 25-27, 2002.

Book Chapters

1. White KL, Aston KI, **Sessions BR**. 2009. Cloning Research. In: McGraw Hill Yearbook of Science and Technology, The McGraw-Hill Editorial Staff (ed.). McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., 55-58.